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                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  All right. 

 

            I think we'll get started.  Good morning, 

 

            everyone.  Right on the dot, 8:30. 

 

                     I am pleased to welcome you to this 

 

            important public meeting on the application by        

 

            Capital One Financial Corporation to acquire ING 

 

            Bank, FSB. 

 

                      Let me first introduce myself.  I am 

 

            Sandra Braunstein, Director of the Division of 

 

            Consumer and Community Affairs at the Federal         

 

            Reserve Board in Washington, D.C.  I am the 

 

            presiding officer for this meeting. 



 

                     Our other panelists are Alicia 

 

            Williams, Vice President at the Federal Reserve 

 

            Bank of Chicago; Robin Prager, Deputy Associate       

 

            Director at the Federal Reserve Board's Division 

 

            of Research and Statistics; Alison Thro, 

 

            Assistant General Counsel in the Federal Reserve 

 

            Board's Legal Division; Jennifer Burns, Senior 

 

            Vice President and Head of Supervision in the         

 

            Department of Banking Supervision and Regulation 

 

            from the Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond; and 

 

            Robert Kidd, attorney in the Legal Department 

 

            from the Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond. 

                     

                      Welcome to my panelists. 

 

                      We are here today because Capital One 

 

            Financial Corporation in McLean, Virginia has 

 

            applied for approval to acquire ING Bank, FSB in 

 

            Wilmington, Delaware and its subsidiaries,            

 

            Sharebuilder Advisors, LLC, Seattle, Washington 

 

            and ING Direct Investing, Incorporated, Seattle, 

 

            Washington, and thereby engage in activities 

 

            related to operating a federal savings bank, 

 

            financial advisory and securities brokerage           

 

            services. 

 

                     When the Federal Reserve System 

 

            considers an application, we look at a number of 

 

            factors under the Bank Holding Company Act. 

 

            These include financial issues, managerial            



 

            issues, competitive issues and the convenience 

 

            and needs of the communities affected.  In doing 

 

            so, we particularly look at the record of 

 

            performance of the parties under the Community 

 

            Reinvestment Act or the CRA.  The CRA requires        

 

            the Board to take into account an institution's 

 

            record of meeting the credit needs of its entire 

 

            community. 

 

                    The purpose of the public meeting today 

          

            is to receive information regarding these 

 

            factors and to clarify factual issues related to 

 

            the application. 

 

                      We are pleased that so many witnesses 

 

            have signed up to testify at this public              

 

            meeting.  We will have about 60 individuals 

 

            testifying, some representing themselves and 

 

            their organizations and others representing 

 

            multiple organizations. 

 

                      Let me make a few remarks about the          

 

            procedures. 

 

                      This is what is called an informal 

 

            public meeting.  Members of the Panel may ask 

 

            those who are testifying about their testimony. 

 

                      This is not a formal administrative          

 

            hearing so we are not bound by the rules 

 

            regarding evidence, cross-examinations and some 

 

            of the formal trappings of that kind of 



  

            proceeding. 

 

                      Because we have so many witnesses, we        

 

            will need to stick to the schedule so that 

 

            everyone who has asked to offer testimony will 

 

            have a chance to do so.  We are going to ask the 

 

            witnesses today to be mindful of the needs of 

        

            others and to help us stay on schedule.  The 

 

            panels of witnesses will be expected to keep 

 

            within their allotted times. 

 

                      We do have a signal system with regard 

 

            to the timing, and the timekeepers are right          

 

            here in front of me at the table.  The 

 

            timekeeper has a box with signals, and you will 

 

            see a blinking light when there's two minutes 

 

            left to speak.  Is that correct?  And then there 

 

            will be a yellow light when there's one minute        

 

            left to speak, and then the red light will go on 

 

            along with a buzzer when your time has expired. 

 

                     There may have been some individuals 

 

            who were unable to sign up in advance.  To the 

 

            extent possible, we want to give them a chance        

 

            to speak as well.  At the end of today's 

 

            meeting, we will make the mic available to 

 

            anybody who would like to make a presentation, 

 

            time permitted. 

 

                     One more comment about testimony.            

 

            Witnesses may submit a written supplement to 



 

            their oral testimony but must do so by 

 

            Wednesday, October 12th at 5:00 p.m. when the 

 

            record will be closed. 

 

                     Any written supplements should be 

 

            provided to the Federal Reserve Bank of 

 

            Richmond, and that contact information is on an 

 

            information sheet that is available at the 

 

            registration desk outside in the lobby right          

 

            here on the third floor. 

 

                      If you haven't turned in copies of your 

 

            written testimony or if you have any other 

 

            written statements to put into the record, 

 

            please leave them with the Federal Reserve staff      

 

            at that third floor registration table.  It is 

  

            important that we get this material for the 

 

            public record. 

 

                     In response to so many requests for 

 

            access to the public portions of the Capital          

 

            One-ING file and related comments, the Freedom 

 

            of Information Office has created a reading room 

 

            on the Board's public website.  Your submissions 

 

            will be placed in the FOIA Reading Room as well. 

 

            The web location specified on that information        

  

            sheet that is available outside at the 

 

            registration table. 

 

                     Finally, the official transcript of the 

 

            meeting should be available by next week on the 



             

            Board's public website, and that address is also 

 

            specified on that information sheet. 

 

                      With that, we're going to begin the 

 

            proceedings. 

 

                      Okay.  Our first panel's in place, and       

 

            you can begin your testimony, and you have 30 

 

            minutes, and please pay attention to the 

 

            timekeeper.  And with that, Mr. Finneran. 

 

                      MR. JOHN FINNERAN:  Great.  Thank you 

 

            very much.                                            

 

                      Good morning, everyone.  My name is 

 

            John Finneran, and I serve as general counsel of 

 

            and lead the Corporate Reputation and Governance 

 

            functions for Capital One Financial Corporation. 

 

                      I greatly appreciate this opportunity        

 

            to come before you again and discuss the merits 

 

            of our plans to acquire ING Direct, and I look 

 

            forward to listening to the other participants 

 

            in today's hearing share their views. 

 

                      After fully considering the testimony        

 

            provided by all participants at last week's 

  

            hearing, Capital One continues to believe that 

 

            the record fully supports approval of its 

 

            acquisition. 

 

                      Last week, I noted Capital One's strong 

 

            capital position and prudent risk management has 

 

            enabled us to emerge from the Great Recession as 



 

            a strong financial institution.  The reasons 

 

            behind this outcome are straightforward.              

 

            Capital One never engaged in the kinds of 

 

            activities that precipitated the financial 

 

            crisis. 

 

                      Following the acquisition of ING 

 

            Direct, the combined organization will remain a       

 

            traditional consumer commercial bank with none 

 

            of the complexity or interconnectivity that the 

 

            Dodd-Frank Act sought to address and sought in 

 

            ending the concept of too big to fail.  In fact, 

 

            the acquisition of ING Direct will further            

 

            reduce rather than increase any risk to the 

  

            financial system as well as the overall risk 

  

            profiles of both institutions on a stand-alone 

  

            basis. 

 

                     At the hearing in Washington, D.C., we       

 

            outlined the substantial public benefit 

 

            resulting from this acquisition that will far 

 

            outweigh any potential adverse effects. 

 

            Importantly, the acquisition will serve as a 

            

            catalyst for community development, local job 

 

            creation and economic growth. 

 

                      There are many public benefits that 

 

            will result from Capital One's acquisition of 

 

            ING Direct.  First, ING Direct customers will         

 

            enjoy access to a broader array of products and 



 

            services than ING Direct currently provides 

 

            including traditional fixed-rate mortgage loans 

 

            and auto loans, award-winning credit cards, 

 

            traditional and rewards checking accounts, an         

 

            expansive ATM network, small business loans, 

 

            small business technical assistance programs and 

 

            commercial loans. 

 

                     Today, ING Direct only offers certain 

 

            types of mortgage loans.  Capital One will add a      

 

            wider range of products including a 30-year 

 

            fixed-rate mortgage to this mix and thereby help 

 

            ING Direct customers reach a broader customer 

 

            base. 

                     Further, as a savings association, ING       

 

            Direct has been limited in its ability to 

 

            provide small business and commercial loans and 

 

            has not offered these products to its customers. 

 

            As a full-service national bank, Capital One 

 

            will be able to add these important products and 

 

            services to the ING Direct lending portfolio. 

 

                     Second, in marked contrast to most bank 

 

            mergers and current trends in our industry, 

 

            Capital One plans to increase employment this         

 

            year, adding thousands of new jobs in the U S. 

 

            So far in 2011, we have added 1,800 new jobs in 

 

            the communities in which we operate.  By the end 

 

            of the year, we expect that total to reach over 

 



            3,600 new jobs.                                       

 

                     Notably, our growth plans for next year 

 

            and the following year, 2012 and 2013, include 

 

            creating additional jobs at ING Direct's 

 

            headquarters in Wilmington, Delaware which is a 

 

            city that has seen significant job loss as a          

 

            result of prior mergers in the financial 

 

            services industry. 

 

                     Yesterday, in partnership with Delaware 

 

            Governor Markell and Delaware's congressional 

 

            delegation, we announced our intention to add         

 

            500 high-quality new jobs in Wilmington over and 

 

            above ING Direct and HSBC's current Delaware 

 

            workforce of approximately 1,500 associates. 

 

                     Notably, ING Direct's headquarters are 

                

            located in a low and moderate-income district in 

 

            downtown Wilmington, thus bolstering the 

 

            prospects for other local businesses in that 

 

            community that serve our employees. 

 

                     Our job growth plans provide a rare          

 

            bright spot amidst the recent announcements of 

 

            significant cutbacks numbering in the tens of 

 

            thousands at other banks across the country. 

 

                     We're also committed to helping small 

 

            businesses generate job growth in their local         

 

            communities.  We've established a leadership 

 

            role in microfinance through our partnership 

 



            with a large number of Community Development 

 

            Financial Institutions and by creating such 

 

            programs as our own "Getting Down to Business"        

 

            Program. 

 

                     This initiative is an innovative 

 

            seven-month program that features technical 

 

            training and one-on-one mentoring for 

 

            underserved entrepreneurs.  We are privileged to      

 

            have several clients at the hearing today to 

 

            talk about their experiences, and we thank them 

 

            for making the trip here. 

 

                     Third, Capital One has a record of 

 

            substantially increasing community lending and 

 

            investments in local markets after each of our 

 

            prior acquisitions.  As I mentioned at the 

 

            hearing in Washington, D.C. last week, following 

 

            each of our previous bank acquisitions, we            

 

            increased the dollar amount of community 

 

            development loans and investments in the local 

 

            communities above the levels that the acquired 

 

            banks had done for the periods prior to those 

 

            acquisitions.                                         

 

                     In the case of Hibernia, we increased 

 

            the investment in the community by 250 percent, 

 

            in the case of North Fork, by 570 percent, and 

 

            in the case of Chevy Chase, by 970 percent. 

 

                     Capital One will continue this strong        

 



            post-acquisition record of community 

 

            reinvestment activity by expanding the scope and 

 

            increasing the amount of community reinvestment 

 

            that ING Direct provided to its communities 

 

            prior to the acquisition.                             

 

                     We have a fully-dedicated Community 

 

            Development Finance Group focused exclusively on 

 

            originating specialized highly-impactful 

 

            community development loans and investments 

           

            throughout our communities. 

 

                      Last week, we announced a ten-year 

 

            commitment totalling over $108 billion in new 

 

            community development lending and investments, 

 

            as well as increased lending and services to          

 

            moderate and low-income borrowers.  The details 

 

            of our commitment are on posted on our website. 

 

                      As we discussed last week, this 

 

            acquisition will not result in any material 

 

            adverse effects.  In particular, the acquisition      

 

            will not result in any unsound banking 

 

            practices. 

 

                     Capital One has strong risk management 

 

            practices, and its banks are well capitalized. 

  

            Throughout the economic downturn, Capital One         

 

            delivered solid results through conservative 

  

            balance sheet management and sound underwriting 

 

            statements.  We were part of the first group of 

 



            financial institutions to pay back TARP. 

 

                     Capital One's prudent risk management        

 

            and sustained performance through the economic 

 

            crisis demonstrates the company's balanced 

 

            commitment to both safety and soundness and 

 

            consumer protection. 

                                                                 

                     Capital One's approach protected 

 

            taxpayers, customers and shareholders, and we 

 

            will continue to do so following the acquisition 

 

            of ING Direct. 

 

                     Capital One's success through the            

 

            downturn was a natural outgrowth of our 

 

            diversification strategy, conservative risk 

 

            management practices and careful long-term 

 

            planning. 

 

                     We began a journey in 2005 to diversify      

 

            our lending activities beyond credit cards into 

 

            other traditional consumer, small business and 

 

            commercial loans.  We also set out to reduce our 

 

            reliance on funding through securitization and 

 

            the capital markets by building our retail            

 

            deposit portfolio through both traditional 

 

            branches and our online direct bank. 

 

                     Today, our U.S. credit card business 

 

            constitutes just over 25 percent of our total 

 

            assets.  Even after the acquisitions of ING           

 

            Direct and HSBC's card businesses, domestic 

 



            credit card loans will remain just above a 

 

            quarter of our assets. 

 

                     All of Capital One's recent growth has 

                                                              

            been in non-card-related businesses. 

 

                     As a result of the prudent steps we 

 

            took to manage risk during and prior to the 

 

            downturn as well as reductions in consumer 

 

            spending and other economic factors, our card         

 

            portfolio actually shrank by approximately 

 

            $17 billion or 25 percent since 2008. 

 

                     Even within our card business, Capital 

 

            One is well diversified.  We're a full-spectrum 

 

            lender with a broad range of products to appeal       

 

            to customers with a variety of needs from our 

 

            highly-successful Venture travel rewards card to 

 

            our Journey card for those new to credit. 

 

                     This product diversification combined 

 

            with our conservative and industry-leading            

 

            underwriting capabilities helped make us one of 

 

            only two of the leading credit card businesses 

 

            in the U.S. not to lose money in any quarter 

 

            during the Great Recession. 

 

                     At the Washington, D.C. hearing, some        

 

            commenters raised concerns about the credit card 

 

            securitization market and Capital One's role in 

 

            it.  As a point of clarification, deposits and 

 

            securitization are two alternative forms of 

                                                                    



            funding credit card loans.  For any particular 

 

            portfolio of loans, a bank will choose to use 

 

            either deposits or securitization but not both. 

 

                     As a result of our bank acquisitions, 

 

            securitization accounts for less than 20 percent      

 

            of our total funding, and our loan-to-deposit 

 

            ratio is now one to one. 

 

                     We have not securitized any credit card 

 

            debt since 2009.  This will remain true even 

 

            after the acquisition of HSBC's card business         

 

            which also currently has no outstanding public 

 

            securitization debt. 

 

                     Not surprisingly, our share of the 

 

            total card securitization market has been 

 

            steadily declining and now sits at less than          

 

            9 percent, consistent with our market share in 

 

            outstanding credit card loans even following the 

 

            acquisition of HSBC's card business. 

 

                     All comparisons to the pre-crisis 

 

            mortgage market are just simply misplaced.  The       

 

            credit card market is substantially smaller and 

 

            far less complex.  The total size of the credit 

 

            card market in the U.S. is approximately 

 

            $690 billion.  In contrast, the total size of 

                                                                   

            the mortgage market is almost 15 times larger at 

 

            $10 trillion. 

 

                     Unlike the pre-crisis mortgage market, 

 



            the credit card market is not growing overall 

 

            particularly as a result of continued consumer        

 

            deleveraging. 

 

                     In addition, due to recent accounting 

 

            and regulatory changes, all credit card 

 

            securitizations must remain on a bank's balance 

 

            sheet and carry the same capital and reserve          

 

            levels as non-securitized loans. 

 

                     Some commenters also noted our 

 

            reduction in mortgage lending between 2007 and 

 

            2009, the period in which the financial crisis 

 

            was at its worst.                                     

 

                     The reduction in our mortgage lending 

 

            should not be surprising, either, as mortgage 

 

            lending across the entire industry has declined 

 

            by over 60 percent since its peak in 2006 as 

 

            unemployment rose and home prices fell.               

 

                     Capital One's reduction is almost 

 

            entirely attributable to the decisions to shut 

 

            down the legacy mortgage businesses of Chevy 

 

            Chase and North Fork in 2008 and 2007, 

                                                                      

            respectively. 

 

                     Prior to our acquisitions of those 

 

            banks, their mortgage businesses were 

 

            predominantly broker originated and out of 

 

            footprint and focused on alternative products         

 

            like stated-income and option ARM loans. 

 



                     It is also important to understand the 

 

            relative performances of mortgages and credit 

 

            cards throughout the downturn.  First-mortgage 

 

            losses across the industry peaked at 25 times         

 

            their historic average during the crisis.  In 

 

            marked contrast, credit card losses only doubled 

 

            during that time.  And even today, 

 

            first-mortgage losses remain 13 times higher 

 

            than their historic average, while our credit         

 

            card losses have returned to their pre-crisis 

 

            levels. 

 

                     These relative performance levels 

 

            explain the large number of failures sparked by 

 

            mortgage lending and the greater resilience of        

 

            our card portfolio throughout the recession. 

 

            Several factors account for this disparity. 

 

                     Unlike mortgages which rely primarily 

 

            on the value of the underlying collateral to 

                                                                      

            mitigate losses, credit cards are unsecured. 

 

            Thus, credit card issuers must assess the 

 

            customer's ability and likelihood to repay as 

 

            the critical component of their underwriting 

 

            processes.  As a result, a significant increase       

 

            in the value of collateral like a house does not 

 

            cause a credit card lender to loosen its 

 

            underwriting criteria at the time of the 

 

            origination of the account.  And similarly, a 

 



            dramatic reduction in the value of the                

 

            collateral does not negatively affect the 

 

            performance of the loan. 

 

                     In addition, the significant and 

 

            beneficial changes brought about by the CARD Act 

 

            which Capital One supported outlawed many             

 

            practices including universal default which had 

 

            encouraged some lenders to lower their 

 

            underwriting standards. 

 

                     The end result of the CARD Act has been 

 

            a credit card marketplace that is more                

 

            competitive, transparent and safer for consumers 

 

            and card issuers alike. 

 

                     Concerns that credit cards represent a 

 

            potential source of the next financial crisis 

                                                                 

            are misplaced and ignore the success of the CARD 

 

            Act and the prudential safeguards instituted by 

 

            the Dodd-Frank Act in fundamentally changing 

 

            this market for the better. 

 

                     As discussed in more detail in our           

 

            testimony in Washington, it is complexity and 

 

            interconnectivity, not prudently-managed 

 

            traditional lending activities which raises 

 

            concerns about systemic risk. 

 

                    Congress' decision to avoid any              

 

            arbitrary ban on acquisitions over a certain 

 

            threshold was a deliberate one.  A ban would 

 



            inhibit competition and ultimately harm 

 

            consumers' businesses and the economy. 

 

                     The law and evolving regulatory              

 

            framework requires us to look beyond mere size 

 

            in analyzing potential risk to financial 

 

            stability.  They emphasize the role of 

 

            interconnectivity, substitutability, complexity 

 

            and the extent of international or                    

 

            cross-jurisdictional activity. 

 

                     When considered fully under this 

 

            framework, it is clear that this acquisition 

 

            will not result in greater risk to our financial 

             

            system. 

 

                     At our core, Capital One has a very 

 

            simple and traditional banking business model. 

 

            This will not change as a result of this 

 

            acquisition.  As a result, the combined               

 

            institution will further reduce rather than 

 

            increase risk to the system. 

 

                     Capital One will strengthen ING 

 

            Direct's balance sheet by expanding its 

 

            asset-generation capabilities, and at the same        

 

            time, ING Direct's deposits will supplement 

 

            Capital One's access to stable, lower-cost 

 

            funding for its diverse traditional consumer 

 

            and commercial lending activities. 

 

                     Neither institution's business lines         

 



            are highly specialized or critical financial 

 

            products or services available only from a small 

 

            number of providers.  Capital One and ING Direct 

 

            have very small market shares in their few 

 

            overlapping lines of business.  There are             

 

            numerous providers of each of their products and 

 

            services nationally and in all local banking 

 

            markets throughout the U.S. 

 

                     In addition, neither Capital One nor 

          

            ING Direct provide the types of critical 

 

            financial services the disruption of which would 

 

            pose significant risk to financial stability in 

 

            the U.S. 

 

                     Neither Capital One nor, ING Direct is       

 

            a clearing or settlement organization, neither 

 

            has any significant presence in any critical 

 

            financial market, and neither is a market maker 

 

            in any financial markets. 

 

                    Similarly, Capital One's proposed            

 

            acquisition of ING Direct would decrease rather 

 

            than increase the interconnectedness of the 

 

            financial system. 

 

                     Neither Capital One nor ING Direct is 

 

            engaged in trading derivatives, writing credit        

 

            default swaps, financial guarantees, structured 

 

            products or other complex derivatives. 

 

                     Neither is reliant on uncommitted 

 



            short-term funds from institutional or wholesale 

 

            sources, and moreover, ING Direct will become         

 

            part of a U.S.-based bank holding company and no 

 

            longer be owned by a foreign bank following this 

 

            acquisition. 

 

                     The broader context of this merger is 

            

            also critical to understand. 

 

                      The status quo of ING Direct as a 

 

            stand-alone business is not a realistic 

 

            alternative and thus is not an appropriate 

 

            baseline against which to compare elements of         

 

            financial stability risk. 

 

                     The divestment of ING Direct is part of 

 

            the package of restructuring measures mandated 

 

            by the European Commission.  Not surprisingly, 

 

            the size and business model of ING Direct             

 

            greatly limited the pool of interested 

 

            acquirers. 

 

                     The most likely alternative to an 

 

            acquisition by Capital One would have been a 

 

            sale of ING Direct to a larger and more complex       

 

            institution or a more interconnected foreign 

 

            bank which raises a greater probability of 

 

            heightened risk to the financial system than an 

 

            acquisition by Capital One. 

 

                     Moreover, in the current environment,        

 

            many banks are not interested in the substantial 

 



            additional deposit funding an acquisition of ING 

 

            Direct would bring.  Many banks are facing 

 

            significant challenges in generating sufficient 

            

            asset growth in this economy. 

 

                     Capital One is uniquely positioned to 

 

            redeploy ING Direct's balance sheet from less 

 

            reliance on mortgage-backed and other securities 

 

            to originating direct loans to consumers and          

 

            small businesses. 

 

                     My colleague, Dorothy Broadman, will 

 

            address our community development record as well 

 

            as describe the extraordinary support we've 

 

            received from our community partners and civic        

 

            leaders, many of whom are here to testify today 

 

            and many more who have written unique and 

 

            personal stories of our commitment to their 

 

            success. 

 

                     In conclusion, we believe that the           

 

            benefits to consumers and the public of this 

 

            transaction are substantial and clear.  Capital 

 

            One is better positioned than any other U.S. 

 

            bank to take on this business, thereby enhancing 

 

            the safety and soundness of both institutions         

 

            and more effectively employing ING Direct's 

 

            deposits to the advantage of consumers, 

 

            communities and the economy at large. 

 

                     Capital One is also uniquely positioned 

 



            to increase jobs at a time when other businesses 

 

            are struggling to do so. 

 

                     We remain confident that the record 

 

            fully supports approval of this acquisition, and 

 

            I thank you again for the opportunity to appear       

 

            before you and look forward to the testimony of 

 

            the other participants. 

 

                     Thank you very much. 

 

                     MS. DOROTHY BROADMAN:  Good morning. 

 

            My name is Dorothy Broadman.  I manage Capital        

 

            One's Community Development Banking Team, and I 

 

            am a CRA officer.  I appreciate this opportunity 

 

            to discuss Capital One's innovative and 

 

            high-impact CRA program. 

 

                     Our program has improved the lives of        

 

            thousands of lower-income individuals and 

 

            families by providing safe, decent and 

 

            affordable housing, by helping small business 

 

            owners grow and develop sustainable businesses 

 

            and by helping lower-income individuals access a      

 

            range of vital banking services to encourage 

 

            saving. 

 

                     Our CRA program has won us the top 

 

            ranking in the Association for Neighborhood and 

           

            Housing Development's 2011 report on New York 

 

            City bank reinvestment released today. 

 

                     ANHD, an influential community 

 



            representative, ranked us first among commercial 

 

            banks in New York in a comprehensive review that      

 

            covered 46 types of CRA data including 

 

            branching, community development lending and 

 

            investing, multi-family lending and 

 

            philanthropy. 

 

                     The report notes, quote, "Over the           

 

            years, Capital One has emerged as a committed 

 

            partner in economic and housing development, 

 

            especially in low- and moderate-income 

 

            neighborhoods.  In 2007, Capital One had an 

 

            average rank of five.  In 2008, it jumped to          

 

            two, trailblazing ahead of most of its peer 

 

            institutions.  And while most other institutions 

 

            were reducing community development lending, 

 

            Capital One was aggressively ramping up," end 

 

            quote.                                                

 

                     The importance we place on our CRA 

 

            program is epitomized by the significant growth 

 

            of our team from nine associates in 2005 to 82 

 

            today.  This represents growth substantially 

          

            greater than the CRA teams we inherited through 

 

            our bank acquisitions.  But the numbers alone 

 

            don't tell the full story. 

 

                     Our ability to translate what we learn 

 

            from our wide range of partners into                  

 

            locally-responsive programs is the true heart of 

 



            our CRA program. 

 

                     One partner, Cypress Hills Local 

 

            Development Corporation, put it this way: 

 

            Quote, "Capital One is unique in the New York         

 

            City affordable housing and community 

 

            development market.  They have an experienced, 

 

            knowledgeable and hard-working team that is on 

 

            the ground listening to what non-profit 

 

            community development and housing counselling         

 

            organizations need and translating that into 

 

            direct loans, financing and new mortgage 

 

            products," end quote. 

 

                     We began to build our housing finance 

 

            team shortly before the recession, and while          

 

            other institutions reduced community development 

 

            lending and investing, we continued to increase 

 

            ours right through the depths of the recession. 

 

            For example, our originations since 2007 totaled 

          

            $2.4 billion and grew from 100 million in 2006 

 

            to 732 million in 2010. 

 

                     Significantly, during the recession, as 

 

            the market decreased 45 percent for community 

 

            development or CD loans, we increased ours 121        

 

            percent.  Even in 2009, we increased our 

 

            specialized CD lending 54 percent while the 

 

            market dropped 52. 

 

                     Again, numbers alone don't tell our 

 



            full story.  It's our willingness to step up and      

 

            remain locally engaged and responsive that 

 

            distinguishes us. 

 

                     In 2008, as the recession was 

 

            intensifying, many affordable housing developers 

 

            were unable to find tax credit investors.  Even       

 

            worse, some lenders and investors were unable to 

 

            fulfill their then-existing obligations to fund 

 

            ongoing construction projects. 

 

                     When we were approached with an idea of 

 

            stepping into developments that were already          

 

            under way, something that hadn't been done 

 

            before, we showed great agility and resolve. 

 

            Over the course of six months, we closed 93 

 

            million in investments to replace money promised 

           

            in original development plans. 

 

                    We are equally committed to working 

 

            with lower-income families to help them become 

 

            successful home buyers.  Our Community 

 

            Development Mortgage Group originates                 

 

            specialized high-impact loans to lower-income 

 

            borrowers.  These are high-touch, 

 

            labor-intensive loans originated for our 

 

            portfolio that involve extensive home buyer 

 

            counselling and leveraging of public sector down      

 

            payment assistance programs. 

 

                    Our team also engages in affordable 

 



            housing initiatives often in leadership roles. 

 

            In Dallas, we created the Dallas Home Connection 

 

            Collaborative to respond to the gap that              

 

            non-profit affordable housing developers 

 

            experience in identifying eligible low- and 

 

            moderate-income clients. 

 

                     The collaborative includes capacity 

 

            building for the participating non-profits,           

 

            support for the development of effective 

 

            marketing tools and a 24-month program to 

 

            prepare people for homeownership. 

 

                     Our CRA program also includes a 

            

            specialized focus on small business, and even 

 

            through the current economic challenges, we have 

 

            remained focused on actively helping meet the 

 

            needs of small businesses, especially those in 

 

            low and moderate-income communities and those         

 

            that are not yet bankable. 

 

                     From 2007 to 2009, the number of small 

 

            business loans fell for all lenders, including 

 

            us.  However, in 2010, our number of loans 

 

            increased by 19 percent from the previous year        

 

            while the all-lender average declined 9 percent. 

 

            In addition, 98 percent of our loans were for 

 

            $100,000 or less with an average amount of only 

 

            15,000, evidencing our focus on the smallest 

 

            businesses.                                           

 



                     Our program also includes a focus on 

 

            providing credit in LMI areas.  From 2008 to 

 

            2010, 28 percent of our small business loans in 

 

            our larger markets were made in LMI communities. 

 

            This level matched or exceeded the benchmark          

 

            which is the distribution of small businesses. 

 

                     Beginning in 2007 and continuing today, 

 

            our focus on specialized economic development 

 

            activities has increased significantly.  None of 

            

            the banks previously acquired had this focus. 

 

            We have hired staff, trained existing staff and 

 

            implemented an innovative, comprehensive 

 

            strategy.  We have forged relationships with 

 

            over 60 key organizations that support micro and      

 

            small businesses. 

 

                     Core to all of these efforts is 

 

            supporting and creating jobs by addressing the 

 

            challenges faced by underserved entrepreneurs. 

 

                     A central component of our strategy is       

 

            supporting local and national CDFIs that lend 

 

            and provide technical assistance to emerging 

 

            businesses.  We support CDFIs through flexible 

 

            financing including below-market rates, 

 

            technical assistance, grant support and business      

 

            referrals. 

 

                     One of our key CDFI partners in 

 

            addressing the challenges faced by underserved 

 



            entrepreneurs is Grameen America.  Grameen's 

 

            mission is assisting low-income individuals           

 

            become economically self-sufficient by providing 

 

            micro loans on average of $1,500. 

 

                     The proceeds must be used for 

 

            income-producing activities, for example, a 

            

            borrower might use a loan to invest in equipment 

 

            for a food cart, purchase a sewing machine for a 

 

            tailoring business or start a home-based daycare 

 

            business. 

 

                     Nearly 100 percent of Grameen's clients      

 

            are women, the great majority are minorities, 

 

            and all live below the poverty line. 

 

                     Grameen's model also requires clients 

 

            to open a savings account and save on a weekly 

 

            basis.                                                

 

                     We support Grameen with below-market 

 

            financing to capitalize their loan fund and by 

 

            providing low-cost savings accounts for their 

 

            clients.  Over 1,300 Grameen clients have opened 

 

            low-balance accounts with us.                         

 

                     This successful model creates 

 

            meaningful opportunities for low-income 

 

            individuals during a period of very high 

 

            unemployment. 

 

                     We also partner extensively with CDFIs       

 

            through our "Second Look" referral program. 

 



                     Many not-yet-bankable small businesses 

 

            receive technical assistance and financing 

 

            resulting from our CDFI partnerships.  Since 

             

            2007, we have referred 1,100 businesses.  One 

 

            example is a customer referred to and 

 

            subsequently financed by Seedco Financial 

 

            Services for a new restaurant in New York City. 

 

            The business worked with another of our               

 

            partners, New York Business Solutions, which is 

 

            part of the New York City Department of Small 

 

            Business Services, to identify lower-income 

 

            applicants to fill some of the 30 jobs created 

 

            by this new restaurant.                               

 

                     We are committed to providing quality 

 

            technical assistance to small businesses.  Our 

 

            "Getting Down to Business" program is an 

 

            innovative seven-month program that features 

 

            technical training and one-on-one mentoring.          

 

            The program also includes IDAs to build equity. 

 

            We currently provide a match of up to $2,000 for 

 

            each business. 

 

                     Lisa Reyna, a "Getting Down to 

 

            Business" graduate, described her experience          

 

            this way.  Quote, "I started my company as a 

 

            one-person DBA working from home with a strong 

 

            vision and with the support from Capital One. 

 

            Now, I am an incorporated LLC with an office in 

           



            the financial district of Houston with a 

 

            full-time program assistant, five instructors 

 

            and two admissions consultants.  The intensive 

 

            training and support provided through "Getting 

 

            Down to Business" is truly the catalyst to the        

 

            success of our company." 

 

                     Joan Bartolomeo, the president of 

 

            Brooklyn Economic Development Corporation, a New 

 

            York City organization with a mission to create 

 

            and support sustainable jobs, industries and          

 

            communities said this of our economic 

 

            development efforts. 

 

                     Quote, "Does our work complement that 

 

            of Capital One?  The answer is absolutely yes 

 

            because the bank is also deeply involved in           

 

            helping small businesses grow and thrive in our 

 

            community.  This is not a CRA-motivated 

 

            involvement but an actual business model that 

 

            recognizes the importance of small business to 

 

            the economy."                                         

 

                     Philanthropy is also a strong component 

 

            of our programs.  Since January of 2009, we have 

 

            distributed more than 4,200 grants non-profits 

 

            totalling over $60 million.  Most of these 

           

            grants primarily serve lower-income populations. 

 

            In addition, in 2009 and 2010, we delivered more 

 

            than 200,000 hours of volunteer service to 

 



            further community impact. 

 

                     Critical to our success is our ongoing       

 

            and multifaceted collaborations with local 

 

            partners.  Many of these partners are here 

 

            today, and we are so grateful for their support. 

 

            Many more provided individually-crafted letters 

 

            describing our meaningful and substantive             

 

            programs.  They are intimately familiar with our 

 

            work and very well positioned to evaluate it 

 

            effectively.  This is exemplified in a letter 

 

            from Mayor Cory Booker of Newark, New Jersey 

 

            written in a letter to the Federal Reserve Bank       

 

            of Richmond. 

 

                     Quote, "I write to express my gratitude 

 

            to Capital One Bank for their commitment to the 

 

            City of Newark.  Capital One did not only open 

 

            its doors in our city but did so with a focus on      

 

            improving the communities in which it does 

 

            business.  Whether they are providing critical 

 

            services to community-based organizations, 

 

            opening a bank branch in an underserved area or 

           

            simply asking how they can be of further 

 

            assistance to public policy aims, Capital One 

 

            has demonstrated a dedication to the low and 

 

            moderate-income residents of our city.  Newark 

 

            is lucky to have Capital One operating within         

 

            its borders, and we look forward to this 

 



            outstanding corporate citizen's continued 

 

            support of our community," end quote. 

 

                     Our program demonstrates our ongoing 

 

            commitment to CRA as we have grown, and we will       

 

            continue this commitment following consummation 

 

            of the proposed acquisition. 

 

                     Thank you. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very 

 

            much.                                                 

 

                     I have a couple of questions, and I'll 

 

            start with one, and then other panelists will 

 

            have questions. 

 

                     The first thing, I just am curious as 

 

            to how you determined the amount of this              

 

            commitment you're making of the 180 and then the 

 

            breakdown of the different kinds of products 

 

            that you're putting in it.  I'm just curious as 

 

            to how you came to that amount and that 

          

            breakdown. 

 

                     MS. DOROTHY BROADMAN:  Sure. 

 

                     We worked with all of the business 

 

            lines.  First, we started by identifying what we 

 

            wanted to include in the commitment.  And you         

 

            can see it's from small business lending, it's 

 

            other types of lending that serve low and 

 

            moderate-income borrowers in low and 

 

            moderate-income neighborhoods. 

 



                     We worked with business lines, and it        

 

            represents what we feel is realistic 

 

            forecasting.  The growth varies by business line 

 

            depending on their market and where they are 

 

            situated today but represents what we feel is a 

 

            reasonable and achievable level of growth             

 

            throughout the ten-year period. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Okay.  And this 

 

            commitment is nationwide? 

 

                     MS. DOROTHY BROADMAN:  Yes. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Do you have it         

 

            broken out by geographic area? 

 

                     MS. DOROTHY BROADMAN:  It is 

 

            nationwide, and we do not have it broken out by 

 

            geographic region.  We have talked about doing 

       

            that.  We feel it's difficult to forecast that 

 

            effectively at this point in time, and so it's 

 

            done as a total volume-wide business type. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     One more question I have, and then I'll      

 

            turn it to my panelists. 

 

                     On small business loans -- and you both 

 

            talked about that this morning.  We know that 

 

            last week, we heard testimony from some other 

 

            panelists about how the small business -- actual      

 

            small business loans decreased and there were 

 

            also assertions made that kind of instead of 

 



            giving small business loans, Cap One increased 

 

            giving small business credit cards, and I was 

 

            just wondering if you could comment about that.       

 

                     You may not have these figures at hand, 

 

            but do you know what percentage of your small 

 

            business lending is on credit card versus a 

 

            loan, a traditional loan? 

 

                     MS. DOROTHY BROADMAN:  I don't have          

 

            that information.  I'm not able to provide that, 

 

            but I can tell you that there's no relationship 

 

            between our small business lending volume and 

 

            our credit card lending volume.  They're two 

         

            different lines of business that are managed 

 

            separately, and so there isn't a tradeoff 

 

            between the two of them as was implied.  You 

 

            know, they stand on their own. 

 

                      We did see a decline in small business       

 

            lending across the board, as I mentioned in my 

 

            testimony, and we saw that also in the market. 

 

            We're no different in that regard, but 

 

            interestingly, as I mentioned, in 2010, we saw a 

 

            reversal of that where our numbers actually           

 

            increased while the market continued to decline. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you. 

 

                     Panelists, questions? 

 

                     MS. WILLIAMS:  I have one. 

 

                     You talked a little bit about the fact       

 



            that you have not decided on how this 180 

 

            million is going to be nationwide but you can't 

 

            talk about geographically how it would be 

 

            allocated so can you comment on what your 

 

            strategy is going forward for the future because      

 

            once you have, you know, a time period under our 

 

            belt, if you find out it is concentrated in one 

 

            community, how do you plan to address that? 

 

                     MS. DOROTHY BROADMAN:  We think it's 

            

            unlikely that it will be concentrated in one 

 

            community, although we can't really predict what 

 

            will happen with the economy. 

 

                     You'll see language in the commitment 

 

            that as the economy comes back and stabilizes,        

 

            we may take another look at this commitment. 

 

            We're forecasting in a pretty uncertain 

 

            environment. 

 

                     You know, we don't -- our lending tends 

 

            to be pretty diverse geographically.  You know,       

 

            we have a focus in our bank markets naturally 

 

            because that's where we are locally and we have 

 

            people on the ground, but we also have national 

 

            businesses that work across the country. 

 

                     MS. WILLIAMS:  I guess where I was           

 

            going with that was after a year or two, you 

 

            should have some experience that would let you 

 

            go back and maybe relook at that program and 

 



            make some solid decisions about it. 

 

                      MS. DOROTHY BROADMAN:  Yes, we might        

 

            do that.  You know, ten years is difficult to 

 

            forecast, obviously, and so as time passes, we 

 

            will be reporting out annually our performance 

 

            against the commitment, and that will be 

         

            published on our website for the public to see. 

 

            And yes, that's -- inevitably as we go, we will 

 

            be evaluating it.  At some point in time, we may 

 

            change what we have included in the commitment, 

 

            but we'll just have to see how it goes.               

 

                     MS. PRAGER:  I just want to make sure I 

 

            understood the response to one of Sandy's 

 

            questions. 

 

                     If a small business came in and applied 

 

            for a loan, is it not the case that they might        

 

            be told, "We can't make this loan, you should 

 

            apply for a credit card"? 

 

                     MR. JOHN FINNERAN:  I think that would 

 

            be a -- well, I doubt that that would happen, 

 

            but I think if someone came into a branch and         

 

            asked for -- applied for a loan that they would 

 

            be evaluated, and I would expect under the small 

 

            business lending that we do, it would be the 

 

            branch network.  And as Dorothy mentioned, the 

 

            credit card business which is a national              

 

            business is marketed mostly through different 

 



            channels as opposed to the branch. 

 

                     MS. PRAGER:  There wouldn't be any 

 

            spearing? 

             

                     MR. JOHN FINNERAN:  No, there wouldn't 

 

            be. 

 

                     Now, if it was a truly really small 

 

            business that, you know, would not qualify for a 

 

            loan in the branch, they may very well get            

 

            referred to one of the partners that Dorothy 

 

            talked about either for technical assistance in 

 

            how to put together a better loan application or 

 

            possibly to one of the CDFIs to be funded as 

 

            well.                                                 

 

                     MS. PRAGER:  And a question for John. 

 

                     You mentioned that one of the benefits 

 

            of this transaction would be that customers of 

 

            ING Bank would have access to a broader array of 

 

            financial products and services than ING              

 

            currently offers. 

 

                     Is there any reason to think that those 

 

            customers don't already have access to that 

 

            broad array of products through other providers 

 

            in the market?                                        

 

                     MR. JOHN FINNERAN:  Well, as I also 

 

            mentioned in our testimony, we have lots of 

 

            competition in all of the products that we offer 

 

            so I think that they clearly have choices to 

           



            make. 

 

                     You know, we like to think that the 

 

            products that we offer to our customers are 

 

            better than many of our competitors so I think 

 

            that, you know, having the ING customers be           

 

            Capital One customers, that will give us a 

 

            chance to better serve them and possibly know a 

 

            lot more about them to be able to offer them a 

 

            product that might fit their needs a little bit 

 

            better than they may be offered from some of our      

 

            competitors. 

 

                     MR. KIDD:  I have one question. 

 

                     Mr. Finneran, there were some skeptics 

 

            that were published following your commitment of 

 

            the $180 billion, and they said it lacked             

 

            enforceability. 

 

                     How would you address those concerns 

 

            from some of the public who have come out 

 

            publicly and have demonstrated skepticism to 

 

            that commitment?                                      

 

                     MR. JOHN FINNERAN:  Well, as Dorothy 

 

            mentioned, we put it out there.  We have stated 

 

            what we intend to do.  We are going to measure 

 

            it, we are going to report how we're doing 

           

            throughout the ten-year period, and as time 

 

            changes, you know, if the economy does get 

 

            better, you know, we'll find that we'll be able 

 



            to over divert as opposed to under divert 

 

            against the commitment so we like to pride            

 

            ourselves on saying what we'll do and then doing 

 

            what we say.  So watch us, we will deliver. 

 

                     MR. KIDD:  Thank you. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very 

 

            much.                                                 

 

                     Any other questions? 

 

                     Okay.  Thank you very much for your 

 

            testimony. 

 

                     Good morning, Reverend Jackson. 

 

                     REVEREND JESSE JACKSON:  Good morning.       

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Okay.  We're 

 

            going to move on to the next panel, and just a 

 

            few housekeeping kinds of things.  You know, 

 

            please make sure and speak directly into the 

 

            mics because we have a court reporter, and            

 

            please state your name for the record and your 

 

            affiliation when you begin your testimony. 

 

                     We have the timekeeper here in front of 

 

            you -- in front of me, actually, right here with 

            

            the box with lights on it, and when you see the 

 

            yellow light, you'll have one minute left, and 

 

            then the red light says that the time is up. 

 

            And Reverend Jackson, you have ten minutes so 

 

            with that, we can begin.                              

 

                     REVEREND JESSE JACKSON:  Good morning. 

 



                     I want to thank the Federal Reserve for 

 

            holding these hearings following a request by a 

 

            coalition of over 20 national organizations and 

 

            hundreds more locally.                                

 

                     Rainbow Push was honored to join in 

 

            this critical effort led by the National 

 

            Community Reinvestment Coalition including 

 

            Americans for Financial Reform, the Center For 

 

            Responsible Lending, the NAACP, the National          

 

            Consumer Law Center, National People's Action, 

 

            the National Urban League, the PICO National 

 

            Network, Public Citizens, US PIRG and many 

 

            others. 

 

                     The Federal Reserve Board and its staff      

 

            are the experts the American people have 

 

            entrusted to protect the faith and credit of the 

 

            U.S. by ending Too Big to Fail. 

 

                     To reduce systemic risk, Dodd-Frank 

           

            provides and gives you the power to stop banks 

 

            from getting bigger. 

 

                     As Federal Reserve Board Governor 

 

            Daniel Tarullo has said, growth should not occur 

 

            unless the benefits to the public are clearly         

 

            significant.  It is your duty to make sure that 

 

            the benefits of this deal outweigh the increase 

 

            in systemic risk. 

 

                     But the old standard of public benefit 

 



            no longer applies.  The benefits of                   

 

            consolidation and growth in the banking industry 

 

            have been thoroughly rejected. 

 

                     Prior to the financial crisis, banks 

 

            made false promises of efficiencies and 

 

            economies of scale to be achieved by                  

 

            consolidation.  Their other false premises 

 

            included:  Labeling predatory products as 

 

            innovation even though they created no benefit 

 

            to consumers; committing to broader access to 

 

            credit but not ensuring fair and sustainable          

 

            terms; promoting more stability -- promising 

 

            more stability and diversification even as they 

 

            pursued riskier and riskier lending. 

 

                     And the result?  Over $23 trillion in 

            

            loans, investments and guarantees were required 

 

            to avoid the collapse of the financial system; 

 

            over $5.6 trillion in lost equity just from 

 

            households in foreclosure and an estimated 

 

            $17 trillion in overall lost household wealth; a      

 

            decline in median wealth for Latinos by a 

 

            devastating 66 percent, according to the Pew 

 

            Research Center.  For African Americans, that 

 

            number is an equally-alarming 53 percent. 

 

            Millions of lost jobs and unemployment that           

 

            three years after the financial crisis is still 

 

            above 9 percent and is even higher in African 

 



            American and Latino communities. 

 

                     There is a bias that presumes benefits 

 

            from consolidation that is not borne out by this      

 

            recent experience.  In the Federal Reserve Board 

 

            has questioned the benefits' existence of 

 

            economies of scale and scope.  Governor Tarullo 

 

            recently said that evidence for the existence of 

 

            such economies is limited and mixed.                  

 

                     On the other hand, the cost of the 

 

            financial crisis, the end result of the 

 

            so-called benefits of growth consolidation, can 

 

            be measured in the tens of trillions of dollars 

             

            and outweigh any actual public benefit created 

 

            by consolidation in the financial sector in the 

 

            years before the financial crisis. 

 

                     Case in point:  In 2008, I stood before 

 

            you when Bank of America bought Countrywide.          

 

            I said to you, "The full impact of Countrywide's 

 

            implosion is still yet to be felt.  The worst is 

 

            not over.  Make no mistake about it, Bank of 

 

            America can provide homeowners, the nation and 

 

            ou economy with enormous benefit if it seeks          

 

            appropriate solutions to these fundamental 

 

            problems, but it can further derail our economy 

 

            and abandon millions of homeowners if its 

 

            solutions to the home foreclosure crisis it has 

 

            inherited from Countrywide falls short."              

 



                     I take no comfort in my correct 

 

            prediction.  The banksters then made promises of 

 

            benefits they did not keep.  They did not act in 

 

            the public interest, and in the end, they did 

 

            not act in their own best interest.                   

 

                     Countrywide was like a virus; it 

 

            infected other banks and our economy with these 

 

            risky mortgages, and it brought banks to the 

 

            brink of collapse. 

            

                     How quickly we forget.  Like 

 

            Countrywide, Capital One is pursuing a risky 

 

            business model.  More than 75 percent of its 

 

            profits come from a single source:  Credit 

 

            cards.  75 percent.                                   

 

                     As John Taylor of NCRC said, this 

 

            monoline strategy will make the next 

 

            too-big-to-fail bank the most-likely-to-fail 

 

            bank. 

 

                     Like Countrywide, Capital One is             

 

            targeting minorities and the poor for their 

 

            high-cost products. 

 

                     Like Countrywide, Capital One is 

 

            targeting subprime borrowers, expanding its 

 

            marketing to this group by 300 percent since          

 

            2010. 

 

                     Like Countrywide, Capital One is 

 

            offering insufficient and vague promises of 

 



            public benefit. 

 

                     The only difference between the two,         

 

            the poison pill Capital One is pushing is credit 

 

            cards instead of subprime mortgages.  Capital 

 

            One spreads the risk of risky products. 

 

                     Talk about public benefits.  Judge by 

         

            promises kept, not promises made. 

 

                     Capital One is making promises of 

 

            public benefits it has no intention to keep.  In 

 

            the their application, they spent fewer than 100 

 

            words describing the public.  The benefits they       

 

            promised can be summarized as more ATMs and more 

 

            products. 

 

                     Capital One thinks they can present a 

 

            handful of community investment projects to the 

 

            Federal Reserve and pass the test.  They think        

 

            they can make vague promises of better behavior 

 

            and seal the deal.  They think their standard 

 

            should be the Federal Reserve standard, and they 

 

            have set the bar low. 

 

                     You don't judge a thief by what he says      

 

            when he is caught.  Like a kid who thought he 

 

            could sneak a cookie, Capital One has been 

 

            caught with its hand in the cookie jar. 

 

                     Capital One got caught refusing to 

 

            participate in programs that help unemployed          

 

            homeowners, pushing people to foreclosure. 

 



            Threatened with legal action, they now say they 

 

            will participate. 

 

                     Capital One got caught with an 

           

            insufficient application.  They spent just four 

 

            sentences on their statement of public benefit. 

 

            Threatened by a challenge to the acquisition, 

 

            now they promise more change by offering $180 

 

            million as if they can buy your favor.                

 

                     Capital One has made no real 

 

            commitment.  Capital One's small business 

 

            lending decreased by 99.73 percent, from 228 

 

            million to less than 600,000 from 2006 to 2010. 

 

                     After acquiring North Fork, they             

 

            reduced their share of business loans to the 

 

            smallest businesses, under $1 million in 

 

            revenue.  In just three years, they went from 

 

            doing 63 percent to the smallest businesses to 

 

            just 16 percent.                                      

 

                     After its acquisition of Hibernia, 

 

            Capital One received a low satisfactory on its 

 

            CRA exam for services largely because it had no 

 

            branches in low-income areas in Houston, Dallas, 

 

            New Orleans and Baton Rouge.  Let me say that         

 

            again.  No branches for low-income neighborhoods 

 

            in four major cities. 

 

                     After they got that low-satisfactory 

 

            grad, how did Capital One respond?  From 2005 to 

           



            2007, it opened 37 branches in wealthy areas and 

 

            just one in low-income neighborhoods measured by 

 

            that exam. 

 

                     After Capital One bought Chevy Chase 

 

            Bank, its community lending fell off the cliff        

 

            by 41 percent. 

 

                     After acquiring North Fork Bank in 

 

            2006, Capital One reduced prime home lending in 

 

            New York State by 95 percent in three years. 

 

            And Capital One reduced North Fork's home             

 

            lending to Latinos from 26 percent of its loans 

 

            in 2006 to just 5 percent in 2009. 

 

                     After acquiring Hibernia, a 25 percent 

 

            drop in lending to small businesses in 

 

            low-income tracts.                                    

 

                     Time and time again, the data shows 

 

            that Capital One's lending to African Americans 

 

            and Latinos and low-income and moderate 

 

            borrowers trails their peers. 

 

                     As a credit card company, they are           

 

            armed with a bank deposit vacuum.  As Capital 

 

            One vacuums up safe bank deposits, it spits out 

 

            higher-risk credit cards.  It is clear that 

 

            Capital One has no commitment to legitimate 

           

            community banking. 

 

                    The only kind of public benefit that 

 

            could outweigh the increase in systemic risk of 

 



            this acquisition is a commitment to create jobs, 

 

            affordable housing and build wealth for all           

 

            Americans, black, brown and white, with quality 

 

            lending products and accessible branches and 

 

            services. 

 

                     If you approve this without benefits 

 

            that can be quantified, measured and for which        

 

            Capital One can be held accountable to the 

 

            community, you will have failed your duty -- 

 

            will fail your duty to ensure that the public 

 

            benefits outweigh the risk of this deal. 

 

            Capital One has utterly failed to demonstrate         

 

            such a benefit. 

 

                     Thank you for allowing me a chance to 

 

            share with you today. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very 

 

            much.                                                 

 

                     Any questions from the panelists? 

 

            Thank you very much. 

 

                     REVEREND JESSE JACKSON:  Thank you very 

 

            much. 

          

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Good morning to 

 

            our panelists.  I know we have a little change 

 

            up on this panel, and Dory, you're going to be 

 

            reading Matt Lee's testimony. 

 

                     MS. DORY RAND:  Yes. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  So the way we're 

 



            going to do this is we're going to go in the 

 

            order in which it's listed in the agenda.  So 

 

            first, Jim, you'll go, and then after that, 

 

            Dory, you'll read Matt's statement, but then          

 

            we'll go to Liz and Mr. Palmer and then to you 

 

            and then to Ted.  Okay?  So we'll do it in the 

 

            order in which it is.  Okay? 

 

                     With that, I just want a couple of 

 

            housekeeping reminders.  Please speak directly        

 

            into the mics, and when you start your 

 

            statement, could you please start by introducing 

 

            yourself and your affiliation. 

 

                     Keep your eye on the timekeeper. 

 

            Yellow light, you each have one minute left, and      

 

            then obviously, when the red goes on, your time 

 

            is up.  Each panelist has five minutes, and 

 

            we'll start with Jim whenever you're ready. 

 

                     MR. JAMES CARR:  Good morning.  Thank 

           

            you. 

 

                    My name is Jim Carr.  I'm the Chief 

 

            Business Officer for the National Community 

 

            Reinvestment Coalition. 

 

                    NCRC and our more-than-600-member            

 

            community organizations are committed to 

 

            ensuring fair and equal access to credit, 

 

            capital and banking services for all Americans. 

 

                     On behalf of our CEO, John Taylor, our 

 



            members and the millions of people we serve, I        

 

            thank the Federal Reserve for granting NCRC's 

 

            request to hold public meetings.  How you decide 

 

            Capital One's bid to buy ING Direct will be 

 

            precedent setting. 

 

                     I start my testimony today by sharing a      

 

            quote from Alice in Wonderland.  "If I had a 

 

            world of my own, nothing would be what it is 

 

            because everything would be what it isn't." 

 

                     Like the Mad Hatter, Capital One lives 

 

            in a world of its own.  The bank believes that        

 

            somehow, becoming the fifth-largest bank in the 

 

            United States will decrease rather than increase 

 

            systemic risk.  Such an implausible proposition 

 

            of Capital One indicates that the bank either; 

           

            one, is out of touch with the risks and 

 

            complexities of the business it's involved in; 

 

            or two, truly does not understand systemic risk; 

 

            or three, is simply not taking the Federal 

 

            Reserve's hearings and the American public's          

 

            concerns seriously. 

 

                     The risk and dangers of Capital One's 

 

            business model are patently evident and easily 

 

            understandable.  First, Capital One's monoline 

 

            credit card business model is flawed, unsafe and      

 

            unsustainable for growth. 

 

                     Both from its previous line of 

 



            acquisitions and current plans to buy HSBC's 

 

            credit card business, the public has every 

 

            reason to expect that Capital One will continue       

 

            to bet on a high-risk credit card strategy. 

 

                     Like the predatory and toxic subprime 

 

            mortgages that eventually imploded the financial 

 

            market taking the entire financial system with 

 

            it, Capital One's credit card business is poised      

 

            to become the next subprime crisis in America. 

 

            Its business model is particularly susceptible 

 

            to economic downturns, and just last week, 

 

            Federal Reserve Chairman Ben Bernanke revised 

          

            the Fed's outlook for the economy, stating there 

 

            are significant downside risks. 

 

                     Second, by saying yes to this deal, the 

 

            Federal Reserve will likely enable Capital One 

 

            to account for the 32 percent of all outstanding      

 

            credit card securities in the ABS market. 

 

            That's $1 out of every $3 that arguably will be 

 

            the trigger for the next financial catastrophe. 

 

                     In addition, one-third of Capital One's 

 

            credit card debt is subprime, and more than           

 

            76 percent is securitized.  When those facts are 

 

            added to the reality that Capital One is also 

 

            the largest issuer of subprime auto loans, the 

 

            dangerous and toxic nature of its business is 

 

            clear.                                                

 



                     Third, the mere act of becoming the 

 

            fifth-largest bank will by itself allow Capital 

 

            One to increase risk. 

 

                     It is unreasonable to suggest that the 

 

            failure of the fifth-largest bank would not have      

 

            substantial negative consequences both real and 

 

            perceptual for the broader financial system. 

 

                     Moreover, for a large part of the field 

 

            of systemic risk is the ability of a financial 

        

            firm to grow using high-risk strategy that would 

 

            not be possible absent the perception that the 

 

            firm is too big to fail and therefore will be 

 

            bailed out if it gets in trouble. 

 

                     Let me ask you this.  Does it make           

 

            sense to approve an acquisition that will create 

 

            the fifth-largest too-big-to-fail bank prior to 

 

            putting into place appropriate regulations on 

 

            what creates systemic risk, how to properly 

 

            manage it and how to wind down institutions when      

 

            they get into trouble? 

 

                     Capital One's forward commitment is 

 

            just as unrealistic as the notion that its 

 

            purchase will decrease systemic risk.  As Alice 

 

            said, there's no use trying; one cannot believe       

 

            in impossible things. 

 

                     The suggestion that $180 billion over 

 

            ten years could possibly offset the financial 

 



            costs associated with its potential failure and 

 

            the impact of the financial system is as make         

 

            believe as Wonderland itself. 

 

                     The cost of the last financial crisis 

 

            did not stop at the expenses of TARP.  The real 

 

            cost was over $7 trillion of lost wealth by the 

           

            American public, 10 and a half million 

 

            foreclosures, more than 7 million jobs lost with 

 

            a 9.1 percent unemployment which exists today. 

 

                     Indeed, the American taxpayers are 

 

            still paying for the last financial crisis which      

 

            included bailout funds to Capital One.  The 

 

            American public cannot afford to pay for another 

 

            bailout when, not if, Capital One fails. 

 

                      In closing, making monoline business 

 

            rife with subprime and securitized credit card        

 

            assets, the fifth-largest bank in the United 

 

            States creates the risk that both the American 

 

            people and the American economy cannot afford. 

 

                     Only after Capital One demonstrates it 

 

            is the bank it says it will become should its         

 

            acquisition be considered. 

 

                     Prior to approving Capital One's 

 

            acquisition, that institution should demonstrate 

 

            its commitment to the public by offering diverse 

 

            product lines to diverse market segments.  It         

 

            should also have a strong fair lending record 

 



            and a strong lending record in small business 

 

            lending, not just small business credit cards. 

 

            And it should be a known and respected partner 

          

            in helping to promote strong communities. 

 

            Capital One is not that bank today. 

 

                     I thank you for giving us the 

 

            opportunity to speak today and look forward to 

 

            any questions you might have.                         

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     Should I make you sit in that seat? 

 

                     MS. DORY RAND:  You'd like me to play 

 

            musical chairs? 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Yes. 

 

                     MS. DORY RAND:  This is the testimony 

 

            of Matthew Lee, the Executive Director of  inner 

 

            City Press/Fair Finance Watch. 

 

                     Good morning.  Inner City Press/Fair 

 

            Finance Watch is opposed to Capital One's             

 

            proposal to acquire ING Direct and to its 

 

            related proposal to deploy ING Direct's deposits 

 

            through the subprime credit card operations that 

 

            HSBC acquired along with the notorious predatory 

 

            lender Household International.                       

 

                     You will be hearing from other NCRC 

 

            members about Capital One's disparate lending 

 

            record and the systemic risk and lack of public 

 

            benefit of the Capital One-ING Direct proposal. 

           



            Inner City Press wishes, therefore, to focus on 

 

            what is improperly not before the Federal 

 

            Reserve, militating for new application, new 

 

            hearings including in New York and the dismissal 

 

            of the ING Direct application as incomplete.          

 

                     First, as Inner City Press has argued 

 

            in nine written comments it has submitted to 

 

            date, since Capital One proposes to pay ING 

 

            partially in stock, ING should be applying to 

 

            the Fed to acquire up to 9.8 percent of Capital       

 

            One.  That level of ownership ICP contends 

 

            constitutes control for purposes of the Bank 

 

            Holding Company Act. 

 

                     We've noted significant adverse issues 

 

            in ING's record including, for example, an            

 

            active Department of Justice investigation of 

 

            ING violating sanctions and doing business in 

 

            Sudan and Syria.  The Fed should suspend Capital 

 

            One's incomplete application and require ING to 

 

            apply.                                                

 

                     Various stock analysts have noted that 

 

            Capital One's ING Direct proposal only makes 

 

            sense, if at all, when combined with Capital 

 

            One's proposal to acquire the Household 

               

            International platform from HSBC.  Reviewing 

 

            only the non-subprime half of the related 

 

            transaction is akin to segmentation in 

 



            environmental law, often rejected by courts as 

 

            arbitrary and capricious.                             

 

                     The Fed should suspend Capital One's 

 

            incomplete ING Direct application and require 

 

            Capital One to describe into the records its 

 

            related HSBC/Household International subprime 

 

            proposal.                                             

 

                     Particularly in light of Capital One's 

 

            proposal to significantly grow in the subprime 

 

            space, its September 20th announcement of a 

 

            lending pledge may be a promise to engage in 

 

            increased predatory lending.                          

 

                     Inner City Press, based in the Bronx 

 

            where the large North Fork Bank franchise which 

 

            Capital One acquired and worsened does business, 

 

            has for weeks asked that a hearing be held in 

 

            New York, one of Capital One's major markets.         

 

            For some reason, this was not done. 

 

                     ICP is presenting this testimony 

 

            through a fellow NCRC member in Chicago without 

 

            prejudice to its ongoing demand for a hearing in 

            

            Capital One's major market of New York. 

 

                     Capital One's mortgage lending 

 

            disparities in 2010, the most recent year for 

 

            which data is available, was more disparate in 

 

            New York State than elsewhere.  For example, in       

 

            New York State in 2010, Capital One denied a 

 



            whopping 72.7 percent of applications from 

 

            Latinos and 69.2 percent of applications from 

 

            African Americans, both higher than its 

 

            nationwide numbers.                                   

 

                     Also in New York, Capital One is moving 

 

            to eliminate 135 jobs in Mattituck, Long Island. 

 

                     In the District of Columbia, in 2010, 

 

            Capital One denied 32.4 percent of applications 

 

            from African Americans, versus only 11.7 percent      

 

            of applications from whites, a denial rate 

 

            disparity of 2.77. 

 

                     I'm going to skip some of this.  It's 

 

            in Matthew's written testimony. 

 

                     The Fed has yet to fully respond to          

 

            Inner City Press's Freedom of Information Act 

 

            requests and appeals.  This should take place 

 

            forthwith.  Inner City Press has received a 

 

            Federal Reserve letter of September 12 

            

            responding to Inner City Press's August 19th 

 

            FOIA request by saying that there may be delays. 

 

            In that case, the comment period should also be 

 

            extended. 

 

                     In this context, it is unreasonable to       

 

            expect responses to new FOIA requests, for 

 

            example, for the withheld portions of the 

 

            September 9th response that Capital One was 

 

            supposed to send.  The improperly withheld 

 



            portions should be provided, and for the              

 

            additional reasons previously mentioned, a 

 

            public meeting should be held in New York. 

 

                     It's reported that although the Federal 

 

            Reserve Board officials promised to unveil 

 

            long-awaited key Dodd-Frank rules by the end of       

 

            the summer, the central bank is likely to need 

 

            additional time to do that. 

 

                     The rules which implement Section 165 

 

            of the regulatory reform law cover some of the 

 

            biggest issues in financial services including        

 

            risk-based capital requirements, leverage, 

 

            resolution planning and concentration limits. 

 

                     Given the issues raised including by 

 

            Federal Reserve official Thomas Hoenig and NCRC 

                                                             

            and others about this proposal, it's imperative 

 

            that the Fed either finalize these regulations 

 

            before the public meeting or further extend the 

 

            comment period. 

 

                     Thank you.                                   

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     Liz. 

 

                     MS. LIZ RYAN MURRAY:  Good morning.  My 

 

            name is Liz Ryan Murray.  I'm the Quality 

 

            Director for National People's Action.                

 

                     The NPA network with our co-founder, 

 

            Gale Cincotta, were instrumental in the original 

 



            passage of the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act and 

 

            Community Reinvestment Act.  In the past nearly 

 

            40 years, NPA and our affiliates around the           

 

            country have continued organizing communities 

 

            around issues of bank investment and 

 

            accountability. 

 

                     Thank you for holding these hearings 

 

            and for extending the comment period on the           

 

            proposed acquisition of ING by Capital One.  The 

 

            stakes are high, and we are pleased to see the 

 

            Federal Reserve taking seriously the issues at 

 

            hand. 

                                                                  

                     The economic crisis that we are 

 

            continuing to suffer through has at its roots 

 

            the irresponsible and fraudulent behavior of the 

 

            financial industry.  In part, the lack of 

 

            recovery to date is also affected by that             

 

            behavior.  Too-big-to-fail banks continue their 

 

            risky trading of securities and derivatives, 

 

            continue robo signing mortgage documents and 

 

            even after an historic infusion of taxpayer 

 

            dollars and near-zero percent borrowing continue      

 

            to sit on capital versus getting out affordable 

 

            small business loans, affordable small-dollar 

 

            loans and affordable mortgage loans. 

 

                     It's in this context that Capital One 

 

            is asking to acquire ING, creating another            

 



            too-big-to-fail institution that is 

 

            overleveraged in one business line, heavily 

 

            invested in the securities market and critically 

 

            underinvested in the well-being of mortgage and 

 

            small business credit markets, particularly           

 

            markets that need it most, low and moderate 

 

            incomes and communities of color. 

 

                     NPA asks the Federal Reserve to reject 

 

            the application based on the increased exposure 

             

            to systemic risk, the lack of community 

 

            investment and a demonstrable benefit to the 

 

            public. 

 

                     As has been pointed out in comments and 

 

            other testimony, Capital One is deeply leveraged      

 

            in credit card lending; 75 percent of their 

 

            business is credit cards.  This concentration in 

 

            a single business line is unparalleled in the 

 

            industry and cannot help but make them more 

 

            susceptible to market instability.  If they're        

 

            allowed to inquire ING, the dangers inherent in 

 

            that obviously will grow, as will the risk not 

 

            only to Capital One but to the system. 

 

                     In addition, Capital One claims they 

 

            are not involved in risky lines of business like      

 

            the MBSs and CBOs that brought us to the current 

 

            economic woes.  This is disingenuous. 

 

                     Capital One is a major securitizer of 

 



            highly-volatile credit card debt in an 

 

            asset-backed securities market.                       

 

                     As has been noted, Capital One's 

 

            business is largely concentrated in credit card 

 

            lending.  In these trying economic times, the 

 

            nation's largest and best-capitalized financial 

             

            institutions must be relied upon to extend a 

 

            diverse product line of affordable and 

 

            sustainable credit options to communities, 

 

            especially those communities at risk of 

 

            wholesale disinvestment as the financial crisis       

 

            enters its fourth year. 

 

                     Short-term and relatively high-cost 

 

            credit options such as credit cards are no 

 

            substitute for long-term, low-interest products. 

 

                     In recent years, the bank has reduced        

 

            their small business lending through the SBA 

 

            7(a) loan program nationwide by over 99 percent 

 

            from issuing 5,000 SBA loans per year from 2004 

 

            to 2006 to two SBA loans in 2009 and 13 in 2010. 

 

            This compares to an industry-wide decline of          

 

            about 60 percent. 

 

                     Let me state the obvious.  We are in an 

 

            unemployment crisis.  No institution that has 

 

            choked off so completely their lending to the 

 

            number-one job-creating engine in this country,       

 

            small businesses, can claim to be serving the 

 



            convenience and needs of their community. 

 

                     In terms of mortgage lending, the 

 

            bank's home lending has declined by over 

              

            65 percent.  The bank's refinance lending has 

 

            declined by about 62 percent over this time 

 

            period, significantly more than the national 

 

            decline of 18 percent. 

 

                     Capital One and ING's lack of                

 

            investment in low and moderate-income 

 

            neighborhoods is in stark contrast to Capital 

 

            One's national reach in credit cards and auto 

 

            lending and ING's wide-reaching Internet-based 

 

            consumer deposits.                                    

 

                     This merger is a perfect example of how 

 

            CRA has not kept up with moderate banking 

 

            business policy.  Assessment areas are very 

 

            limited and based on the limited branch 

 

            presence.  Capital One got an outstanding             

 

            rating, but it is impossible under the current 

 

            exam and rating system for that score to mean 

 

            anything. 

 

                     A hold on the acquisition should be put 

 

            in place until such time as a true CRA exam and       

 

            a score can be obtained, one that assesses their 

 

            actual record in all the markets in which they 

 

            do business. 

 

                     I began by laying out the challenges 

            



            that our country and communities are facing due 

 

            to a lack of affordable credit from the big 

 

            banks.  Our economy cannot recover without an 

 

            infusion of capital and credit at the street 

 

            level.                                                

 

                     It's clear that Capital One is not only 

 

            no better than the pack; in many ways, they're 

 

            lagging behind an already-faltering competition. 

 

                     The Federal Reserve should say no to 

 

            this acquisition unless there is a                    

 

            diversification of Capital One's business, a 

 

            true community reinvestment exam under 

 

            modernized rules and verifiable lending 

 

            commitments that come with consequences for not 

 

            reaching community benchmarks.                        

 

                     Finally, I'd like to restate again the 

 

            urgent need for modernization of the CRA exam. 

 

                     Thank you. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     MR. PALMER:  Hello.  My name is Bob          

 

            Palmer.  I'm the Policy Director for Housing 

 

            Action Illinois.  Thank you for allowing me to 

 

            testify today. 

 

                     Housing Action Illinois is a public 

            

            policy advocacy and technical assistance 

 

            organization with over 150 organizational 

 

            members.  Many of our members are HUD-certified 

 



            housing counseling agencies. 

 

                     My testimony is going to focus on two        

 

            issues related to our concerns about Capital One 

 

            acquiring ING Direct:  Mortgage servicing and 

 

            participation in FHA and other 

 

            government-guaranteed loan programs. 

 

                     The experience of HUD-certified housing      

 

            counseling agencies in Illinois has been that 

 

            bigger banks are generally worse for borrowers 

 

            in the case of default.  Some of the problems 

 

            with big banks concern being unable to get 

 

            adequate and timely information regarding what        

 

            resources are available for borrowers in default 

 

            and the status of loan modification applications 

 

            in addition to just the ability to get a 

 

            modification at all. 

 

                     There are currently unresolved legal         

 

            challenges related to Capital One's 

 

            default-servicing procedures.  A recent suit 

 

            filed by the National Community Reinvestment 

 

            Coalition alleges that Capital One failed to 

            

            respond to an application for a Home Affordable 

 

            Modification, HAMP loan modification, from a 

 

            borrower with a loan owned by Freddie Mac which 

 

            resulted in a denied modification request. 

 

                     According to the complaint, Capital One      

 

            let the homeowner in question know in writing 

 



            that it did not participate in HAMP but also 

 

            sent her a HAMP loan modification package. 

 

                      Yesterday, I, myself, received a 

 

            package from the attorney for Capital One saying      

 

            they do participate in HAMP for loans serviced 

 

            by the GSEs so this left me confused. 

 

                     We ask the Federal Reserve Board not to 

 

            act on this application until Capital One can 

 

            resolve these allegations and change its              

 

            default-servicing procedures to ensure a timely 

 

            and accurate response to loan modification 

 

            requests. 

 

                     The letter I got from Capital One 

 

            yesterday also mentions its Capital One               

 

            Modification Program.  The letter states that 

 

            COMP is similar to HAMP in its overall structure 

 

            but more widely available due to several 

 

            underwriting criteria. 

                                                

                     We also ask that the Federal Reserve 

 

            Board evaluate COMP in terms of the type of 

 

            modifications offered and the default rates. 

 

                     Finally, we ask that Capital One adopt 

 

            and enforce best practices for mortgage               

 

            servicing consistent with those recommended by 

 

            the National Consumer Law Center in its 

 

            May 12th, 2011 testimony before the Senate 

 

            Subcommittee on Housing, Transportation and 

 



            Community Development.                                

 

                     In terms of FHA loans, in 2010, Capital 

 

            One implemented a policy that cut off FHA loans 

 

            to borrowers with credit scores between 580 and 

 

            620 even though FHA fully guarantees these 

 

            loans.  Capital One's policies would have a           

 

            disparate impact in African American communities 

 

            in the Chicago region where 54 percent of 

 

            individuals have credit scores of less than 620. 

 

                     Capital One has recently agreed to 

 

            adhere to the FHA requirements by 2012, but I         

 

            remind you that the Federal Reserve is obligated 

 

            to consider a bank's past activity to meet the 

 

            convenience and needs of low-wealth communities 

 

            rather than base its decision on future 

          

            commitments. 

 

                     The letter I got from Capital One 

 

            yesterday also states that requiring them to 

 

            offer FHA-guaranteed loans to people with FICO 

 

            scores between 580 and 620 would, quote,              

 

            unquote, qualify as subprime lending. 

 

                     From a bank's point of view, this means 

 

            that will charge the borrower more money to 

 

            cover what they say is their higher risk. 

 

                     Another definition of subprime lending       

 

            is loans with higher interest rates and less 

 

            favorable terms that make it more likely that 

 



            the borrower will default, which obviously hurts 

 

            the borrower, the bank and the community. 

 

                     We recommend that Capital One commit to      

 

            offer affordable and sustainable mortgage loan 

 

            products for loan applicants with lower credit 

 

            scores. 

 

                     We also recommend that Capital One 

 

            actively participate in all government-               

 

            guaranteed loan programs including FHA, Veterans 

 

            Administration, Rural Housing Service and Small 

 

            Business Administration programs. 

 

                     Thank you. 

           

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     Dory. 

 

                     MS. DORY RAND:  Good morning again.  I 

 

            am Dory Rand, president of Woodstock Institute. 

 

                     Woodstock is a leading non-profit            

 

            research and advocacy organization focusing on 

 

            fair lending, wealth creation and financial 

 

            systems reform.  We work at the local and 

 

            national level on behalf of low-wealth 

 

            communities and communities of color to create a      

 

            financial system in which everybody has the 

 

            opportunity to borrow, save and build wealth to 

 

            create economic security and community 

 

            prosperity. 

 

                     I want to thank you for the opportunity      

 



            to testify today in opposition to the Capital 

 

            One proposal to acquire ING Direct. 

 

                     We oppose this merger on the grounds 

 

            that Capital One has an inadequate past record 

 

            of serving the community needs and on the             

 

            grounds that the combined institution as the 

 

            fifth-largest bank by deposits with a vulnerable 

 

            portfolio heavily concentrated in credit cards 

 

            would pose significant systemic risk to the 

                                                                   

            financial system. 

 

                     Finally, this application demonstrates 

 

            the inadequacy of current regulatory systems for 

 

            ensuring that large financial institutions with 

 

            limited branch networks are meeting the lending       

 

            and financial services needs of low-wealth 

 

            communities. 

 

                     I know the Federal Reserve considers 

 

            many factors in evaluating these kinds of 

 

            applications.  I'm going to focus on the failure      

 

            to meet community needs.  I was going to share 

 

            two examples, but Bob dealt with one of them 

 

            about Capital One's failure to make FHA loans to 

 

            people with 580 to 620 credit scores even though 

 

            fully guaranteed by FHA.                              

 

                     I'd just like to point out that the 

 

            bank's last-minute pledge to make those loans to 

 

            qualified borrowers is not sufficient to 

 



            demonstrate a past record of meeting community 

 

            needs.                                                

 

                     Similarly, Capital One did not continue 

 

            the community reinvestment commitments that were 

 

            made by Chevy Chase Bank which Capital One 

 

            acquired in 2009. 

                                                                  

                     Under a settlement reached with the 

 

            U.S. Department of Justice in 1994 for failure 

 

            to offer services in communities of color, Chevy 

 

            Chase had agreed to take all reasonable steps to 

 

            obtain a market share of mortgage loans in            

 

            predominantly African American communities that 

 

            is comparable to its market share in white 

 

            communities, but according to an analysis by 

 

            NCRC, Capital One does not achieve comparable 

 

            market share in many of its markets including         

 

            the Washington, D.C. metro area. 

 

                     On the systemic risk issue, we believe 

 

            that Capital One's heavy concentration in credit 

 

            cards and the size of the combined institution 

 

            will cause a significant systemic risk.               

 

                     According to analysis by NCRC, Capital 

 

            One derives 75 percent of its income from credit 

 

            cards, a vulnerable income source during 

 

            economic downturns when revolving credit lines 

 

            shrink and charge-offs increase.                      

 

                     No other bank in the top five relies on 

 



            any one product for more than 32 percent of its 

 

            income. 

 

                     Finally, Capital One and ING Direct 

                                                                   

            currently have minimal CRA obligations as a 

 

            result of their limited branch presence.  Both 

 

            banks carry out substantial portions of their 

 

            business throughout the country but have a 

 

            minimal branch network.                               

 

                     Capital One has credit card customers 

 

            in Illinois, and ING Direct receives deposits 

 

            from Illinois customers, but neither bank 

 

            designates the Chicago region or Illinois as an 

 

            assessment area.                                      

 

                     We urge the Board to adopt meaningful 

 

            modernization of the CRA rules including changes 

 

            to rules designating assessment areas before 

 

            considering approval of this or any application 

 

            that would allow financial institutions to            

 

            expand without clear community reinvestment 

 

            obligations. 

 

                     I would mention that Sandy and Alicia's 

 

            questions to Mr. Finneran earlier are right on 

 

            point and that they need much better answers          

 

            including specificity on geography and 

 

            enforceability of those last-minute commitments. 

 

                     If the Federal Reserve Board chooses to 

 

            move forward with this application over our 

                                                                 



            opposition and the opposition of our colleagues, 

 

            we respectfully request that it grant only 

 

            conditional approval and require Capital One to 

 

            address these concerns. 

 

                     Specifically, we believe that the Board      

 

            should condition approval of the application on 

 

            adoption of CRA assessment areas and reporting 

 

            obligations where the combined financial 

 

            institution will have a significant market 

 

            presence.  And there is precedent for doing           

 

            this.  For example, in 2003, the OCC required 

 

            Charles Schwab Bank to have obligations and 

 

            report on commitments beyond its CRA assessment 

 

            area in a similar situation. 

 

                     The application of Capital One to            

 

            acquire ING Direct proposes to create a similar 

 

            financial institution with a national presence 

 

            with both online deposits and credit cards but 

 

            minimal branch presence and CRA commitments so 

 

            it's appropriate to require CRA obligations with      

 

            firm reporting requirements to the Fed. 

 

                     Thank you again. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very 

 

            much. 

                                                                

                     MR. TED WYSOCKI:  Good morning.  I'm 

 

            Ted Wysocki, president and CEO of the Local 

 

            Economic and Employment Development Council, 

 



            LEED Council, here in Chicago, and I'm also the 

 

            immediate past chairman of the National               

 

            Community Reinvestment Coalition. 

 

                     I'm testifying this morning in 

 

            opposition to Capital One's proposed acquisition 

 

            of ING Direct.  I do not see sufficient public 

 

            benefit of this acquisition that merits or            

 

            deserves Federal Reserve approval. 

 

                     LEED Council is a non-profit 

 

            organization that for more than 29 years has 

 

            promoted economic and workforce development here 

 

            in Chicago.  We help businesses grow, we train        

 

            people for jobs, and we provide a link between 

 

            business, the community and government to 

 

            improve our local economy. 

 

                     Capital One has done nothing here in 

 

            Chicago and it's proposing to do nothing to           

 

            improve our local economy. 

 

                     As president and CEO of the Chicago 

 

            Association of Neighborhood Development 

 

            Organizations, I served in the late 1990s as a 

                                                                   

            co-convener of the Federal Reserve Bank of 

 

            Chicago's Small Enterprise Capital Access 

 

            Partnership.  Over a decade later, access to 

 

            capital for small enterprises is not only worse; 

 

            it is depressing.                                     

 

                     Capital One is not providing the access 

 



            to the capital that is necessary to rebuild our 

 

            local economies in these challenges times. 

 

            Capital One has shrunk its lending to small 

 

            businesses with revenues of less than                 

 

            $1 million.  It has replaced traditional 

 

            low-interest small business loans with 

 

            high-priced small business credit cards. 

 

                     The small business community does not 

 

            need gimmicks and reward points.  It needs more       

 

            loans with better lending terms. 

 

                     In 2009, Capital One, N.A. did not make 

 

            any non-credit card small business loans in 

 

            low-income tracts in the Chicago metropolitan 

 

            area.  It only made a total of 92 non-credit          

 

            card loans in our entire metro area.  In 

 

            contrast, all banks as a group issued 

 

            2.2 percent of their loans in low-income tracts 

 

            here. 

                                                           

                     In 2009, Capital One made only two, two 

 

            non-credit card loans to Chicago smallest 

 

            businesses, under $1 million in revenue.  This 

 

            was only 2 percent of all of Capital One's loans 

 

            here.  In contrast, all banks as a group issued       

 

            26 percent of their loans to these small Chicago 

 

            businesses. 

 

                     Outside of the Chicago metro area, 

 

            Capital One only made nine small business loans 

 



            in other parts of Illinois.                           

 

                     When it comes to veterans, women and 

 

            minorities, they do not need apply.  We're 

 

            talking about Capital None.  SBA 7(a) lending is 

 

            a life line for women, veterans, minorities and 

 

            low-income areas.  Capital One's SBA 7(a)             

 

            lending plummeted from 228 million nationwide in 

 

            2006 to an embarrassing $551,000 in 2010. 

 

                     I served on the Federal Reserve Board's 

 

            Consumer Advisory Council from 1996 through 1998 

 

            serving as Vice Chair of the Bank Regulation          

 

            Committee in 1998.  I am appalled at the lack of 

 

            true CRA enforcement when it comes to Capital 

 

            One. 

 

                     Capital One has exploited regulatory 

         

            loopholes to exclude its credit card lending 

 

            from its last CRA exam by the Federal Reserve, 

 

            shielding their main line of business from 

 

            accountability to the public's needs and 

 

            convenience.                                          

 

                     In addition to inadequate geographical 

 

            coverage, previous CRA exams cannot be relied 

 

            upon to assess whether fair lending violations 

 

            occurred or whether Capital One engaged in 

 

            unfair, deceptive or unsafe lending practices.        

 

                     The Federal Reserve's previous exam of 

 

            Capital One's credit card bank astonishingly did 

 



            not even assess the terms and conditions of 

 

            their credit card lending although serious 

 

            questions had been raised.                            

 

                     Why should the American public expect 

 

            anything better from Capital One in the future? 

 

                     This litany of non-CRA enforcement and 

 

            compliance provides no assurance that Capital 

 

            One's $180 million promise for community              

 

            development is anything more than a numbers game 

 

            that will go uncounted by its regulators. 

 

                     To plagiarize Capital One's latest 

 

            commercials, we aspire to higher community 

                                                

            benefits. 

 

                     In closing, I started my professional 

 

            community development career 37 years ago in 

 

            here in Chicago working for the mother of CRA, 

 

            Gale Cincotta.  Her life-long work was dedicated      

 

            to getting the private sector to come into our 

 

            neighborhoods and invest with us.  I can assure 

 

            you that Gale would be very clear hat the 

 

            Federal Reserve's next move should be:  Block 

 

            this bid.                                             

 

                     Thank you. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     I do have a question for the panel, and 

 

            I'll check with my colleagues to see if they 

 

            have questions.                                       

 



                     So one of the things that, you know, we 

 

            heard last week at the hearing in Washington and 

 

            I anticipate will be likewise today is that 

 

            these hearings are very much kind of a tale of 

 

            two cities so we have panels that come up such        

 

            as yourselves that have very strong feelings 

 

            about, you know, the reasons to deny this 

 

            application, and then probably what we'll find 

 

            that will follow is a panel of folks who feel 

          

            very strongly that the bank has done a very good 

 

            job in the same communities that you talk about. 

 

                    I know in Washington, we heard from 

 

            housing groups, small businesses, others, all 

 

            the kinds of products that you've mentioned           

 

            today where they've said that Capital One has 

 

            been very helpful and done a very good job in 

 

            terms of meeting the needs of their communities. 

 

                     I'm just wondering, how do we reconcile 

 

            this?  I mean, do you have any thoughts on that?      

 

            Anybody?  I'm opening that to anybody on the 

 

            panel.  I see Jim smiling so I think he does. 

 

                     MR. CARR:  Sandy, I appreciate the 

 

            question because if you look at the agenda, it 

 

            looks really powerful going in both directions.       

 

                     I think what we would say is look at 

 

            the facts, not the opinions.  So it's very easy 

 

            for a community organization that received a 

 



            modest grant of even as little as 25,000 to say 

 

            this is a great partner.  And for that                

 

            organization, they probably are a phenomenal 

 

            partner.  $25,000 is not an insignificant amount 

 

            of money for a non-profit, even 50,000, but that 

 

            doesn't in any way compensate for the systemic 

                                                  

            risk that is presented to the financial system 

 

            of an institution that has a business model that 

 

            is heading to failure. 

 

                     And in fact, many of the subprime 

 

            mortgage institutions that literally were             

 

            pursuing the most reckless, outrageous of 

 

            subprime mortgage practices were nevertheless 

 

            supporting non-profit organizations all across 

 

            the country, but it didn't add up. 

 

                     So what I would say that the Federal         

 

            Reserve Bates really needs to do is look at the 

 

            facts and the data and the statistics, and those 

 

            are so overwhelmingly in the favor of this is 

 

            not a good idea, that Capital One first must 

 

            diversify its business lines, it must diversify       

 

            its sources of income, it must serve communities 

 

            in a way in which it can be measured in an 

 

            aggregate which that makes sense and that the 

 

            benefits of the merger actually do step up to 

 

            the table and compensate for the systemic risks       

 

            that they present.  And that is a very, very 

 



            high bar to be presented, and I don't think that 

 

            we've heard any institution present any data or 

 

            any statistics that suggest that that test has 

           

            been met. 

 

                     Thank you. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Anybody else? 

 

            Dory? 

 

                     MS. DORY RAND:  I agree, it's a great        

 

            question.  I agree with Jim's response, and I 

 

            would add, Sandy, I read a published statement 

 

            of yours from a few years ago on these issues, 

 

            and you talked about the fact that this analysis 

 

            is supposed to be backward looking; do they have      

 

            a past record of meeting community needs not 

 

            just in certain areas where they've given grants 

 

            and they have good productive relationships, but 

 

            overall, do they have a past record of 

 

            adequately meeting community needs.                   

 

                     And I agree with Jim, when you look at 

 

            the facts and you look at the numbers, the 

 

            answer is no. 

 

                     Then when you look at these 

 

            last-minute, forward-looking commitments that         

 

            they've made, that's a separate issue that we 

 

            suggest it should only be considered if you're 

 

            going to go ahead and approve it anyway, then 

 

            make those commitments conditions of approval, 

 



            but don't let that influence your opinion as to 

 

            whether they have a past adequate record of 

 

            meeting the community needs. 

 

                     MR. WYSOCKI:  Sandy, my comment would 

 

            be -- and I think you see this in the packages        

 

            of defense that we've received from Capital 

 

            One -- they're saying, well, the law is narrow, 

 

            you've got to judge us by this narrow law. 

 

                     I would contest to you, as the Federal 

 

            Reserve Board, you're in a sore moment here in a      

 

            post Dodd-Frank era. 

 

                     Capital One -- and I'm very glad you 

 

            did this hearing in Chicago, with all due 

 

            respect to Matt Lee from New York who wants one, 

 

            but here in Chicago, Capital One is deciding to       

 

            invest in TV advertising.  They're marketing 

 

            their products here in the Chicago market.  My 

 

            question is if they're investing in TV 

 

            advertising, why aren't they investing in 

 

            Chicago's communities.                                

 

                     They themselves are declaring the 

 

            market, and as we move forward, you need to be 

 

            asking them questions, what are they going to do 

 

            which what clearly is a national bank.  That's 

 

            what they want to be, the fifth largest in the 

 

            country, then they ought to be stepping up and 

 

            saying how they're serving all low and 

 



            moderate-income communities and all small 

 

            businesses in this country and how they're            

 

            rebuilding our economy. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you. 

 

                     Questions? 

 

                     MS. THRO:  I actually have a comment on 

 

            Matthew Lee's testimony and a question for you,       

 

            Mr. Carr. 

 

                     With respect to Matthew's testimony, he 

 

            discussed that ING should apply to acquire 

 

            control of Capital One because it's acquiring a 

 

            9.9 percent voting interest in Capital One as a       

 

            consequence of this transaction. 

 

                     I should note for the public record 

 

            that ING has actually requested a non-control 

 

            determination with respect to its acquisition of 

 

            an interest in Capital One.                           

 

                     And Mr. Lee and others certainly can 

 

            file with us for the public portion of that 

 

            request for a non-control determination.  That 

 

            was filed right around the same time this 

          

            application was filed by Capital One to acquire 

 

            ING. 

 

                     And for you, Mr. Carr, you suggested 

 

            that we should not allow the transaction without 

 

            having some system of risk regulations in place,      

 

            that perhaps there should be further development 

 



            on that front first.  Would you elaborate on 

 

            that? 

 

                      MR. JAMES CARR:  Yes.  I was simply 

 

            saying that until we have a full post Dodd-Frank      

 

            systemic risk infrastructure in place including 

 

            the wind-down procedures that are very clear in 

 

            how we're going to wind down institutions, et 

 

            cetera, that we not move forward with this 

 

            acquisition.                                          

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  One other thing 

 

            just for the record.  I would mention, Ted, you 

 

            referred to Capital One's CRA exams, and I'm not 

 

            sure how far back you were going, but they 

 

            actually -- their supervisor is the OCC, not the      

 

            Federal Reserve. 

 

                     MR. TED WYSOCKI:  I thought there was 

 

            a -- 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  No.  They 

                                                                  

            switched it.  I don't know how far back you were 

 

            going, what years, on those exams. 

 

                     Okay.  Thank you very much to this 

 

            panel.  We'll bring the next panel forward. 

 

                     Welcome to this panel.  Just a few           

 

            housekeeping things, please.  Make sure you 

 

            speak directly into a microphone so that court 

 

            reporters can record this. 

 

                      Please keep an eye on the timer, the 

 



            timekeeper.  You have five minutes, and a yellow      

 

            light will show you that you have one minute 

 

            left, and then you will see the red light and 

 

            also hear the beep when your time is up.  And 

 

            please begin your statement by stating your name 

 

            and your affiliation.                                 

 

                     And with that, we can get started with 

 

            our first speaker, please, Mr. Barousse. 

 

                     MR. GERARD BAROUSSE:  I'm Gerry 

 

            Barousse.  I'm the Chairman of the Bayou 

 

            District Foundation in New Orleans.                   

 

                     The Bayou District Foundation was 

 

            created in the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina to 

 

            help facilitate the redevelopment of the former 

 

            St. Bernard Public Housing Complex and 

            

            surrounding neighborhood.  That area was 

 

            inundated with 10 feet of water for up to three 

 

            weeks, and our overall model is to implement a 

 

            holistic approach to redevelopment which 

 

            includes mixed-income housing, education and          

 

            recreation, a total of 1,325 residential units 

 

            which are one-third public housing, one-third 

 

            low-income and one-third market rate together 

 

            with three schools integrated within the 

 

            community as well as recreation and commercial        

 

            facilities. 

 

                     Capital One has partnered with the 

 



            Bayou District Foundation over the last year and 

 

            is contributing something over $300,000 to 

 

            support seven programs within the community:  A       

 

            financial literacy program which is assisting in 

 

            reducing debt and providing independence, 

 

            individual financial independence for our 

 

            low-income residents. 

 

                     Secondarily, they are taking that and        

 

            expanding that with the promotion of the 

 

            Neighborhood Development Foundation and creating 

 

            a home buyer training program which is allowing 

 

            our low-income residents to move from public 

           

            housing to low-income residences, ultimately 

 

            giving them an opportunity to either be market 

 

            rate residents or homeowners. 

 

                     Thirdly, we're working with Capital One 

 

            to provide a workforce development program in a       

 

            number of areas, but one that has already been 

 

            implemented and is very effective is we've had 

 

            12 residents that have gone through a program 

 

            which is a childhood education development 

 

            program which has allowed them to move into the       

 

            early education arena for formerly public 

 

            housing residents -- still public housing 

 

            residents but working their way out of poverty 

 

            through that program. 

 

                     Additionally, we just implemented an         

 



            after-school program with the YMCA in which 

 

            Capital One is supporting over the course of the 

 

            next year 50 students in after-school programs 

 

            so that we have a safe place for our low-income 

 

            residents as they arrive home on the bus to be        

 

            assisted with homework or recreational programs 

 

            and life skills. 

 

                     We also have just recently been 

 

            provided funding through Capital One to 

           

            implement a community garden which is adjacent 

 

            to our schools to be developed and will be a 

 

            part of healthy lifestyles training as well as 

 

            some business models that we will be working 

 

            with community residents to support.                  

 

                     Finally, our early education program 

 

            which we recognize is critical to the ultimate 

 

            success of both the young children and the 

 

            families, we're working with a national group, 

 

            Educare.  Capital One is providing operating          

 

            funding as we get this facility built next year 

 

            and also supporting us through the capital 

 

            program in the development of our facility which 

 

            is a $10 million juvenile facility.  They will 

 

            provide more tax credit funding in support of         

 

            that as well as bridge loan financing. 

 

                     Capital One has worked with us as 

 

            partners both as funders as well as volunteers. 

 



            They've had numerous of their individual 

 

            employees that have been a part of financial          

 

            literacy delivery as well as workforce training 

 

            and other programs and will continue to be 

 

            actively involved with us. 

 

                     The overall mission of my district 

         

            foundation is to design and implement this 

 

            innovative community redevelopment focused on 

 

            education.  It's one that enables children and 

 

            families to escape the cycle of poverty, build a 

 

            thriving community health and live productive,        

 

            healthy and fulfilling lives. 

 

                     We are very fortunate to have Capital 

 

            One as a dedicated partner in both the Gentilly 

 

            community in which we work as well as the city 

 

            as a whole, and we fully support this                 

 

            acquisition. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very 

 

            much. 

 

                     MS. J.D. HOYE:  Good morning.  I'm J.D. 

 

            Joye, president of the National Academy               

 

            Foundation, a non-profit organization whose 

 

            mission is to prepare underserved high school 

 

            students for college and careers. 

 

                     I'm honored to be here to support 

 

            Capital One, a valued corporation whose               

 

            commitment to families and communities has 

 



            driven both its business model and its 

 

            philanthropy. 

 

                     Capital One understands the value of a 

 

            high-quality education.  When a community 

 

            provides high-quality education experiences for 

 

            its young people, success rates for students are 

 

            higher.  The whole community benefits from 

 

            having young people who are prepared to thrive        

 

            in college, work and in life. 

 

                     Further, Capital One understands that 

 

            work-based learning experiences provide students 

 

            out of the classroom and into their communities 

 

            not only benefits but transforms the communities      

 

            within which they live. 

 

                     The National Academy Foundation is a 

 

            leader in providing these experiences through 

 

            its network of career academies.  Career 

 

            academies are one of the most established,            

 

            prevalent and well-researched high school reform 

 

            approaches.  This model is time tested. 

 

                     The career academy movement began 40 

 

            years ago in Philadelphia, and the National 

 

            Academy Foundation has been refining its model        

 

            for nearly 30 years. 

 

                     There are estimated to be between 2,500 

 

            and 4,000 career academies across the country 

 

            serving approximately one million public 

           



            education high school students.  Nearly 500 of 

 

            these academies are part of the National Academy 

 

            Foundation's network reaching nearly 50,000 

 

            students each year in 40 states, the District of 

 

            Columbia and the Virgin Islands.                      

 

                     Approximately 70 percent of NAF 

 

            students are minority.  34 percent are black, 

 

            26 percent Hispanic, 10 percent Asian Pacific 

 

            Islander.  The majority of our students are from 

 

            low-income families as measured by free and           

 

            reduced-lunch eligibility. 

 

                     In 2010, data comparison of students in 

 

            five districts demonstrated that NAF is serving 

 

            higher percentages of low-income students than 

 

            students in the district as a whole and high          

 

            percentages of students for whom English is a 

 

            second language.  NAF's national graduation rate 

 

            of 90 percent testifies to the effectiveness of 

 

            this effort. 

 

                     One of the most distinctive elements of      

 

            our model is the relationship with local 

 

            communities.  Teachers and academy directors 

 

            work with an advisory board made up of local 

 

            businesses, higher education and community 

          

            leaders.  Employees of more than 2,500 companies 

 

            serve on advisory boards, and advisory board 

 

            members provide students with paid internships 

 



            and opportunities for job shadowing, mentoring, 

 

            act as role models and help to enhance                

 

            career-sustaining curriculum and providing their 

 

            knowledge of the industry with which they work. 

 

                     Their constant involvement provides a 

 

            stable base of support that allows the academies 

 

            to endure and flourish even when leadership at        

 

            the school and district level changes. 

 

                     Capital One has supported NAF's mission 

 

            from the top down.  Their commitment to NAF is 

 

            exemplified by Richard Fairbank, founder, 

 

            Chairman and CEO who was honored in 2011 at our       

 

            annual benefit and whose support of community 

 

            development and education initiatives has 

 

            inspired employees at all levels of their 

 

            company to become involved and engaged in NAF 

 

            academies.                                            

 

                     Capital One volunteers have been 

 

            involved in local NAF academies as well as our 

 

            National Leadership Summit and professional 

 

            staff development where representatives share 

       

            the company's perspective on corporate community 

 

            partnership with educators in attendance. 

 

                     NAF also benefits from the leadership 

 

            of Sanjiv Yajnik, President of Financial 

 

            Services, who serves on our board of directors        

 

            and lends his expertise to the governance and 

 



            strategic planning of the organization. 

 

                     Capital One's support helped us codify 

 

            and assess student internship experience through 

 

            the development of an internship goal standard        

 

            and assessment tools.  These initiatives not 

 

            only helped NAF to enhance our students' 

 

            work-based learning experiences but also 

 

            contributed new tools to the field of education 

 

            and the career academies.                             

 

                     In fact, NAF has been approved by 

 

            current and new partners interested in learning 

 

            from our experience as well as collaborating to 

 

            further enhance programming.  San Francisco 

 

            Unified School District, Center For Cities and        

 

            Schools at UC Berkley and the Career Academy 

 

            Support Network all are interested in piloting 

 

            this internship model. 

 

                     Capital One and other academy programs 

           

            additionally participate in a work-based 

 

            learning task force in California with 

 

            ConnectEd, with California Career College West 

 

            End and Long Beach, Tulare County Office of 

 

            Education and the Contra Costa Economic               

 

            Partnership. 

 

                     Capital One's recent support also 

 

            focused on piloting projects in collaboration 

 

            that brings industry focus to students in need 

 



            of choosing and making sure that their financial      

 

            sufficiency going forward is assured. 

 

                     We are in our third year of our 

 

            partnership with Capital One, and they continue 

 

            to support us at every level.  In fact, in 

 

            partnering with ING Direct Bank in their              

 

            acquisition bid, we are happy to say that ING 

 

            actually has one of our first graduates from 

 

            John Dooling High School in 1986 who is now 

 

            working for ING and has stated over and over 

 

            that the career experience and the partnership        

 

            with industry made a difference in her life. 

 

                     Thank you. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     MR. KEN INADOMI:  My name is Ken 

 

            Inadomi, and I am the Executive Director of the 

 

            New York Mortgage Coalition, a non-profit 

 

            housing organization based in New York City. 

 

                     I would like to take this opportunity 

 

            to express strong support for Capital One's           

 

            pending acquisition of ING Direct. 

 

                     As a long-standing partner of the New 

 

            York Mortgage Coalition, Capital One has 

 

            demonstrated a clear and ongoing commitment to 

 

            sustaining affordable housing and homeownership.      

 

                     The New York Mortgage Coalition is a 

 

            unique collaboration of 13 financial 

 



            institutions and 11 non-profit housing agencies 

 

            working together to help low and moderate-income 

 

            families in the greater New York market to            

 

            become first-time homeowners. 

 

                     Before receiving a loan approval 

 

            through the Mortgage Coalition, each potential 

 

            home buyer is first required to complete 8 to 12 

 

            hours of rigorous homeownership education             

 

            through one of our counseling agencies, a 

 

            requirement that has produced a foreclosure rate 

 

            of less than 1 percent. 

 

                     Over the years, Capital One has been a 

                                                                    

            staunch proponent of prepurchase counseling and 

 

            a stalwart partner in our lending program. 

 

                     After the acquisition of North Fork 

 

            Bank, Capital One channeled their reportable 

 

            lending activity in New York through the              

 

            Mortgage Coalition, and this participation 

 

            developed into the centerpiece for their 

 

            extensive commitment to community development. 

 

                     In recent years, Capital One has 

 

            consistently ranked among our top five lenders        

 

            in loan production. 

 

                     A major factor behind Capital One's 

 

            loan success lies in their commitment to 

 

            developing a portfolio of loan products that's 

 

            tailored to the evolving needs of the                 

 



            low-to-moderate-income community. 

 

                     Capital One's current portfolio product 

 

            provides a grant of up to $6,000 for New York 

 

            residents whose incomes are 80 percent of area 

 

            median income and requires no mortgage                

 

            insurance.  It should be further noted that none 

 

            of the Mortgage Coalition's current lenders 

 

            offers this much-needed product, which allows us 

 

            to close loans that otherwise might not pass the 

         

            unilateral restrictions of the secondary market. 

 

                     Again, Capital One succeeds because 

 

            they are committed to understanding customer 

 

            needs and in turn providing the lending products 

 

            and services to meet those needs.                     

 

                     Over the years, the Mortgage Coalition 

 

            has also benefited greatly from the outstanding 

 

            leadership of Capital One's CRA officers who 

 

            have served on our Board of Directors. 

 

            Recently, Mariadele Priest, Capital One's Vice        

 

            President of Affordable Housing and Community 

 

            Development, concluded three years of 

 

            distinguished service as the Mortgage 

 

            Coalition's board president.  During her term, 

 

            Ms. Priest was instrumental in expanding the          

 

            breadth and impact of our work including 

 

            identifying the opportunity to replicate a 

 

            version of the Mortgage Coalition in the Dallas 

 



            market. 

 

                     We look forward to further                   

 

            collaboration with Capital One. 

 

                     Thank you for this opportunity and your 

 

            consideration. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

            

                     MS. TRACEY JETER:  Good morning, and 

 

            thank you to the Panel and the members here. 

 

            Thank you for this opportunity to speak. 

 

                     My name is Tracey Jeter, and I'm 

 

            president and CEO of the Virginia Minority            

 

            Supplier Development Council.  I am speaking in 

 

            support of the Capital One and ING Direct 

 

            proposal. 

 

                     The Virginia Minority Supplier 

 

            Development Council is a non-profit 501(c)(3)         

 

            organization of which Capital One and its 

 

            representatives are members and hold office on 

 

            its Board of Directors. 

 

                     Capital One has been and remains a 

 

            long-time corporate supporter of the Virginia         

 

            Minority Supplier Development Council.  Our 

 

            organization supports more than 100 corporate 

 

            members and nearly 400 certified suppliers 

 

            across the Virginia region. 

 

                     Our corporate mission is to facilitate       

 

            business relationships with our corporate 

 



            members and minority business enterprises across 

 

            Virginia that include Asian American, Hispanic, 

 

            Latino and Native American and African American 

                                                                  

            companies. 

 

                     Since the initiation of my term in 

 

            2004, Capital One and its team of procurement 

 

            professionals have been establishing key 

 

            initiatives in the area of supplier development       

 

            with advocacy partners like mine for nearly a 

 

            decade.  Astyra, Leading Edge, Brain Corp are 

 

            companies, just to name a few, that they have 

 

            partnered with over this decade. 

 

                     They have successfully initiated             

 

            protégé executive coaching opportunities for 

 

            chief executive officers in minority businesses 

 

            in the Virginia market. 

 

                     While developing relationships with a 

 

            host minority businesses across industries,           

 

            Capital One has been able to stimulate -- assist 

 

            in stimulating Virginia's economy by growing 

 

            sustainable relationships through these 

 

            partnerships. 

 

                     Minority businesses that have a chance       

 

            to partner and have access to and the awarding 

 

            of long-term contracts employ other minorities 

 

            and derive significant opportunity to reinvest 

 

            in the communities that they all live and work 

                                                              



            in. 

 

                     Through their supplier development 

 

            efforts, Capital One has presented educational 

 

            programs for certified minority suppliers at 

 

            their McLean, Virginia location and has               

 

            collaborated with the VMSD in support of 

 

            executive education and management courses 

 

            across the country, some of which are right here 

 

            in Chicago. 

 

                    These are suppliers who seek to              

 

            continue to expand their core business and to 

 

            grow capacity, again, increasing the opportunity 

 

            for job creation and reinvestment in the 

 

            communities in which they live and work. 

 

                     Capital One has representatives at the       

 

            Virginia Minority Supplier Development Council 

 

            like Jerry Miller and Erica Billie that serve on 

 

            our Board of Directors and on special committees 

 

            that seek to assist the organization in 

 

            maintaining its viability and its mission in our      

 

            marketplace. 

 

                     Capital One has won numerous awards at 

 

            the highest levels for supplier diversity 

 

            development as the Soaring Eagle for Corporation 

 

            of the Year and in the private sectors for two 

 

            years in the last decade.  They also captured 

 

            the Raising the Bar Award for Innovation 

 



            year-over-year progress related to their work in 

 

            the supplier diversity arena.  These awards           

 

            allow them entry for nomination at the national 

 

            level amongst Fortune 500 companies across the 

 

            country. 

 

                     Erica Billie, a Capital One associate, 

 

            has also won the Advocate of the Year Award.          

 

            This is the Council's prestigious award 

 

            nominated and voted on by minority businesses 

 

            across the community.  And for several years, 

 

            they have won the Lasting Impression Award. 

 

                     In the last 18 to 24 months, Capital         

 

            One has expanded its Virginia presence across 

 

            the supplier diversity development spectrum by 

 

            upping its engagement with the National Minority 

 

            Supplier Development Council and other 

 

            affiliated councils including the CNO.                

 

                     It has increased its investment to 

 

            engage in larger minority businesses through our 

 

            national flagship Corporate Plus Program, a 

 

            program that sponsors and mentors larger MSDs 

                                                                

            for growth and increasing capacity. 

 

                     And Capital One continues to be a major 

 

            financial contributor to our mission to create 

 

            wealth in the communities of the disadvantaged 

 

            and underserved across Virginia.                      

 

                     I am in support of the proposed 

 



            business partnership for Capital One and ING 

 

            Direct, USA. 

 

                     I thank you for the opportunity to 

 

            support this effort today, and I applaud Capital      

 

            One for being at the forefront of innovation as 

 

            it relates to minority businesses and private 

 

            solutions for businesses across America. 

 

                     Thank you. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you.             

 

                     MR. GARY LINDNER:  Good morning.  My 

 

            name is Gary Lindner.  I'm the president and CEO 

 

            of PeopleFund in Austin, Texas. 

 

                     I appreciate the opportunity from the 

 

            Federal Reserve to be able to present today, and      

 

            I want to speak to you from three separate 

 

            vantage points. 

 

                     As the president and CEO of PeopleFund, 

 

            we're a 501(c)(3) non-profit.  We're certified 

          

            by Treasury which means as well as a financial 

 

            institution, we're also an SBA microlending 

 

            intermediary.  Our mission is small business 

 

            loans to underserved small businesses and 

 

            micro-entrepreneurs predominantly in                  

 

            low-to-moderate income areas. 

 

                     From 2004 to 2010, I was the Chief 

 

            Operating Office for Accion, Texas, also a CDFI 

 

            and SBA microlending intermediary.  During my 

 



            tenure, we became the largest microlender in the      

 

            United States.  I was personally responsible for 

 

            more than 5,500 loans during that time that were 

 

            averaging $10,000.  86 percent of those loans 

 

            went to minority and women-owned businesses. 

 

                     For the past two years, I've been the        

 

            Board Chair of the Association of Economic 

 

            Opportunity, a national not-for-profit trade 

 

            organization representing the interests of 

 

            underserved entrepreneurs across the United 

 

            States.  AEO has more than 450 members that           

 

            provide capital and other services to 

 

            underserved entrepreneurs in every state and 

 

            Washington D.C. and Puerto Rico. 

 

                     In your evaluation of Capital One's 

                                                        

            application to acquire ING, I want to share my 

 

            personal and professional experience while 

 

            serving in the three roles I described above. 

 

                     Capital One has been a consistent 

 

            leader in providing low-cost capital to CDFIs         

 

            with the express purpose of businesses to small 

 

            business entrepreneurs in underserved markets, 

 

            particularly those arising in low-to-moderate 

 

            income areas, census tracts and empowerment 

 

            zones.                                               

 

                     As the demand for our services 

 

            increased, Capital One was the first bank to 

 



            step forward with additional low-cost capital 

 

            for lending purposes. 

 

                     Capital One's Second Look Program is an      

 

            exemplary initiative not typically found in a 

 

            large financial institution.  Essentially, when 

 

            a small business does not meet traditional 

 

            banking and underwriting criteria, for example, 

 

            a start-up of less than two years in business,        

 

            Capital One refers them to CDFIs for a second 

 

            look for a loan.  This is an example of the 

 

            relationship between Capital One and CDFIs that 

 

            directly benefit small business owners, and it 

                                                        

            gets results. 

 

                     Capital One routinely provides capital 

 

            in the form grants or programs and activities 

 

            that directly boost micro and small business in 

 

            underserved markets.  The examples include            

 

            individual development accounts, IDAs, that 

 

            financially incentivize savings, financial 

 

            literacy training, seed capital for marked 

 

            expansion, junior entrepreneur training for 

 

            students from high-poverty areas, national            

 

            conference scholarships and training, seminars 

 

            for micro-enterprise development organizations 

 

            and AEO National Conference sponsorship. 

 

                     Worthy of special mention is the 

 

            genuine consistent support of Capital One's           

 



            convenient and knowledgeable banking team with 

 

            whom I've directly worked with for the past 

 

            seven years.  Jordana Barton, Vice President of 

 

            Community Development Banking in Austin and 

 

            San Antonio, provides national support for CDFIs      

 

            in underserved markets. 

 

                     Laurie Bignow, Senior VP and Director 

 

            of Community Development Banking for Texas and 

 

            Louisiana is routinely one of the first to step 

                                                               

            up to support underserved areas where the need 

 

            is the greatest. 

 

                     At the national level, Dan Delehanty, 

 

            Vice President of Community Development Banking, 

 

            serves with distinction on the AEO Board of           

 

            Directors.  This presence alone with the support 

 

            of Capital One supports more than 25 million 

 

            micro entrepreneurs that collectively are the 

 

            key to our nation's economic resurgence.  If 

 

            just one of those three 25 million micro              

 

            entrepreneurs hires one person, one of three, it 

 

            improves employment in the United States. 

 

                     Thank you for the opportunity to 

 

            comment on the consistent, substantive and 

 

            essential support that Capital One plays in           

 

            community development banking, and thank you for 

 

            the opportunity and your time and attention. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 



                     MS. ELIZABETH THOMAS:  I'm Elizabeth 

 

            "Boo" Thomas, the president and CEO of CPEX, the      

 

            Center For Planning Excellence, based in Baton 

 

            Rouge but working throughout Louisiana. 

 

                     I thank you for the opportunity to 

 

            speak here.  I have been doing community 

                                                                 

            development and redevelopment from the 

 

            neighborhood scale to the regional scale over 

 

            the past 22 years.  I am here to speak in 

 

            support of the merger of Capital One with ING 

 

            Direct.                                               

 

                     The Center For Planning Excellence, 

 

            CPEX, its mission is to help create 

 

            highly-functional, equitable communities 

 

            throughout Louisiana that capitalize on their 

 

            unique qualities through community-driven             

 

            planning and execution.  We advocate for quality 

 

            community design and bring communities access to 

 

            new ideas in planning and design. 

 

                     CPEX promotes the use of Smart Growth 

 

            principles and development and redevelopment          

 

            throughout the state, within the capital city of 

 

            Baton Rouge and especially in our target 

 

            neighborhood of Old South Baton Rouge. 

 

                     Old South Baton Rouge where CPEX has 

 

            been working since 2005 is an aging neighborhood      

 

            with 12 percent of the population over 65, 

 



            49 percent male, 51 percent female, 84 percent 

 

            minority and a median income of 415,615. 

 

                     Old South Baton Rouge is an 

                                                            

            underserved neighborhood sandwiched between LSU, 

 

            Louisiana State University, and downtown Baton 

 

            Rouge and where our partnership with Capital One 

 

            has been concentrated. 

 

                     Through the support and involvement of       

 

            Capital One, CPEX has been able to expand our 

 

            revitalization efforts and even expand into 

 

            another underserved neighborhood in North Baton 

 

            Rouge, an area called Scotlandville.  Through 

 

            their financially and staff-supported program,        

 

            "Getting Down to Business," which was mentioned 

 

            earlier, we recruited nine small business owners 

 

            from Old South and Scotlandville to participate 

 

            in this rigorous 15-week course and have seen 

 

            great results from the invaluable training they       

 

            received. 

 

                     The clients were all minority business 

 

            owners, and seven of the nine were women.  We 

 

            have documented that their income has improved 

 

            and since this program -- since they completed        

 

            this program. 

 

                     We were also able to obtain funding 

 

            support from Capital One to help struggling 

 

            businesses in Old South and in Scotlandville to 

                                                                   



            put new facades on their storefronts.  Again, we 

 

            documented this summer that they've had an 

 

            increase in income due to this improved 

 

            appearance. 

 

                      I know these are small programs, but         

 

            they're very important.  It's just a micro 

 

            example of the kinds of things you all have been 

 

            talking about. 

 

                      CPEX has used seed funding from Capital 

 

            One to help start three community gardens in the      

 

            past year so CPEX has discovered that these 

 

            gardens provide a safe community gathering place 

 

            that allows neighbors to re-engage with each 

 

            other, involves multiple generations and 

 

            provides the essential eyes on the street that        

 

            lead to safer neighborhoods. 

 

                     As you can see, we've gone to Capital 

 

            One with many of our programs in our 

 

            redevelopment arena and have always been met 

 

            with a positive response.  We have been very          

 

            impressed with their responsiveness to our 

 

            requests as well as their responsiveness to the 

 

            needs of the Old South and Scotlandville 

 

            communities. 

                                                                   

                     In Louisiana, Capital One has always 

 

            been a leader in the redevelopment community and 

 

            has had such a great impact on other financial 

 



            institutions as well as other non-profits trying 

 

            to impact our underserved communities.                

 

                     When I was working in a different 

 

            neighborhood revitalization project you'll hear 

 

            from this afternoon, Mid-City Redevelopment, I 

 

            was able to recruit the leadership of Hibernia 

 

            Bank to be involved in our rehabilitation             

 

            projects as well as our first-time home buyer 

 

            education classes.  What has been amazing is the 

 

            fact that Capital One has not only continued the 

 

            strong support of our revitalization efforts, 

 

            but it's actually surpassed Hibernia's                

 

            involvement. 

 

                     In trying to advance community building 

 

            beyond the limits of the city and parish of East 

 

            Baton Rouge, CPEX has initiated and sustained 

 

            one of the most outstanding educational               

 

            opportunities for housing advocates, for 

 

            redevelopment beginners and financing novices: 

 

            Our Smart Growth Summit.  Capital One has been 

 

            an ongoing sponsor for the past five years. 

                                                                    

                     CPEX supports this proposed merger of 

 

            Capital One-ING Direct.  As we have seen with 

 

            past changes, Capital One has been more involved 

 

            and more supportive of the disadvantaged 

 

            neighborhood businesses and homeowners, and we        

 

            expect that this will continue with this merger. 

 



                     Thank you. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very 

 

            much. 

 

                     Does anybody have any questions at this      

 

            time for this panel? 

 

                     Okay.  Thank you for your testimony. 

 

                     At this point, we are going to take a 

 

            break.  We will take a 20-minute break, and we 

 

            will reconvene at 10:50.                              

 

                             (Whereupon, a short recess 

 

                             was taken.) 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  We're going to 

 

            begin the hearing.  We're back on the record, 

 

            and I want to welcome this next panel.  I just        

 

            want to remind you to please directly speak into 

 

            the microphone so that the court reporter can 

 

            get your testimony.  And also, will you please 

 

            begin your statement by stating your name and 

                                    

            your affiliation and keep an eye on the 

 

            timekeeper. 

 

                     Did you guys move back? 

 

                     A TIMEKEEPER:  We did. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  I thought I was        

 

            hallucinating.  Scared me a minute. 

 

                     The timekeeper just moved back but is 

 

            still there, and the little box with the lights, 

 

            the yellow light means you have one minute left, 

 



            and the red light shows your time is up.              

 

                     With that, we will begin. 

 

                     MR. ROB BREYMAIER:  Okay.  Thank you. 

 

            I am Rob Breymaier.  I am the Executive Director 

 

            of the Oak Park Regional Housing Center.  I'm 

 

            also the person who serves currently as the           

 

            president of the Chicago Area Fair Housing 

 

            Alliance, both non-profit organizations. 

 

                     We are here in opposition of this 

 

            merger, and I'd like to speak first to say that, 

 

            you know, essentially, I echo all of the              

 

            concerns of the first panel, and rather than 

 

            bore you in repeating those concerns and why we 

 

            care about those concerns, I'd like to talk to 

 

            you a little bit more about the very nature of 

                                                                 

            what's happening here. 

 

                     You know, my organization is among the 

 

            many non-profits that are certainly grateful and 

 

            dependent on corporate grants, and the panel 

 

            that preceded us certainly talked about the many      

 

            wonderful things they do and are supported by, 

 

            among other others, Capital One, but in our 

 

            opinion, this is simply really the basic level 

 

            of what a bank should be doing anyway.  It 

 

            shouldn't be considered as something that             

 

            they've done to go above and beyond in order to 

 

            show their commitment to community reinvestment. 

 



            It's the simple nature of what they should be 

 

            doing, period. 

 

                     And we want to think about what the          

 

            true test of their commitment is and whether 

 

            they serve low and moderate-income communities, 

 

            minority communities and the households within 

 

            them on their own initiative with their own 

 

            products and services.  And in the case of            

 

            Capital One and ING but Capital One in 

 

            particular, they've just consistently failed to 

 

            do that. 

 

                     We've heard earlier about how they 

                                                                   

            failed to continue the community development 

 

            commitments of the banks that they acquired 

 

            previously, particularly North Fork, Hibernia 

 

            and Chevy Chase Bank.  You've seen how they've 

 

            ignored Department of Justice commitments that        

 

            they reached with Capital One.  We've seen and 

 

            heard about how they refused to work with the 

 

            Home Affordable Modification program despite 

 

            benefiting from $18 billion in federal funding 

 

            and that they have also a very poor record of         

 

            commitment to low and moderate-income 

 

            communities in other ways. 

 

                     The data basically shows that Capital 

 

            One and ING really fail this test of true 

 

            commitment to low and moderate-income                 

 



            communities and minority communities.  NCRC of 

 

            Woodstock provided a lot of data that showed 

 

            that. 

 

                     It's all the more concerning because in 

 

            addition to that, both of these banks are banks       

 

            that despite having national reach only have a 

 

            CRA assessment of a very small percentage of 

 

            that national reach. 

 

                     We're at a point in time right now 

                                                                

            where there is a real need for CRA modernization 

 

            so that banks such as these actually can be 

 

            assessed properly for the entire market and that 

 

            we have a chance right now with the Dodd-Frank 

 

            reforms to also include greater commitment on         

 

            these banks to the communities that they serve. 

 

            And we really need to see this from the Federal 

 

            Reserve, the OCC and other regulators to make 

 

            sure that as we go forward, these mergers are 

 

            something more than just a checkmark on a box         

 

            that says yes, you didn't have any substantial 

 

            non-compliance in the last ten years. 

 

                     We want to see if this merger is 

 

            accepted that there is some real strict and 

 

            quantifiable commitments that the combined            

 

            entity is going to have to show they will do 

 

            that will be enforceable later on in their -- 

 

            you know, if they fail to meet those 

 



            commitments. 

 

                     These are commitments that should be         

 

            predicated upon fresh CRA evaluations, and they 

 

            should be also, you know, certainly showing that 

 

            they are going to be lending to minority and low 

 

            and moderate-income households and communities 

                                                                 

            both in the mortgage arena and the small 

 

            business arena and in basic banking services. 

 

                     If we can't do that, I can't understand 

 

            why we would let a bank of this size grow to a 

 

            bank of even larger size.                             

 

                     And finally, I just want to make sure 

 

            that when we do that, we're doing that in all of 

 

            the metropolitan areas, all of the states, all 

 

            of the rural counties where they have an impact 

 

            where it's at least a half of 1 percent of the       

 

            market or greater, and that would be whether 

 

            it's in the credit card lending, whether it's in 

 

            the mortgage lending, whether it's in the 

 

            deposit market share, wherever that is so we can 

 

            be sure that we're actually assessing banks           

 

            where they're actually doing business and not 

 

            just in a very small portion of where they do 

 

            business. 

 

                     With that, I thank you very much, and I 

 

            urge you to please be concerned about the             

 

            modernization of the CRA. 

 



                     MR. CLARK:  My name is Peter Clark.  I 

 

            am the government and legislative liaison for 

 

            Partners in Community Building, a HUD-certified 

              

            housing counseling and non-profit organization 

 

            that focuses on foreclosure prevention, 

 

            financial literacy and advocacy and education 

 

            regarding affordable housing issues on behalf of 

 

            low and moderate-income individual families and       

 

            seniors in Chicago. 

 

                     Partners in Community Building has 

 

            served and assisted thousands of individuals and 

 

            families thus far and in these difficult 

 

            economic times expects to work closely with           

 

            thousands more. 

 

                     On behalf of Partners in Community 

 

            Building and its multitude of existing and 

 

            anticipated clients, I appear in opposition to 

 

            the proposed Capital One acquisition and implore      

 

            the Federal Reserve to deny this merger 

 

            application. 

 

                     Neither Capital One nor ING has 

 

            performed or is performing in a fashion that 

 

            warrants approval of the proposed acquisition.        

 

                     Our friends and colleagues have vividly 

 

            and eloquently offered evidence and antidotes 

 

            that paint a picture of an organization, Capital 

 

            One, that has taken advantage of and preyed on 

                                                                



            minorities, seniors, low and moderate-income 

 

            individuals and families struggling to make ends 

 

            meet. 

 

                     Agreements have been abrogated, 

 

            commitments to community investment have been         

 

            ignore, and responsibilities to provide 

 

            convenience and financial services to low-wealth 

 

            and communities of color have gone unfulfilled, 

 

            yet Capital One comes to the Federal Reserve and 

 

            seeks approval to expand the depth and breadth        

 

            of its penetration into these markets through 

 

            this proposed acquisition.  This it has not 

 

            earned this panel's approval. 

 

                     Capital One would like to portray 

 

            itself and would like this Board to believe that      

 

            it is altruistic, its overarching motivation 

 

            simply to do more and better for those it has 

 

            heretofore scavenged and looted. 

 

                     Capital One will doubtless suggest that 

 

            its history has been mischaracterized and             

 

            misunderstood; it is really magnanimous 

 

            organization that cares deeply about the 

 

            citizens and families with which it has 

 

            previously dealt. 

                                                                   

                     It will tell the Federal Reserve that 

 

            its acquisition of ING will afford its ability 

 

            to carry its good works to more people, to 

 



            better express its core principles of compassion 

 

            and humanity and helping those most in need of        

 

            financial assistance. 

 

                     Capital One would like this Board to 

 

            believe they act as Mother Theresa with Articles 

 

            of Incorporation. 

 

                     Nowhere in their glossy materials or         

 

            their slick presentations will Capital One 

 

            discuss the wrath of investigations conducted 

 

            and ongoing by states attorneys general into its 

 

            history of deceptive and misleading credit card 

 

            practices.  It will carefully avoid either            

 

            admission or discussion of the complaints and 

 

            scrutiny over fee disclosures, rate changes, 

 

            deceptive pricing policies. 

 

                     It will, however, underscore the 

 

            importance of the societal benefit of approving       

 

            access to new and expansive pools of customers 

 

            with its ever-growing and every-changing credit 

 

            card power. 

 

                     Nowhere in its presentation will 

                                                                 

            Capital One discuss the single mothers who have 

 

            been driven to bankruptcy by the allure of 

 

            attractive credit coupled with predatory rates 

 

            and terms. 

 

                     Nowhere will Capital One discuss the         

 

            minority families with diminished means in these 

 



            difficult economic times that have fallen victim 

 

            to the relentless direct mail offers which have 

 

            become virtually a lifetime of payments. 

 

                     Never will Capital One invite the            

 

            Federal Reserve Board inside its long-range 

 

            planning sessions during which its current 

 

            products are, as Elizabeth Warren has asserted, 

 

            sliced, diced, packaged and marketed as a means 

 

            by which to overencumber and indenture a new          

 

            mass of families struggling to put foods on 

 

            their tables and keep the lights on in their 

 

            modest homes. 

 

                     Partners in Community Building know 

 

            these things from mothers, minority families and      

 

            struggling mothers and fathers.  We counsel, 

 

            educate and work with them and on their behalf 

 

            every day. 

 

                     A hundred years ago, then-Governor and 

                                                                     

            soon-to-be-President, Woodrow Wilson, asserted, 

 

            "The great monopoly in this country is the money 

 

            monopoly.  So long as that exist, our old 

 

            variety and freedom and individual energy of 

 

            development are out of question.  A great             

 

            industrial nation is controlled by its system of 

 

            credit.  Our system of credit is concentrated. 

 

            The growth of the nation, therefore, and all our 

 

            activities are in the hands of a few men who 

 



            even if their actions be honest and intended for      

 

            the public purpose are necessarily concentrated 

 

            upon the great undertaking to which their own 

 

            money is involved and who necessarily by every 

 

            reason of their own limitations chill and check 

 

            and destroy genuine economic freedom.  This is        

 

            the greatest question of all, and to this 

 

            statesmen must address themselves with an 

 

            earnest determination to serve the long future 

 

            and the true liberties of men." 

 

                     This Board as the statesmen of a             

 

            century ago must address itself with an earnest 

 

            determination to serve the long future and true 

 

            liberties of men.  Neither the long future nor 

 

            true liberties, opportunities or advantages of 

                                                           

            our communities will be served by this.  It's 

 

            our position this is bad for our constituents, 

 

            bad for our economy and bad public policy.  We 

 

            ask that the application be denied. 

 

                     Thank you.                                   

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     MS. EMMA DIXON:  Good morning.  My name 

 

            is Emma Dixon.  I'm the president of the 

 

            Louisiana Community Reinvestment Coalition 

 

            located in Bogalusa, Louisiana, a small rural         

 

            town. 

 

                     I am speaking today on behalf of the 

 



            chair of our board, Nancy Grandquist Fields who 

 

            was also the Community Investment Officer of the 

 

            Federal Home Loan Bank of Des Moines for six          

 

            years. 

 

                     The statement I am about to read is 

 

            Ms. Grandquist Fields' testimony regarding 

 

            Capital One's proposed acquisition of ING 

 

            Direct.  Thank you for the opportunity to speak       

 

            to you today about how this acquisition will 

 

            impact our community. 

 

                     On behalf of the Louisiana Community 

 

            Reinvestment Coalition and the communities we 

                                                                  

            serve, I strongly urge you to deny this 

 

            acquisition without strict conditions being met 

 

            such as a set aside of net earnings.  In no 

 

            uncertain terms, the public benefits of this 

 

            acquisition do not outweigh the risks associated      

 

            with allowing Capital One to become the next 

 

            Too-Big-to-Fail bank. 

 

                     After the financial crisis of three 

 

            short years ago, we have all seen the risk of 

 

            the Too-Big-to-Fail institutions and allowing         

 

            them to engage in overly risky business 

 

            practices.  Our communities are still struggling 

 

            to recover from the devastation it caused. 

 

                     The wealth gap between rich and poor 

 

            continues to grow to unprecedented rates with         

 



            African Americans seeing an alarming 50 percent 

 

            decrease in net wealth and Latinos experiencing 

 

            and even greater 66 percent reduction in net 

 

            wealth. 

 

                     Certainly we have experienced this           

 

            devastation firsthand in Louisiana in both rural 

 

            and urban communities.  When you add to that a 

 

            financial institution like Capital One who 

 

            slashes small business lending, preys on 

                                                                 

            subprime consumers with high-cost credit cards 

 

            and pays only the thinnest lip service to the 

 

            Community Reinvestment Act mandates, it's no 

 

            wonder our Louisiana communities are suffering. 

 

                     We all know that Capital One has the         

 

            right to conduct their business as they see fit 

 

            within the regulatory framework that exists.  We 

 

            appreciate them wanting to expand and create 

 

            more jobs.  There is no question that 

 

            Louisiana's low-income communities desperately        

 

            need the help of responsible financial 

 

            institutions committed to improving the 

 

            communities in which they do business, however, 

 

            we are concerned about data that demonstrates a 

 

            business pattern that should be troubling to us       

 

            all. 

 

                     We do not believe that Capital One's 

 

            policies and practices are such that they should 

 



            be rewarded by an opportunity to expand, at 

 

            least not in the absence of genuine corporate         

 

            commitment to serve low-to-moderate-income 

 

            communities. 

 

                     Board Governor Tarullo has stated that 

 

            regulators should discourage the growth of 

                                                                   

            Too-Big-to-Fail institutions unless the benefits 

 

            to society are clearly significant.  We strongly 

 

            agree. 

 

                     Without clearly significant public 

 

            benefits in the form of genuine forward               

 

            commitment by Capital One, we simply cannot 

 

            support this acquisition without strict 

 

            conditions being met such as a set aside of net 

 

            earnings.  Louisiana cannot afford another 

 

            Too-Big-to-Fail institution.                          

 

                     According to research provided by NCRC 

 

            in 2005, Capital One acquired Hibernia who had a 

 

            large presence in communities across Louisiana, 

 

            there was a 25 percent reduction in small 

 

            business lending in low-income census tracts.         

 

                     In 2006 after their acquisition of 

 

            North Fork Bank in New York, there was a 

 

            95 percent drop in prime loans.  In 2009, after 

 

            Capital One's acquisition of Chevy Chase Bank in 

 

            Maryland, their community development lending         

 

            decreased by 41 percent. 

 



                     If these studies are -- excuse me.  If 

 

            these statistics are accurate, they do not 

 

            clearly reflect significant benefits to society. 

                                                                  

                     After acquiring Hibernia in Louisiana, 

 

            Capital One received a low satisfactory CRA 

 

            score in our state largely because of the lack 

 

            of branches in our LMI communities.  Again, this 

 

            does not present a clear significant benefit to       

 

            society. 

 

                     Capital One has explicitly stated they 

 

            plan to use the deposits they acquire from ING 

 

            Direct to boost their credit card portfolio by 

 

            purchasing HSBC.  More subprime credit card           

 

            lending does not reflect a clear significant 

 

            benefit to society. 

 

                     Capital One's mortgage lending policy 

 

            which arbitrarily limits lending in a way that 

 

            has disparate, harmful impact on minority             

 

            borrowers does not reflect a clearly significant 

 

            benefit to society. 

 

                     Thus, we support conditional approval 

 

            of Capital One's acquisition of ING Direct if 

 

            and only if similar conditions are placed on          

 

            Capital One.  In the absence of such conditions, 

 

            the Louisiana Community Reinvestment Coalition 

 

            strongly opposes this acquisition. 

 

                     And thank you so much. 

                                                                  



                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     MS. KAREN HARRIS:  Hi.  My name is 

 

            Karen Harris, and I'm here today from the 

 

            Sargent Shriver Center on Poverty Law. 

 

                     The Shriver Center is a Chicago-based        

 

            policy and advocacy organization which provides 

 

            national leadership in identifying, developing 

 

            and supporting creative and collaborative 

 

            approaches to achieve social and economic 

 

            justice for low-income people and communities.        

 

                     I'm the director of the Asset 

 

            Opportunity Unit which takes action against 

 

            poverty by advocating policies that expand 

 

            asset-building opportunities for all. 

 

                     I will be brief because I believe that       

 

            the facts speak for themselves and the decision 

 

            is clear. 

 

                     I come here today in opposition to the 

 

            proposed merger between Capital One Bank and 

 

            ING.  The primary reason for the opposition is        

 

            that Capital One has not proven that this 

 

            acquisition will offer clearly significant 

 

            public benefit and lots of reasons to think that 

 

            it will not. 

                                                                 

                     The communities we aim to serve with 

 

            our policy advocacy face severe financial 

 

            challenges including bank branch closures in 

 



            Chicago's low-and-moderate-income neighborhoods 

 

            at rates higher than in wealthy neighborhoods.        

 

                     In Chicago, low-income black 

 

            communities are four times more likely to have a 

 

            low credit score and therefore less access to 

 

            mainstream credit than white communities. 

 

                     In Chicago, minority communities have        

 

            the city's highest foreclosure rates and a 

 

            disproportionate shared by subprime loans and 

 

            other unstable mortgage products. 

 

                     Based on Capital One's past 

 

            performance, there is no reason to believe that       

 

            it will offer any assistance to communities on 

 

            any of these issues. 

 

                     Capital One has repeatedly turned its 

 

            back on the lending needs of low-income and 

 

            minority communities.  As Reverend Jesse Jackson      

 

            stated in his testimony earlier this morning, 

 

            Capital One's past post merger performance has 

 

            been abysmal. 

 

                     As others have already stated, at 

                                                               

            acquisition of Chevy Chase Bank, Hibernia and 

 

            North Fork bank, after the merger, all resulted 

 

            in significant declines in its community 

 

            reinvestment and lending in low-income 

 

            neighborhoods.                                        

 

                     Given that, there's no reason why the 

 



            same performance will not occur after this bank 

 

            merger.  Its poor performance in responding to 

 

            low-income and moderate-income communities is 

 

            also reflected in its CRA examinations.               

 

                     After its 2005 Hibernia acquisition, 

 

            Capital One received a low satisfactory score on 

 

            its CRA exam primarily because it had no 

 

            branches in low-income neighborhoods.  In 

 

            response to this low score, Capital One opened        

 

            37 branches in wealthy communities and only one 

 

            branch in a neighborhood -- in a low-income 

 

            neighborhood. 

 

                     As I mentioned earlier, Chicago's 

 

            low-and-moderate-income families are already          

 

            facing bank foreclosures at higher rates than 

 

            wealthy communities.  The last thing they need 

 

            is Capital One helping this rate increase 

 

            further. 

                                                                

                     Interestingly, it was not until 

 

            consumer groups began challenging this proposed 

 

            merger that Capital One started to address any 

 

            of these issues.  The announcement of a ten-year 

 

            $180 billion community redevelopment fund is          

 

            nothing short of an attempt to grease the wheels 

 

            for the merger to move forward. 

 

                     As previous commenters, particularly 

 

            James Carr with NCRC and Dory Randy of 

 



            Woodstock, have pointed out, it's not what they       

 

            are going to do that matters; it's what they 

 

            have already done that counts.  They shouldn't 

 

            get points for future good intentions if they 

 

            aren't also penalized for previous bad 

 

            behaviors.                                            

 

                     For all of these reasons, we strongly 

 

            oppose the proposed merger. 

 

                     Thank you again. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     MR. KEVIN JACKSON:  Good morning.  My        

 

            name is Kevin Jackson.  I'm the Executive 

 

            Director of the Chicago Rehab Network, the 

 

            leading coalition of community development 

 

            corporations in the region. 

                                                                    

                     The Chicago Rehab Network is a 

 

            coalition of non-profit community development 

 

            corporations and advocates, and we provide a 

 

            unique point of view impacting people, 

 

            communities and systems which lead to stronger        

 

            neighborhoods through housing affordability. 

 

                     For 35 years, we are providing strong 

 

            policy analysis, technical assistance and 

 

            training from which troubleshooting and best 

 

            practices frequently emanate and have delivered       

 

            research and analysis of private and public 

 

            sector practices that impact our local 

 



            communities. 

 

                     Our members have been responsible for 

 

            the preservation and creation of tens of              

 

            thousands of units for affordable housing in the 

 

            region. 

 

                     The Chicago Rehab Network opposes this 

 

            acquisition because it does not meet community 

 

            needs and there is clearly not significant            

 

            public benefit. 

 

                     CRN released Building Our Future 

 

            Chicago Toolkit this year that provided direct 

 

            evidence that household instability has 

                                                                

            increased dramatically in the last decade. 

 

                     In Chicago, renter cost-burden rates 

 

            have historically tracked higher than the 

 

            national average.  In 2000, 50 percent of 

 

            Chicago renters were cost burdened and                

 

            20 percent were severely cost burdened.  By 

 

            2009, the numbers rose to 55 percent and 28 

 

            percent respectively.  Increased pressure on the 

 

            rental housing market will intensify the demand 

 

            for affordability, forcing households to spend        

 

            more of their income just to meet housing costs. 

 

                     The firsthand reports regarding access 

 

            to credit from our community-based members are 

 

            troubling.  Time and time again, credit is not 

 

            forthcoming and is exceedingly hard to obtain to      

 



            meet the affordable housing demands.  Not only 

 

            are consumers being denied, so, too, are the 

 

            development corporations that are being awarded 

 

            federal and local government revenues to build 

 

            but must struggle to access private credit to         

 

            complete their development. 

 

                     One of our Chicago leaders recognized 

 

            nationally in the field described financial 

 

            institutions as, quote, very hesitant to offer 

                                                                 

            the range of products that help us get the deal 

 

            done.  Their recent experience is that banks are 

 

            demanding one-for-one collateral even for a 

 

            letter of credit.  In fact, they had to over 

 

            collateralize more than a dollar for a dollar to      

 

            obtain the letter of letter.  This was not for a 

 

            loan but a performance guarantee letter of 

 

            credit that they backed with cash and real 

 

            estate. 

 

                     And if this is the experience of one of      

 

            Chicago's leading community development 

 

            corporations, one of the best, imagine what will 

 

            happen to the rest. 

 

                     The result of this severe lending 

 

            climate will not allow any small construction         

 

            company and local businesses in our 

 

            neighborhoods and undermine the growing need to 

 

            stabilize our communities, our households and 

 



            our economy by building and preserving 

 

            affordable housing.                                   

 

                     The Chicago Rehab Network opposes this 

 

            merger until there is convincing evidence that 

 

            credit requirements in communities will be met, 

 

            in particular, community development lending for 

                                                                 

            the development and preservation of multi-family 

 

            rental and affordable ownership is fundamentally 

 

            crucial and ought to be specified. 

 

                     We stand with NCRC and Woodstock 

 

            Institute and request that if the Federal             

 

            Reserve Board moves forward and approves this 

 

            application despite our strong objections, we 

 

            believe the following three recommendations 

 

            should be required as conditions of approval. 

 

                     We urge the Federal Reserve Board to         

 

            require Capital One to provide local, 

 

            quantifiable mortgage community development 

 

            lending, financial services and small business 

 

            lending commitments in all metro areas, states 

 

            or rural counties where it has a credit card          

 

            lending, mortgage lending or deposit market 

 

            share of 5 percent as a condition of approval. 

 

                     Second, the Federal Reserve Board 

 

            should require as a condition of approval that 

 

            Capital One adopt and meet local quantifiable         

 

            lending goals to improve the combined 

 



            institutions' market share of originated 

 

            mortgage loans in low-wealth communities and 

 

            communities of color. 

                                                                      

                     And third, the Federal Reserve Board 

 

            should require Capital One as a condition of 

 

            approval to meet lending, investment and 

 

            financial service obligations in all areas in 

 

            which it has a mortgage share of more than            

 

            5 percent. 

 

                     Thank you for this opportunity to 

 

            discuss the credit requirements across our 

 

            community, and we just want to make sure that we 

 

            recognize the importance of our financial             

 

            partners. 

 

                     And in this time in Chicago when we 

 

            make these decisions, we have to be thinking 

 

            about our next generation.  Voices of Illinois 

 

            Children just put out that there is --                

 

            22 percent of children under the age of six are 

 

            living in poverty in 2010 in Illinois.  Young 

 

            children have the highest poverty rate of any 

 

            age group. 

 

                     And what we all know is the biggest          

 

            cost to people's income is their housing costs, 

 

            and so for that reason, we really need to think 

 

            about as these mergers are coming forward that 

 

            we are putting together the arsenal of tools 

                                                                  



            that can make a difference on this affordability 

 

            issue. 

 

                     Thank you very much. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     I understand, Mr. Feltner, you'll be         

 

            reading Ms. Palmer's statement? 

 

                     MR. THOMAS FELTNER:  Yes. 

 

                     Thank you very much, and good morning. 

 

            My name is Tom Feltner.  I'm speaking on behalf 

 

            of the Reverend Cathy Palmer, president of            

 

            Global Network CDC here in Chicago, Illinois. 

 

            The statement I'm about to read today is 

 

            Reverend Palmer's testimony. 

 

                     Global Network CDC is dedicated to 

 

            ensuring that banks benefit the community in          

 

            which they do business.  We seek opportunities 

 

            to serve low-and-moderate-income communities to 

 

            the greatest extent possible.  In addition, our 

 

            work focuses on community and economic 

 

            development, fair housing issues, financial           

 

            literacy, housing assistance and housing 

 

            development. 

 

                     On behalf of Global Network CDC and the 

 

            communities we serve, I strongly urge you to 

                                                                 

            deny this application.  In simple terms, the 

 

            public benefits of this acquisition do not 

 

            outweigh the risks associated with allowing 

 



            Capital One to become the next Too-Big-to-Fail 

 

            bank.                                                 

 

                     We know firsthand the risks of creating 

 

            Too-Big-to-Fail institutions and allowing them 

 

            to engage in overly risky financial practices. 

 

            Although the financial crisis occurred more than 

 

            three years ago, our communities are still            

 

            struggling to recover from the devastation it 

 

            caused. 

 

                     The wealth gap between rich and poor 

 

            continues to grow at unprecedented rates.  In 

 

            communities of color and low-and-moderate-income      

 

            communities, the results of the economic crisis 

 

            are particularly staggering, decimating the net 

 

            wealth of these communities by as much as 

 

            66 percent. 

 

                     The severity of these costs and their        

 

            lingering consequences led Board Governor 

 

            Tarullo to state that regulators should 

 

            discourage the growth of Too-Big-to-Fail 

 

            institutions unless the benefits to society are 

                                                              

            clearly significant.  We agree. 

 

                     Without clearly significant public 

 

            benefit in the form of a genuine forward 

 

            commitment by Capital One, we simply cannot 

 

            support this acquisition.  We have far too much       

 

            at stake.  Our communities cannot afford another 

 



            Too-Big-to-Fail institution. 

 

                     Global Network CDC strongly opposes 

 

            this acquisition for the following reasons. 

 

                     Capital One has a track record of            

 

            purchasing traditional banks, using these 

 

            deposits to expand their credit card portfolios 

 

            and stripping down its traditional banking 

 

            services and bank branches. 

 

                     Capital One is leaving our communities       

 

            with fewer traditional banking options but more 

 

            high-cost credit cards. 

 

                     Capital One will have you believe that 

 

            by acquiring ING Direct, they are expanding the 

 

            products they offer, but they expressly stated        

 

            they will use the deposits they gain to purchase 

 

            HSBC's credit card portfolio.  A bank that 

 

            relies this heavily and exclusively on credit 

 

            cards is the definition of systemic risk. 

                                                                    

                     Capital One's credit card and auto 

 

            lending are also fraught with problems. 

 

            Attorneys General across the country have logged 

 

            thousands of complaints against this bank, 

 

            alleging bait-and-switch tactics with teaser          

 

            interest rates that are later substituted for 

 

            sky-high rates, unreasonable over-the-limit fees 

 

            and unfair collection practices.  In fact, there 

 

            are class action proceedings under way in 

 



            Florida, Michigan and Georgia against Capital         

 

            One regarding alleged unfair and abusive of 

 

            credit card practices. 

 

                     Capital One has consistently refused to 

 

            serve communities of color and 

 

            low-and-moderate-income communities.  In fact,        

 

            Capital One is facing several active complaints 

 

            with the Department of Housing and Urban 

 

            Development for alleged fair lending violations. 

 

                     In 2010, Capital One modified its 

 

            lending policy in a way that had a                    

 

            disproportionate impact on people of color's 

 

            access to FHA mortgages.  They have also refused 

 

            to participate in the Home Affordable Mortgage 

 

            Program and the Hardest Hit Fund programs. 

                                                                    

                     Capital One is using its proposed 

 

            acquisition to undermine financial reform by 

 

            trying to write their own standards for applying 

 

            the systemic risk provision.  They are pushing 

 

            for a return to the same weak standards that          

 

            allowed unscrupulous lenders to shake the 

 

            foundation of our banking system. 

 

                     In addition, Global Network CDC opposes 

 

            this acquisition on the basis of our experience 

 

            with Capital One in our community.  We talk with      

 

            people in Chicago neighborhoods who have gotten 

 

            trapped in cycles of predatory lending through 

 



            high-cost subprime credit cards such as the 

 

            cards Capital One so aggressively markets. 

 

                     They have auto loans with unfair and         

 

            onerous terms, and small business owners are 

 

            forced to turn to the high-cost credit cards 

 

            when they are denied more fairly-priced small 

 

            business products.  These people are not being 

 

            equipped with the tools they need to get ahead.       

 

            Instead, companies like Capital One are 

 

            profiting from the fact that they have limited 

 

            options.  We should not reward a company like 

 

            this by allowing it to grow even bigger and more 

                                                                   

            powerful. 

 

                     This acquisition will pose a 

 

            significant systemic risk that is not outweighed 

 

            by any public benefit that Capital One has so 

 

            far offered, and I urge you to deny this              

 

            acquisition. 

 

                     At minimum, the Federal Reserve Board 

 

            should condition its approval on a genuine 

 

            forward commitment by Capital One to benefit the 

 

            public.                                               

 

                     Thank you for the opportunity to be 

 

            here today before you. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very 

 

            much. 

 

                     Any questions for this panel?                

 



                     Okay.  Thank you very much for your 

 

            testimony. 

 

                     Welcome to this panel.  Just for the 

 

            record, please make sure you're speaking into a 

 

            microphone clearly so that the court reporter         

 

            can hear you.  Please begin your statement by 

 

            stating your name and your affiliation, and 

 

            please keep your eye on the timekeeper. 

 

                     Also, I understand there are two people 

                                                                

            that are sharing the five-minutes.  I want you 

 

            just be aware of that.  You may split it however 

 

            you want, but you have five minutes for the two 

 

            of you. 

 

                     And with that, we'll start with              

 

            Ms. Howard. 

 

                     MS. DEBORAH HOWARD:  Hi.  My name is 

 

            Deb Howard.  I'm the Executive Director of Pratt 

 

            Area Community Council, and I want to thank the 

 

            Reserve Board for this opportunity.                   

 

                     PACC is a community-based organization 

 

            committed to improving the quality of life for 

 

            all residents in Fort Greene, Clinton Hill, 

 

            Prospect and Crown Heights in Brooklyn.  For 47 

 

            years, through tenant and community organizing,       

 

            home buyer and homeowner services, affordable 

 

            housing and economic development, PACC has 

 

            played a role in the neighborhood revitalization 

 



            and stabilization in these central Brooklyn 

 

            communities.                                          

 

                     Facing the current economic recession, 

 

            PACC continues to tackle shrinking housing 

 

            subsidies, tenant displacement, mortgage 

 

            foreclosure and reduced consumer demand for 

                                                                   

            local businesses with a range of focused 

 

            responsive products and services. 

 

                     At this time, we would like to submit 

 

            testimony regarding Capital One's proposed 

 

            acquisition of ING Direct and relate our              

 

            positive experience in working with Capital 

 

            One's Community Development Mortgage and Retail 

 

            Banking Departments in New York City. 

 

                     As a community organization serving 

 

            low-and-moderate-income communities of color, we      

 

            know firsthand the effects of living in 

 

            communities underserved by commercial banks here 

 

            subprime lenders and unscrupulous brokers as 

 

            well as check cashers and daily lenders 

 

            proliferate.                                          

 

                     To combat this problem, the New York 

 

            State Banking Department created banking 

 

            development districts which support placement of 

 

            bank branches in underserved areas. 

 

                     For five years, we asked other               

 

            prominent New York banks to use the program to 

 



            open a branch on Fulton Street, a major 

 

            commercial and transit corridor in Brooklyn. 

 

            Although there were over 110,000 residents in 

                                                                 

            the surrounding community and over 300 

 

            businesses, there were no bank branches for 

 

            27 blocks. 

 

                     When Capital One acquired North Fork 

 

            Bank, one of the first initiatives was to             

 

            embrace the Banking Development District program 

 

            and then open five branches in underserved 

 

            communities including the branch on Fulton 

 

            Street. 

 

                     Since opening the branch, the bank has       

 

            made a concerted effort to be part of the 

 

            community as active members of our newly-formed 

 

            Business Improvement District Board and as 

 

            presenters to our events that attract 

 

            entrepreneurs to open stores in vacant                

 

            storefronts on Fulton and visiting store owners 

 

            to offer traditional banking services. 

 

                     They have worked on products which 

 

            include microlending with CCOE as well as their 

 

            own SBA loans.                                        

 

                     PACC provides home buyer education and 

 

            mortgage counseling to first-time home buyers as 

 

            well as counseling homeowners who may need a 

 

            repair loan or are facing financial difficulties 

                                                                



            and foreclosure. 

 

                     Our experience with Capital One's 

 

            mortgage lending has been a very positive one, 

 

            as Capital One has never invested in 

 

            mortgage-backed securities or purchased a prime       

 

            lender.  We, therefore, have not had a homeowner 

 

            client facing foreclosure with a Capital One 

 

            mortgage, unlike many other national banking 

 

            institutions in our community.  And we have, I 

 

            believe, served over 1,200 homeowners in four         

 

            years facing foreclosure. 

 

                     Also, since the mortgage collapse, it 

 

            has been very difficult for borrowers and 

 

            potential home buyers even with good credit to 

 

            obtain a mortgage loan.  In response to this          

 

            problem, Capital One created a portfolio of 

 

            mortgage products to address this need with 

 

            other -- while other major banks restricted 

 

            their business to Fannie Mae, SONYMA and FHA 

 

            lending.  This was particularly helpful to PACC,      

 

            as we had just completed construction of 34-unit 

 

            co-op building when the financial crisis hit. 

 

                     It is hard enough getting lenders to 

 

            provide co-op loans hen minimum credit scores 

                                                          

            went up to 720 under the SONYMA and Fannie Mae 

 

            products but near impossibility for many 

 

            moderate income buyers to meet. 

 



                     SONYMA had approved and allocated 17 

 

            loans to the project, leaving 17 hanging.             

 

            Capital One committed additional fixed loans for 

 

            the project with a minimum credit score of 20, 

 

            allowing us greater flexibility and the number 

 

            needed to complete the project.  They also 

 

            offered no PMI and grant assistance to                

 

            homeowners. 

 

                     As a non-profit developer of affordable 

 

            housing, PACC often needs flexible capital for 

 

            redevelopment costs leading up to the 

 

            acquisition and construction of the whole             

 

            project.  Capital One's Community Development 

 

            Department has answered that need by providing 

 

            PACC with a $100,000 line of credit at a very 

 

            low interest rate.  This has helped us to 

 

            actually go into construction on a 71-unit            

 

            co-op, a limited-equity co-op and a 98-unit 

 

            supportive housing project. 

 

                     As other large banks have consolidated 

 

            and decimated their community development staff 

                                                                    

            into other departments or moved them out of New 

 

            York, Capital One has remained an active 

 

            presence in community development lending in the 

 

            city, enlarging their staff and keeping people 

 

            there.  This is clearly documented in the 2010        

 

            report by the Association For Housing 

 



            Developers.  Of the CRA lending activity by the 

 

            23 lending institutions in New York, Capital One 

 

            is number one. 

 

                     Lastly, in philanthropy, Capital One         

 

            has kept a steady commitment -- just two 

 

            seconds. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  You can finish 

 

            your sentence. 

 

                     MS. DEBORAH HOWARD:  A steady                

 

            commitment of grant funds to several of PACC's 

 

            core activities during the financial crisis. 

 

                     We work in coalition with several 

 

            organizations citywide to combat predatory 

 

            equity investment in lender securitization,           

 

            resulting in the lowest rate of overleveraged 

 

            mortgages in large buildings.  In projects and 

 

            Section 8 buildings, tenants face harassment and 

 

            poor conditions.  We provide affordable housing 

                                                                  

            to over 16,000 apartments, units. 

 

                     Recognizing our coalition's 

 

            ground-breaking work at both the city and 

 

            national level on this issue, Capital One has 

 

            been there with funds to support our work so I        

 

            thank you the Reserve for allowing us the 

 

            opportunity to comment on our experience with 

 

            Capital One. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 



                     MS. NICOLE JEFFERSON:  My name is            

 

            Nicole Jefferson, founder and CEO of PriMotion 

 

            Visual Media, a graphic design firm in the New 

 

            Orleans metro area specifically specializing in 

 

            advertising of specialty items. 

 

                     I am before you to speak in support of       

 

            the only large bank in my community with a 

 

            heart.  I represent small business owners who 

 

            have, like Capital One, committed to being a 

 

            part of not only America's economic recovery but 

 

            also the recovery of New Orleans after                

 

            Hurricanes Katrina and Rita and the BP oil 

 

            spill. 

 

                     The path of entrepreneurship is not an 

 

            easy one, but the guidance of my financial 

                                                                

            institution has made all the difference. 

 

                     For a large portion of this year, I had 

 

            the privilege for participating in Capital One's 

 

            "Getting Down to Business" program facilitated 

 

            by Mark Boucree, an employee of Capital One.          

 

            This program was designed to provide small 

 

            business owners with resources to develop them 

 

            and their businesses for long-term success. 

 

                      To my amazement, this program was quite 

 

            beneficial beyond the savings matching benefit.       

 

            Speakers were brought in to broaden our 

 

            knowledge of business responsibility and 

 



            function.  We were partnered with mentors and 

 

            had the opportunity to interact with one another 

 

            which has fostered lasting business                   

 

            relationships between us. 

 

                     Throughout the program and even now, my 

 

            Capital One business banker, Monique Gueringer, 

 

            and other employees avail themselves to 

 

            guarantee my satisfaction.                            

 

                     Capital One Bank continues to uphold 

 

            and put into action the beliefs of its founder, 

 

            Mr. Richard D. Fairbank.  Mr. Fairbank founded 

 

            this institution in 1988 based on his belief 

                                                                  

            that the power of information, technology, 

 

            testing and great people could be combined to 

 

            bring highly-customized financial products 

 

            directly to consumers. 

 

                     Capital One Bank has taken great             

 

            strides over the years in converting customers 

 

            to automated operations for convenience while 

 

            ensuring the efficiency and overall satisfaction 

 

            of its patrons through flawless customer 

 

            service.                                              

 

                     In our fast-paced society, Capital One 

 

            has done an admirable job of educating its 

 

            consumers on best daily practices while 

 

            remaining available for troubleshooting when 

 

            automation wouldn't do.                               

 



                     While following the press concerning 

 

            this merger, I came across a few things that 

 

            stood out to me. 

 

                     When Capital One is allowed to acquire 

 

            ING, at the completion this acquisition, it will      

 

            become the fifth-largest bank in America. 

 

                     Those opposing this acquisition fear 

 

            the effect failure of a financial institution of 

 

            this size will have on our country. 

                                                                 

                     During Capital One's "Getting Down to 

 

            Business" program, we were urged to re-evaluate 

 

            our businesses in order to participate in a 

 

            business plan competition which was a part of 

 

            the program.  As a result, my company has             

 

            shifted from a daily operation primarily done by 

 

            two full-time employees and occasional contract 

 

            workers to an operation of five employees and 

 

            six contract employees. 

 

                     We are now amidst an expansion project.      

 

            This conversion includes relocation into a 

 

            4,900-square-foot location in a busy shopping 

 

            mall in the New Orleans metro area from a 

 

            600-square-foot suite in a less visible 

 

            location.  This expansion project also involves       

 

            24-hour service and addition of several 

 

            independent sales consultants upon completion. 

 

                     If a company the size of mine has to 

 



            make changes for growth and take risks, there is 

 

            no way a financial institution of this caliber        

 

            can prosper by playing it safe. 

 

                     The reality of business is that risks 

 

            are necessary for growth and change is 

 

            inevitable.  When making changes, the key is to 

                                                                    

            identify possible pitfalls and solutions to 

 

            these issues. 

 

                     All economic activity is by definition 

 

            high risk, and defending yesterday by not 

 

            innovating is far more risky than making moves        

 

            to strengthen the financial industry for 

 

            tomorrow. 

 

                     This merger exemplifies a union for 

 

            growth, community partnering and forward 

 

            movement.  Opposition to this merger is a choice      

 

            to operate in fear which is contrary to the 

 

            American way of doing business. 

 

                     There is no doubt in my mind that a 

 

            responsible financial institution such as 

 

            Capital One is fully prepared to enter into this      

 

            new chapter. 

 

                     Thank you. 

 

                     MS. MAKEBA:  Good morning.  I am Dwana 

 

            Makeba, a fourth generation New Orleanian. 

 

            After Hurricane Katrina, my business was one of       

 

            four businesses established on Bayou Road, a 

 



            commercial corridor located in the historic 

 

            Treme area.  Bayou Road is the oldest street in 

 

            the city of New Orleans that was originally a 

                                                                   

            bayou.  It led commerce from the river to the 

 

            lake, and currently, it still operates in that 

 

            capacity. 

 

                     My grandmother and her two sisters were 

 

            beauticians in the 9th Ward.  I grew up in an         

 

            environment that supported continuing tradition. 

 

            They instilled in me a level of passion and 

 

            pride, however, what my grandmother couldn't 

 

            teach me were the fundamentals of running a 

 

            successful business.  I have continued the           

 

            tradition, and now I am the owner of Beauty on 

 

            de Bayou Natural Hair Salon which has been open 

 

            since December of 2006. 

 

                     After Hurricane Katrina, not only the 

 

            businesses in my area but throughout the city         

 

            suffered and were underfunded.  Programs such as 

 

            Capital One's "Getting Down to Business for 

 

            Small Businesses" have been a positive 

 

            contribution to the community.  It has not only 

 

            afforded me the opportunity to continue the           

 

            tradition but to garner the tools necessary to 

 

            sustain and maintain the business. 

 

                     By continuing the tradition, I model 

 

            for others in my family and my community 

                                                                 



            principals of entrepreneurship and financial 

 

            independence.  Capital One's "Getting Down to 

 

            Business for Small Business" has helped my 

 

            business not only sustain itself but grow. 

 

                     One of the outcomes of the Capital One       

 

            program was for me to provide a work space and 

 

            opportunity for four other women.  The residual 

 

            income -- I mean the residual impact that came 

 

            from that was increased revenue and clientele 

 

            for the business.                                     

 

                     It is critical that the funding for 

 

            this program continues.  I am sure that others 

 

            can benefit from the level of support that I 

 

            received. 

 

                     In addition to the staff, I was able to      

 

            expand my natural product line, Makeba's 

 

            Magnifiscents.  In addition, I have improved my 

 

            personal and business credit, and as a result, 

 

            one of my credit limits was increased and the 

 

            APR was lowered.                                      

 

                     We have had several instructors to come 

 

            in and deliver great presentations, and we've 

 

            had a wide variety of materials covered from 

 

            human resources to Quick Books, personal and 

                                                                 

            business credit and even succession planning. 

 

            Those classes over the last seven months gave me 

 

            the necessary information to maximize the 

 



            potential of my business endeavor. 

 

                     Going into the program, I knew I was a       

 

            beautician, but I didn't have the skills or 

 

            tools necessary to be a good manager or 

 

            businessperson. 

 

                      I met with my business banker, 

 

            Ms. Laura Waguespack, who assisted me with            

 

            opening up several Capital One accounts so that 

 

            I could have a rainy day fund for my business 

 

            and separate the money that I was receiving. 

 

            Laura came to the salon and continues to check 

 

            on me regularly.  She is always thinking about        

 

            ways that I can realize the vision for my 

 

            business.  Even though I've graduated from the 

 

            program, we've established a long-lasting 

 

            relationship. 

 

                     The Quick Books class taught me to keep      

 

            up with my daily expenses and income, and now 

 

            I'm using a CPA for my business taxes. 

 

                     One of the benefits for having this 

 

            information presented in a classroom setting is 

                                                                   

            the bond and camaraderie among like-minded 

 

            individuals.  Even though our businesses vary 

 

            from catering to mortuary services, 

 

            construction, bed and breakfast, makeup studio 

 

            and copy and printing services, all were              

 

            business owners who shared a similar 

 



            determination and drive, but we needed 

 

            additional skills to make our businesses better. 

 

                     Now that the class is over, we still 

 

            utilize each other's services and products and        

 

            share information that will enhance our 

 

            businesses. 

 

                     In closing, the Capital One program 

 

            taught me business skills, provided mentorship, 

 

            improved financial fidelity and created an            

 

            ongoing relationship with my business mentor, 

 

            Mr. Mark Boucree, and my classmates.  I am 

 

            grateful for this, and I hope that numerous 

 

            others will have the same opportunity. 

 

                     Thank you.                                   

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very 

 

            much. 

 

                     MS. JOANNE PAGE:  My name is JoAnne 

 

            Page, and I'm the CEO of the Fortune Society in 

                                                                   

            New York City.  Thank you for the opportunity to 

 

            testify on behalf of Capital One. 

 

                     I've been the CEO of Fortune for the 

 

            past 22 years.  Fortune's over 40 years old, and 

 

            we serve about 3,000 men and women who are            

 

            coming home from incarceration.  About 

 

            95 percent of our client population is African 

 

            American and Latino. 

 

                     Almost everybody who's locked up comes 

 



            home, and nobody comes home a zero.  How people       

 

            come home either builds or tears down their 

 

            families or their communities, and our job is to 

 

            help people come home as resources to their 

 

            communities. 

 

                     Over the years, we've developed a range      

 

            of services for one-shop stopping.  About ten 

 

            years ago, we realized we needed to start 

 

            providing housing so we bought an abandoned 

 

            building in West Harlem and we turned it into a 

 

            residence called The Castle for about 60 men and      

 

            women coming home from prison homeless. 

 

                     We needed more housing, and in 2001, we 

 

            didn't have the capacity.  In 2010, we opened a 

 

            new residence called Castle Gardens which houses 

                                                                   

            about 200 people, 114 apartments.  Part of the 

 

            building is supportive housing for men and women 

 

            who were formerly incarcerated and homeless. 

 

            Part of the building is affordable housing 

 

            because West Harlem has lost much of its              

 

            affordable housing.  And the affordable housing 

 

            is targeted toward people who are earning 40 to 

 

            60 percent of their median income.  People pay 

 

            rent as little as $215, but nobody pays more 

 

            than 30 percent of their income.                      

 

                     Fortune's relationship with Capital One 

 

            goes back to 2008 when we needed to get 

 



            financing for this building, and my letter about 

 

            that relationship is submitted as part of the 

 

            record.  It's kind of in the nature of a love         

 

            letter.  I've never written a love letter to a 

 

            bank.  I've dealt with a lot of banks over my 22 

 

            years.  And the reason for that is that it's 

 

            both a business and a community development 

 

            reason for the love letter.                           

 

                     A $43 million project.  Low-income 

 

            housing tax credits were a large part of the 

 

            financing.  Capital One and Hudson Housing 

 

            worked together to bring that in. 

                                                                  

                     We closed on the financing in December 

 

            of 2008.  It was quite a time to do it.  It was 

 

            like riding a roller coaster.  My hair turned 

 

            white, my stomach kept jumping. 

 

                     We saw a lot of other important             

 

            projects go down because the financing wouldn't 

 

            stick to the original price so the pricing that 

 

            we had ended up being above market, and as the 

 

            market kept falling, it stayed there so Capital 

 

            One kept their promise to us, they kept their         

 

            commitment, and the market didn't warrant it. 

 

                     If we had had our price adjusted to 

 

            match what the price was at the time that we 

 

            closed, it either would have ended our project 

 

            or gutted it, and they kept their price, they         

 



            kept their word.  So I'm grateful to them for 

 

            business reasons. 

 

                     I'm also grateful to them for community 

 

            development reasons.  They've been a partner of 

 

            ours since 2008.  The partnership has ranged          

 

            from helping support our benefits to helping us 

 

            do some financial planning to giving us a video 

 

            that is a marketing tool and a documentation of 

 

            what we've done, and we're going to be honoring 

                                                                    

            them at our benefit in November. 

 

                     The staff is extraordinary.  Dorothy 

 

            Broadman heads a staff that includes people like 

 

            Fabian, like Mary Adelle who not only do the 

 

            work with us really well but care passionately.       

 

            Dorothy brought her mother to see the play about 

 

            the lives of some of our clients.  It's that 

 

            level of personal investment, and it makes a 

 

            real difference in our community. 

 

                     What I'd like to do is introduce Alvin       

 

            Entzminger who is one of our residents at Castle 

 

            Gardens to give an idea of the human impact of 

 

            what Capital One has helped to create. 

 

                     MR. ALVIN ENTZMINGER:  My name is Alvin 

 

            Entzminger.  I'm resident of Castle Gardens, and      

 

            I thank you today.  I thank you, Federal 

 

            Reserve. 

 

                     Ms. Braunstein, I hear words like 

 



            "reconciliation," what works, what doesn't work, 

 

            an excellent question you posed to Mr. Carr this      

 

            morning. 

 

                     To keep it brief, two years ago, I did 

 

            not work.  I was spending decades in prison, 

 

            emerged homeless, jobless and almost a detriment 

                                                              

            to society.  Enter the Fortune Society. 

 

                     I move into the castle, a safe 

 

            environment, a place to stay.  I volunteered my 

 

            services as a teacher for the Fortune Society, 

 

            producing other productive citizens and               

 

            productive members of society.  I teach the GED. 

 

                     I eventually transitioned to the Castle 

 

            Gardens where I now live, and it is because of 

 

            Capital One with that financing of $43 million 

 

            that allowed Castle Gardens to exist, but what        

 

            you don't see is the exponential benefit of one 

 

            person living in a place like this and working 

 

            and producing other productive citizens of 

 

            society. 

 

                     I now have a place to live.  Thank you,      

 

            Capital One.  My God, thank you.  And I now work 

 

            for Laguardia and Daemen College in New York, 

 

            and it's because of that burden of not having a 

 

            place to live.  Being homeless is a burden.  I 

 

            have a safe, supportive, affordable housing unit      

 

            to live in, and I do not have the burden of 

 



            where I'm going to live, where I'm going to eat, 

 

            and I've worked and I've produced over 30 

 

            diplomas in the past year and a half so there's 

                                                                       

            some other productive members of society. 

 

                     And what happens?  I who was once a 

 

            detriment to society am now a working, 

 

            productive member of society.  I paid taxes last 

 

            year and enjoyed every dime of it.  And again, I      

 

            thank you.  Capital One, I thank you.  They must 

 

            have this merger and reproduce their services 

 

            all over the country, and I just thank you. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you for 

 

            your testimony.                                       

 

                     Mr. Rowe. 

 

                     MR. CHRISTOPHER ROWE:  Good morning.  I 

 

            am Christopher Rowe, a graduate of the Capital 

 

            One Student Internship Program. 

 

                     Now, while I'm not a CEO or president        

 

            of a large organization, nor do I have various 

 

            statistics to tell you guys today, I would like 

 

            to share my personal experiences with Capital 

 

            One. 

 

                     Now, growing up, I always thought I          

 

            wanted to be a lawyer maybe because of Law and 

 

            Order SVU, but after my junior year when Capital 

 

            One came to my school, I realized, you know, 

 

            maybe law isn't what I want to get into. 

                                                                   



                     Now, in a nutshell, the Capital One 

 

            internship program is a collection of ten 

 

            students per year, and we participate in various 

 

            banking activities like that range from teller 

 

            work or relationship banking work which is            

 

            customer service and opening accounts and things 

 

            along that line. 

 

                      Now, after one year of working for 

 

            Capital One, I am now majoring in marketing and 

 

            information systems so after just one short year      

 

            of working for Capital One, I changed my life. 

 

            And before Capital One, I used to be considered 

 

            a social wreck.  I wasn't the most social person 

 

            in high school, but as you can see today, I'm 

 

            comfortable speaking in front of a large crowd        

 

            and I'm not as nervous as I would have been two 

 

            years ago. 

 

                     And also, the Capital One experience 

 

            wasn't always financial based; it was also a big 

 

            factor of college work.                               

 

                     During the summer, we visited different 

 

            colleges just to see what college life was like, 

 

            what dorm food was like and just things along 

 

            that line.  And we also had the responsibility 

                                                                    

            of teaching financial education to members of 

 

            the community and members of my own high school. 

 

                     As a graduate of the program, I still 

 



            try my best to give back to the community, like 

 

            this past summer, I was a part of a six-week          

 

            program that went around New York City teaching 

 

            young adults ranging from 14 to 24 the 

 

            importance of financial independence and 

 

            financial literacy. 

 

                     Now, a lot of the arguments from the         

 

            opposing -- I don't know what you would call it 

 

            but the opposing sides of Capital One say, well, 

 

            the gap between the rich and the poor is only 

 

            getting larger, but I believe that if given a 

 

            chance, Capital One can instill the tools in          

 

            people like me to go out into the communities 

 

            that we live in and maybe close the gap between 

 

            the rich and the poor.  So I am fully in favor 

 

            of the Capital One-ING merger. 

 

                     And that's all I have.  Thank you again      

 

            for allowing me to speak on behalf of Capital 

 

            One. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     Mr. Zeiler. 

                                                                  

                     MR. JOHN ZEILER:  Good morning.  That's 

 

            a tough act to follow.  Congratulations. 

 

                     My name is John Zeiler.  I'm the CEO of 

 

            Hudson Housing Capital, a private sector firm 

 

            focused on financing affordable housing               

 

            nationwide. 

 



                     My firm has an extensive track record 

 

            with Capital One and their program to invest  in 

 

            affordable housing which in my experience 

 

            extends far beyond their CRA obligations.             

 

                     Their investment consistently reflects 

 

            an innovative approach both in the financing 

 

            techniques employed that provide more dollars to 

 

            the developments and thereby leveraging scarce 

 

            public subsidies and by their initiative to           

 

            significantly expand investments during the 

 

            financial crisis over the past five years, a 

 

            time when most other banking institutions were 

 

            dramatically scaling back. 

 

                     Capital One has also been highly             

 

            innovative in their willingness to finance 

 

            social service programs that are key to 

 

            improving the lives of residents and thereby 

 

            making the housing sustainable for the long 

                                                              

            term. 

 

                     Hudson Housing Capital is a financial 

 

            intermediary between affordable housing 

 

            developers and financial institutions that want 

 

            to invest in housing and rely on the low-income       

 

            housing tax credits for its equity.  We source 

 

            the transactions and asset manage the 

 

            investments for the 15-year regulatory 

 

            compliance period. 

 



                     Hudson focuses on development in urban       

 

            areas, and many of our developments are with 

 

            mission-driven, non-profit organizations that 

 

            specialize in the development of affordable 

 

            housing and provide social services to 

 

            residents.                                            

 

                     Since 2007, we've worked closely with 

 

            Capital One in the implementation of their 

 

            community development programming, and during 

 

            this time, we have invested on their behalf in 

 

            over 6,000 apartment units and 60 properties          

 

            including the Fortune Society Castle project 

 

            which represents over $607 million in equity and 

 

            asset values of $1.25 billion. 

 

                     During this period, Capital One has 

                                                                

            expanded their LIHTC investments at a time when 

 

            others were retracting.  Since 2008, the demand 

 

            for LIHTC investments has been hobbled by the 

 

            turmoil in the financial markets. 

 

                     A $10-million-per-year equity market         

 

            contracted to $5 million literally overnight. 

 

                     The GSEs have halted new investments 

 

            along with many other financial institutions, 

 

            and there was a severe contraction in the 

 

            ability to finance new projects.                      

 

                     The problem was so acute that even with 

 

            additional resources from the Federal Government 

 



            including the ARRA and other funds, many deals 

 

            were delayed or tabled. 

 

                     There were many LIHTC transactions           

 

            where the intermediaries had begun to fund the 

 

            transaction and the financial institution that 

 

            was slated to make the subsequent capital 

 

            contributions was not willing or able to meet 

 

            their obligations.                                    

 

                     Capital One aggressively stepped into 

 

            this breach and honored the deals made between 

 

            other financial institutions and developers. 

 

            These actions ensured that construction could 

                                                                   

            continue on stalled transactions and that the 

 

            long-term viability of the developments would be 

 

            protected with the required financing. 

 

                     One high-profile transaction was the 

 

            parkside development in the Anacostia                 

 

            neighborhood of Washington, D.C., a 316-unit 

 

            apartment complex that received an allocation of 

 

            tax-exempt bonds and credits along with city 

 

            subsidies. 

 

                    The original developer reneged after         

 

            making an initial payment.  The rehabilitation 

 

            was stalled until Capital One agreed to fulfill 

 

            the outstanding obligations of others. 

 

                     In the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina, 

 

            Capital One made the first affordable housing         

 



            investment in the New Orleans rebuilding 

 

            initiative even before the requisite regulations 

 

            were in place. 

 

                     Under this frontier of conditions, 

 

            Capital One invested $13 million of equity in         

 

            Walnut Square, a 209-unit development in East 

 

            New Orleans.  And they have subsequently 

 

            invested in 15 other new construction 

 

            developments in Louisiana. 

                                                                   

                     Capital One's approach in completing 

 

            the Walnut Square deal is emblematic of their 

 

            corporate MO to be hands on in the initiation of 

 

            relationships with developers, the structuring 

 

            of the transaction and in proactively reaching        

 

            out to housing finance agencies, housing 

 

            authorities and other governmental agencies that 

 

            allocate resources.  Capital One's commitment to 

 

            these organizations and agencies carries a very 

 

            high level of credibility which has great import      

 

            in these uncertain times. 

 

                     In sum, Capital One has been 

 

            responsive, transparent and innovative in their 

 

            approach to fostering affordable housing in the 

 

            past five years and have made the goal of             

 

            high-quality, safe, affordable housing for 

 

            low-and-moderate-income families a reality. 

 

                     I hope this is useful information. 

 



            Thank you. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very         

 

            much for your testimony. 

 

                     Any questions for this panel? 

 

                     Okay.  Thank you very much. 

 

                     Welcome to this panel.  Just as a 

                                                                 

            reminder, please begin your statement by stating 

 

            your name for the record and your affiliation, 

 

            talk directly into a microphone so the court 

 

            reporter can hear your statement, and please 

 

            keep an eye on the timekeeper.  You each have         

 

            five minutes, and we'll begin. 

 

                      MR. SALVATORE D'AVOLA:  Good morning. 

 

            I'm Salvatore D'Avola, Executive Director of 

 

            Neighborhood Restore and Restored Homes Housing 

 

            Development Funds Corporation, two affiliated         

 

            not-for-profit housing development organizations 

 

            that work in many New York City 

 

            low-and-moderate-income neighborhoods in the 

 

            City of New York in its efforts to stabilize 

 

            communities the hardest hit by the foreclosure        

 

            crisis. 

 

                     I'm here today to testify about Capital 

 

            One Bank's community development activities in 

 

            New York City, specifically their involvement in 

 

            and commitment to my organization's affordable        

 

            housing efforts. 

 



                     I'm overseeing two programs, the Asset 

 

            Control Area Program and the Real Estate Homes 

 

            or REO program.  Restored Homes seeks to address 

                                                                  

            the destabilizing effects that the foreclosure 

 

            crisis has had on certain New York City 

 

            neighborhoods by acquiring HUD-owned and 

 

            bank-foreclosed distressed properties, 

 

            addressing the physical needs of the homes and        

 

            selling them at affordable prices to low and 

 

            moderate-income buyers who otherwise might not 

 

            have had the opportunity to purchase a home. 

 

                      By requiring the purchasers to live in 

 

            the home, Restored Homes is stabilizing               

 

            neighborhoods block by block.  We occupy the 

 

            homes with families who have gone through 

 

            intensive homeownership counseling and training 

 

            and we have provided affordable fixed-rate 

 

            mortgages.                                            

 

                     Capital One's involvement with Restored 

 

            Home stems from its participation in a credit 

 

            facility that committed $45 million in private 

 

            financing for the acquisition and rehabilitation 

 

            of HUD-foreclosed homes to the asset control          

 

            area of our program, allocating 9.5 million or 

 

            21.1 percent of the total commitments which was 

 

            the second-largest amount of committed funds in 

 

            that credit facility. 

                                                                



                     In addition, Capital One is one of the 

 

            small number of lenders providing mortgage loans 

 

            to our buyers.  They have a portfolio of 

 

            mortgage products, the Affordable Mortgage 

 

            Program, that targets low and moderate-income         

 

            buyers, offering grants towards closing costs, 

 

            minimum down payments of 3 percent and no 

 

            requirement for private mortgage insurance. 

 

            This program is overseen by a small dedicated 

 

            staff which allows for more streamlined and           

 

            efficient mortgage loan approval process. 

 

                     Lastly, Capital One provides profit and 

 

            in-kind support to Restored Homes.  Over the 

 

            past few years, the Capital One Foundation has 

 

            with awarded Restored Homes grants to further         

 

            its mission. 

 

                     Since 2007, Capital One has been 

 

            represented on the Restored Homes Board of 

 

            Directors by one of its community lending vice 

 

            presidents, Mariadele Priest, who is currently        

 

            serving her third term as president of the 

 

            Board. 

 

                     Thank you for providing me with the 

 

            opportunity to testify before you today. 

                                                                

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     MR. ALEX FORRESTER:  Good morning.  My 

 

            name is Alex Forrester.  I am the Chief 

 



            Operations Officer at Rising Tide Capital. 

 

                     I have prepared these remarks in             

 

            reference to Capital One's recent application to 

 

            acquire ING Direct and to testify to the 

 

            sustained charitable support our non-profit 

 

            organization has received over the years from 

 

            Capital One as a result of their strong               

 

            commitment to the economic empowerment of 

 

            low-income individuals and communities by 

 

            providing economic development. 

 

                     Rising Tide Capital is a non-profit 

 

            organization based in Jersey City, New Jersey         

 

            whose mission is to assist low-income 

 

            individuals and communities to build strong 

 

            businesses, transform lives, strength families 

 

            and build sustainable communities. 

 

                     We achieve our mission by providing          

 

            in-home training and coaching and business 

 

            management and planning specifically tailored to 

 

            the education and experience level of low-income 

 

            entrepreneurs. 

                                                                    

                     The goal is to create jobs and economic 

 

            opportunity in low-income neighborhoods and to 

 

            assist poor and working poor families to achieve 

 

            financial self-sufficiency. 

 

                     We are proud to say that as of this          

 

            writing, we already have 193 open businesses in 

 



            and around Jersey City. 

 

                     The average entrepreneur at Rising Tide 

 

            Capital is a 39-year-old single mother of two 

 

            children earning less than $43,000 per year.  89      

 

            percent of our entrepreneurs are minorities, and 

 

            75 percent are women. 

 

                     Since 2008, Capital One has been 

 

            providing annual support for our business 

 

            training and technical assistance programs            

 

            through charitable grants, corporate volunteers, 

 

            professional development scholarships and 

 

            donated program space. 

 

                     Capital One has distinguished itself in 

 

            our eyes by the thoughtfulness and depth of           

 

            engagement it pursues with its non-profit 

 

            partners.  Not every bank, for example, is 

 

            willing to pay its staff to keep bank branches 

 

            open late as Capital One has to host three-month 

                                                                

            business training classes at night. 

 

                     While financial support is of critical 

 

            importance, Capital One's practice of 

 

            establishing collaborative problem-solving 

 

            partnerships with community development               

 

            non-profits significantly increases the impact 

 

            of its charitable initiatives. 

 

                     In addition to the direct support we 

 

            have received, we have also been able to witness 

 



            Capital One's strategic and systematic support        

 

            of a national microenterprises development 

 

            industry through significant sustained financial 

 

            support of our trade association, The 

 

            Association For Enterprise Opportunity.  This 

 

            support is further leveraged by forward-level         

 

            engagement by Capital One employees. 

 

                     Rising Tide Capital is proud of its 

 

            partnership with Capital One and grateful for 

 

            their uniquely-focused dedication to economic 

 

            opportunity for low-income individuals in             

 

            communities across the nation. 

 

                     We hope that they have the opportunity 

 

            to grow this commitment over time and to 

 

            continue to promote the powerful role of 

        

            redevelopment and community revitalization. 

 

                     Thank you. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very 

 

            much. 

 

                     MR. MARK McDERMOTT:  Good morning.  How      

 

            are you guys holding up over there? 

 

                     My name's Mark McDermott, and I'm a 

 

            vice president and a market leader for Ohio for 

 

            Enterprise Community Partners. 

 

                     Enterprise is a national organization        

 

            committed to providing opportunities for 

 

            low-and-moderate-income people by making decent, 

 



            affordable housing available in strong, vibrant 

 

            communities where people can move up and out of 

 

            poverty.  And since 1982, we've invested more         

 

            than $11 billion for helping to build over 

 

            300,000 homes across the United States. 

 

                     More importantly, within those homes, 

 

            up to a million people have had the opportunity 

 

            to transform their lives by being able to move        

 

            up and out of poverty. 

 

                     We testify today to highlight how 

 

            Enterprise and Capital One have partnered over 

 

            the years, and it's been a long relationship. 

                                                                   

            Our work would not be possible without the 

 

            active and responsive private sector 

 

            institutions like Capital One, a bank that's 

 

            continually showed its commitment to providing 

 

            better opportunities for low-income households.       

 

                     Today, our nation faces a critical 

 

            shortage of affordable housing amid a recession 

 

            that's left people out in a struggling economy. 

 

                     According to the National Housing 

 

            Coalition's annual report, Out of Reach, no           

 

            household earning the minimum wage can afford 

 

            even a modest apartment at the federal fair 

 

            market rent anywhere in the United States of 

 

            America.  That's no household. 

 

                     The shortage of affordable rental            

 



            apartments combined with continuing unemployment 

 

            and falling wages have made families with 

 

            children the nation's fastest-growing segment of 

 

            the homeless. 

 

                     So what do we do during times like           

 

            these?  Against this backdrop of great need, 

 

            Capital One has contributed equity, loan and 

 

            grant support to Enterprise and to organizations 

 

            like ours that help make affordable housing 

                                                                 

            possible. 

 

                     In less than a decade, Capital One's 

 

            invested nearly $200 million in low-income 

 

            housing tax credits through Enterprise alone, 

 

            helping to develop 22,000 affordable homes.           

 

            90 percent of them are affordable to families 

 

            earning 80 percent of median income, and more 

 

            importantly, 50 percent of those homes are 

 

            affordable to families earning less than 

 

            60 percent of median income and about a third of      

 

            those rental properties are made available with 

 

            supportive services in order to serve the most 

 

            needy. 

 

                     I've seen the direct results of Capital 

 

            One's leadership around the country, but I'd          

 

            like to discuss its impact on one particular 

 

            area today where a few folks have already talked 

 

            about this morning, and that's the Gulf Coast 

 



            region. 

 

                     Enterprise went to work in the Gulf          

 

            Coast region immediately after the 2005 

 

            hurricanes, and Capital One has been vital to 

 

            our rebuilding efforts.  In the Lafitte 

 

            neighborhood, one of New Orleans' oldest housing 

                                                                    

            developments, was in serious disrepair even 

 

            before Katrina hit, and after the storm, 

 

            Enterprise with local partners pledged to bring 

 

            back all 900 subsidized units and to assure that 

 

            all Lafitte residents would have the opportunity      

 

            to return to a decent, safe and vital 

 

            neighborhood and great home.  And earlier this 

 

            year, Enterprise and our partners helped 

 

            celebrate the reopening of the first project of 

 

            134 units with the next phase under already way.      

 

                     Let me just tell you the story of a 

 

            woman named Imelda Paul.  Imelda is a 

 

            75-year-old grandmother of eight, a passionate 

 

            community advocate who's lived in the historic 

 

            neighborhood for more than three decades, and         

 

            she's the president of the Lafitte Resident 

 

            Council.  She took a pivotal role in making sure 

 

            that the rebuilding of Lafitte was done in a way 

 

            that benefited the community.  She emphasized 

 

            the need for good schools, safe places to play        

 

            and medical care and especially for families 

 



            with children. 

 

                     She said, "People want to come home, 

 

            but we can't have people living in the same 

                                                                    

            conditions that they were living in before 

 

            Lafitte.  We're tired of the patch jobs.  If we 

 

            bring people back, we want to make sure they can 

 

            return to a safe environment." 

 

                     And at Lafitte's grand opening, no           

 

            one's smile was brighter than Ms. Paul's because 

 

            she saw what this kind of partnership can do. 

 

                     Capital One stepped in early following 

 

            the storms also to help Enterprise's partners 

 

            create the Enterprise Louisiana Loan Fund.  They      

 

            put in $5 million which enabled the funds to 

 

            provide much-needed redevelopment acquisition 

 

            financing to developers to build new housing in 

 

            the Gulf. 

 

                     And in addition, as has been mentioned       

 

            just now, Capital One's low-interest portfolio 

 

            of mortgage products, very unique right now. 

 

            It's helping moderate-income working families 

 

            purchase new, newly-built or renovated homes. 

 

                     Creating affordable housing in relevant      

 

            communities requires thoughtfully-tailored 

 

            approaches, and Capital One understands that, 

 

            and their creative leadership makes innovative, 

 

            targeted solutions possible. 

 



                     Capital One also works with Enterprise 

 

            in places like New York, Dallas and Baltimore 

 

            doing very much the same work. 

 

                     So in conclusion, Enterprise turns to 

 

            Capital One as a trusted resource contributing        

 

            both financial and human capital to help us 

 

            implement and identify community solutions 

 

            around the country with partners that do this 

 

            stuff right.  We look forward to our continued 

 

            relationship with Capital One.                        

 

                     Thank you very much. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very 

 

            much for your testimony. 

 

                     Any questions for this panel? 

 

                     Okay.  Thank you very much.                  

 

                     At this point, we are going to take a 

 

            break for an hour until 1:00 o'clock. 

 

                     Also, I would let people, the audience, 

 

            know that there will be boxed lunches outside 

 

            this room that people are welcome to help             

 

            themselves to.  We know the weather is bad and 

 

            there's not a lot of places close by so feel 

 

            free to enjoy the hospitality of the Federal 

 

            Reserve Bank of Chicago.  And we will reconvene 

                                                              

            the hearing at 1:00 o'clock. 

 

                    (Whereupon, a luncheon recess 

 

                     was taken.) 

 



                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  We're going to 

 

            get started.  We're going to reconvene, and           

 

            we're going back on the record. 

 

                     Welcome to the next panel.  For the 

 

            housekeeping rules, could you please make sure 

 

            when it's your time to speak that you speak into 

 

            a microphone so everyone can hear you,                

 

            especially our court reporter.  And please begin 

 

            your statement by saying your name and 

 

            affiliation. 

 

                     And lastly, also try to keep one eye on 

 

            the timekeeper.  There is that little box with        

 

            the three lights at the top.  The yellow light 

 

            will come on when you have one minute left, and 

 

            then, of course, the red light and there will be 

 

            a beep that will happen when your time is up. 

 

            So we would ask you to try to hold to your time.      

 

            Each speaker has five minutes.  And we'll start 

 

            with Connie. 

 

                     MS. CONNIE EVANS:  Thank you. 

 

                     Good afternoon.  I'm Connie Evans.  I'm 

         

            president and CEO of the Association For 

 

            Enterprise Opportunity, AEO. 

 

                     On August 9th of 2011, we submitted a 

 

            letter to Adam Drimer of the Federal Reserve 

 

            Bank of Richmond.  I will be reading that letter      

 

            now into these proceedings. 

 



                     Dear Mr. Drimer, I'm writing to you in 

 

            my capacity as president and CEO of the 

 

            Association For Enterprise Opportunity, AEO, a 

 

            national not-for-profit trade association             

 

            representing the interests of underserved 

 

            entrepreneurs across the United States. 

 

                     AEO's more than 450 members provide 

 

            capital and services to underserved 

 

            entrepreneurs in every state as well as the           

 

            District of Columbia and Puerto Rico.  In the 

 

            two decades since AEO was founded, AEO and its 

 

            hundreds of member organizations have helped 

 

            more than 2 million entrepreneurs support 

 

            themselves and their families as they contribute      

 

            to communities through business ownership. 

 

                     As you and your colleagues evaluate 

 

            Capital One's application to acquire ING Direct, 

 

            I wanted to make you aware of Capital One's 

       

            engagement with AEO and our mission. 

 

                     Capital One supports AEO, our members 

 

            and our mission in three ways:  Direct financial 

 

            support, in-kind services and capacity building; 

 

            leadership and guidance through AEO's Board of        

 

            Directors.  In particular, Daniel Delehanty, a 

 

            vice president of Capital One's Community 

 

            Development Banking Unit, contributes 

 

            significant time and energy to AEO and our 

 



            mission in his role as a member of the AEO Board      

 

            of Directors. 

 

                     Capital One has provided AEO with 

 

            financial support for our annual national 

 

            conference and for member programming.  The 

 

            value of Capital One's annual contribution has        

 

            steadily increased over the past few years.  As 

 

            an example, Capital One was a gold sponsor of 

 

            AEO's 20th Anniversary National Conference in 

 

            2011. 

 

                     Capital One's financial support also         

 

            extended to our members as the bank provided ten 

 

            scholarships for the conference and training. 

 

                     In addition to the conference, Capital 

 

            One also underwrote a monthly series of training 

                                                                  

            webinars for our members so that information in 

 

            high-impact practices are disseminated amongst 

 

            practitioners. 

 

                     In addition to financial support, 

 

            Capital One has provided in-kind support for our      

 

            work and invested in building capacity of AEO's 

 

            management team. 

 

                     Capital One's corporate branding team 

 

            provided pro bono design services for AEO's 

 

            seminal report, The Power of One in Three.            

 

                     Earlier this year, Capital One opened 

 

            its internal management training program to AEO 

 



            and several other non-profit organizations.  For 

 

            six months, we attended seminars with other 

 

            non-profit leaders and worked with professional       

 

            coaches from the Capital One team. 

 

                     Finally, Daniel Delehanty for Capital 

 

            One has been an active member of AEO's Board of 

 

            Directors for the last three years.  Prior to 

 

            joining the Board, Daniel represented Capital         

 

            One on AEO's National Advisory Council.  Daniel 

 

            joined the Board when AEO's was in distress.  He 

 

            has worked hard with me and the other board 

 

            members to ensure a successful turnaround in the 

                                                            

            organization so that our critical mission of 

 

            better reaching underserved entrepreneurs would 

 

            not be compromised. 

 

                     Capital One's support of AEO and our 

 

            mission and many, many of our members has been        

 

            and continues to be critical for our work on 

 

            behalf of underserved entrepreneurs. 

 

                     Please do not hesitate to contact me 

 

            with any questions, and again, this is signed, 

 

            Sincerely, Connie Evans.  Thank you.                  

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     MR. FRED JOHNSON:  Thank you, Federal 

 

            Board, for allowing us to come, and I want to 

 

            thank Capital One for inviting me to speak about 

 

            the relationships we've had that have been very       

 



            fruitful. 

 

                     My name is Fred Johnson, and I am the 

 

            CEO of the New Orleans Neighborhood Development 

 

            Foundation in New Orleans, Louisiana. 

 

                     We've been in the business of teaching       

 

            and training first-time home buyers since 1986, 

 

            and we started with a ratio of 70 percent of 

 

            people own and 30 percent of people rent, and, 

 

            of course, we had to go to the lenders to get 

                                                                 

            some help so that we could break those ratios 

 

            down. 

 

                     Prior to Capital One, we had a 

 

            relationship with Hibernia.  That relationship 

 

            segued right into the Capital One experience,         

 

            and we have not had a bad experience. 

 

                     We have Mark Boucree who is on our 

 

            board who has not only seen to it that we've 

 

            gotten financial assistance, but Mark has put in 

 

            a tremendous amount of time in terms of               

 

            expertise and experience on how we build better 

 

            neighborhoods, affordable housing, financial 

 

            fitness for low-to-moderate-income buyers, and 

 

            most of these buyers are 80 percent of median 

 

            income, female head of household, two children,       

 

            and what we primarily see the fit is is a fit in 

 

            terms of breaking poverty. 

 

                     We know that in America, wealth is 

 



            passed primarily through real estate, and we 

 

            feel that the more people we can educate not          

 

            only to get in the house but to maintain a house 

 

            and then create that asset so that these women 

 

            will one day have something that they can pass 

 

            on to their children. 

                                                                    

                     So we have had a long-running 

 

            relationship with Capital One, and I think that 

 

            the more the bank can get, the more the bank can 

 

            do. 

 

                     We have a relationship whereby we have       

 

            an annual house party.  Because they're a 

 

            501(c)(3), you're always on the door, you're 

 

            always begging so what we try to do is we try to 

 

            make certain that we can evidence that we help 

 

            sustain ourselves, and we give an annual house        

 

            party. 

 

                     Capital One sees to it that not only 

 

            did we have the house party in the main branch, 

 

            but we've also had it in other branches, and 

 

            they saw fit to come in when it wasn't in their       

 

            branch to support it and make certain that it 

 

            would be a successful event. 

 

                     So I think that the relationship with 

 

            Capital One is a good one.  We have had the 

 

            experience of providing fixed-rate mortgages          

 

            with no foreclosures, and I think that the fit 

 



            is a good fit so I say to the Board again thank 

 

            you, I say to Capital One thank you, and we want 

 

            to see that this works in Capital One's best 

                                                                 

            interest. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     Mr. Sanders. 

 

                     MR. SAMUEL SANDERS:  Good afternoon. 

 

            My name is Samuel Sanders.  I'm the Executive         

 

            Director for the Mid City Redevelopment Alliance 

 

            of Baton Rouge, Louisiana. 

 

                     I submitted a letter also earlier in 

 

            the month of August to Mr. Drimer, and I'll just 

 

            read excerpts from it and then depart from it a       

 

            little bit and share just some recent 

 

            experiences we've had with Capital One. 

 

                     Mid City Redevelopment Alliance is a 

 

            non-profit organization that was created in 

 

            1991.  It was established by Baton Rouge General      

 

            Medical Center which was an interesting 

 

            initiative for them to come out into the 

 

            community and create a non-profit organization 

 

            to focus on community revitalization. 

 

                     When they set out on that mission,           

 

            their ultimate goal was to allow us to one day 

 

            separate from them, becoming fully owned by the 

 

            community that we served, and in order for that 

 

            to happen, they felt that we would be relying on 

                                                                 



            a number of financial institutions and others to 

 

            come and step forward and support this 

 

            initiative that they helped to launch. 

 

                     Capital One and prior Hibernia has been 

 

            a partner.  They've been at the table the entire      

 

            time.  They have single handedly allowed us to 

 

            engage in a few initiatives that we would not 

 

            have been able to, just not being able to secure 

 

            the funds to make certain initiatives happen. 

 

                    One example is we launched a VITA            

 

            operation, Voluntary Income Tax Assistance 

 

            Initiative, in 2004, and in organizing that, we 

 

            needed financial support to help launch the 

 

            initiative, to help attract the individuals that 

 

            wanted to serve and make them aware of earning        

 

            income tax credit and the services that were 

 

            available.  These services had been offered 

 

            throughout the city through our Community 

 

            Services Department, and they had largely gone 

 

            unused and on a significant level.                    

 

                     What we wanted to do was to coordinate 

 

            a collaborative that would allow us to give more 

 

            of a brand and awareness in the community, and 

 

            we have since been able to do that.  And I can 

                                                                 

            say at this point for the past two years that it 

 

            has been single handedly funded by Capital One 

 

            Bank.  Without that support, that initiative 

 



            would have died two years ago. 

 

                     We had a number of institutions who          

 

            were engaged, but they since have backed out not 

 

            because they were not supportive of the 

 

            initiative, but with things being the way they 

 

            are, decisions have to be made on where best to 

 

            support, and Capital One decided this was an          

 

            initiative worthy for them to continue 

 

            supporting. 

 

                     In addition, they have also made their 

 

            pro bono services available to us.  And any 

 

            non-profit that has ever come before you to talk      

 

            about what they need and get you to give free 

 

            services to help them do whatever it is that 

 

            they do, they take advantage of it, and I can 

 

            say that we've had a great experience with 

 

            Capital One Bank over the years.                      

 

                     We also do home buyer education and 

 

            counseling.  They've been an integral part of 

 

            all of the work that we do, sending loan 

 

            officers to participate in the classes as well 

                                                              

            as to meet with counselors, with clients, also 

 

            advising our clients and our counselors that are 

 

            engaging in various discussions with the clients 

 

            as well and participating in community outreach 

 

            events.  Whenever we call, they always answer         

 

            the call. 

 



                     I think in this situation, in their 

 

            attempt to acquire an additional bank, if 

 

            they're going into communities where they do not 

 

            have a presence, that means that those                

 

            communities will actually benefit from Capital 

 

            One's presence because they have truly 

 

            demonstrated that they are a community partner. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     Ms. Santiago.                                

 

                     MS. SANTIAGO:  Thank you. 

 

                     Good afternoon.  My name is Theresa 

 

            Santiago, and I'm the Director of BOC Network, 

 

            Business Outreach Center Network, in New York 

 

            City. 

 

                     And I, too, will read a letter 

 

            submitted to Mr. Drimer in August.  On behalf of 

 

            the Business Center Outreach Network, BOC 

 

            Network, a microenterprise and small business 

                                                                   

            development organization with an affiliate CDFI 

 

            microloan fund, I write in support of Capital 

 

            One's application to acquire ING Direct. 

 

                     BOC Network has had a meaningful 

 

            long-term relationship with Capital One which         

 

            has furthered our growth as an organization 

 

            dedicated to helping minority, immigrant and 

 

            women entrepreneurs to launch, stabilize and 

 

            grow their businesses. 

 



                     BOC Network serves low/moderate-income       

 

            communities through its network of local 

 

            Business Network Outreach Centers in seven 

 

            immigrant, minority and low-income neighborhoods 

 

            throughout New York City and in Newark, New 

 

            Jersey.                                               

 

                     BOC staff includes speakers of more 

 

            than ten languages with deep ties to local 

 

            communities typically isolated from the 

 

            mainstream economy. 

 

                     Affiliate, BOC Capital Corp, is a CDFI       

 

            and SBA microlender dedicated to providing 

 

            flexible financing to entrepreneurs of small 

 

            businesses locked out of conventional credit 

 

            markets. 

                                                              

                     Our services range from financial 

 

            education and microenterprise development 

 

            assistance to job creation for low-income 

 

            individuals through green business development. 

 

                     Capital One stands out as a financial        

 

            institution with an in-depth understanding of 

 

            the microenterprise development field as well as 

 

            the challenges of community-based organizations 

 

            dedicated to meeting the business development 

 

            needs of low-income communities and                   

 

            disadvantaged groups. 

 

                     BOC Network and its affiliate CDFI, BOC 

 



            Capital Corp, have worked collaboratively with 

 

            Capital One to develop and advance 

 

            microenterprise technical assistance, training        

 

            and lending programs and expand financial 

 

            services available to disadvantaged groups. 

 

                     Capital One has assisted BOC Network 

 

            through both its community development 

 

            activities and local branch network to expand         

 

            resources for minority and immigrant 

 

            entrepreneur and local businesses. 

 

                     As a case in point, Capital One helped 

 

            BOC expand and replicate BOC's holistic child 

                                                                 

            care business development program to two 

 

            high-need communities, Cypress Hills in Brooklyn 

 

            and the Lower East Side of Manhattan. 

 

                     Capital One played a unique role in 

 

            creating a strategic alliance among                   

 

            complimentary non-profit organizations as well 

 

            as providing tangible support. 

 

                      Following that effort, Capital One 

 

            provided the tools for BOC Network to implement 

 

            an individual development accounts program for        

 

            home-based child care providers.  BOC Network's 

 

            child care business development project now 

 

            operates in seven New York City neighborhoods 

 

            with services provided in three languages. 

 

                     Capital One is active on the BOC             

 



            Network Board with Daniel Delehanty serving as 

 

            the Chair of the Executive and Governance 

 

            Committee.  In this role, Mr. Delehanty manages 

 

            committee meetings and personally helps to guide 

 

            the development of the organization with expert       

 

            counsel and actively seeks out advantages for 

 

            the organization through as many relationships 

 

            both with the bank and in the community and 

 

            nationally. 

                                                               

                     While BOC Capital Corp has borrowed 

 

            capital for lending from three banks, Capital 

 

            One is unique in its active engagement with the 

 

            loan fund, providing referrals of loan clients, 

 

            visiting with staff, providing scholarships and       

 

            training opportunities for staff and 

 

            participation in events. 

 

                     Capital One has also loaned money to 

 

            BOC clients following their successful track 

 

            record as borrowers through our CDFI.                 

 

                     Capital One is a key player providing 

 

            leadership in the field of microenterprise 

 

            development and alternative financial services, 

 

            both supporting and taking important roles in 

 

            national organizations, for example, The              

 

            Association For Enterprise Opportunity and The 

 

            Opportunity Finance Network. 

 

                     Capital One has helped the Association 

 



            For Enterprise Opportunity through a major 

 

            transition and strategic planning process and         

 

            provides staff at community-based 

 

            microenterprise organizations with scholarships 

 

            to attend the national conference. 

 

                     As a supporter of the Opportunity 

                                                                    

            Finance Network, Capital One is active in the 

 

            premier organization representing the interests 

 

            of and advancing strategies for Community 

 

            Development Financial Institutions. 

 

                     BOC is very aware of the importance of       

 

            Capital One's work on both the national, state 

 

            and local levels.  Our programs include federal 

 

            and state CDFI, SBA Microloan, Refugee 

 

            Microenterprise and SBA Women's Business Center 

 

            which are all impacted by national policy and         

 

            have grown in recent years in scale and impact. 

 

                     As members of AEO and OFN, I have 

 

            witnessed and applaud Capital One's direct 

 

            involvement and interaction on state and 

 

            national levels as an advocate for the field.         

 

                     As BOC moves forward, Capital One is 

 

            looking for ways to assist.  Capital One has 

 

            offered the use of desk space at its Cypress 

 

            Hills branch for BOC Network's new Brooklyn 

 

            East industrial business solutions program.           

 

                     We're also planning to collaborate to 

 



            reach Hispanic entrepreneurs seeking to start 

 

            development microinvestment enterprises and 

 

            build credit histories. 

                                                              

                     Thank you for this opportunity to speak 

 

            on behalf of BOC Network in support of Capital 

 

            One's application. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     Ms.  Scott.                                  

 

                     MS. DENISE SCOTT:  Good afternoon. 

 

            Thank you. 

 

                     My name is Denise Scott.  I'm the 

 

            managing director of the New York City LISC or 

 

            Local Initiatives Support Corporation and vice        

 

            president of the New York Equity Fund, and I 

 

            appreciate the opportunity to be here today in 

 

            support of Capital One's acquisition of ING, 

 

            Inc. -- ING Direct. 

 

                     LISC is one of the nation's largest          

 

            non-profit community development support 

 

            corporations with 30 local programs in urban 

 

            areas throughout the country as well as a rural 

 

            program that reaches into 31 states. 

 

                     Since 1980, LISC has invested                

 

            $11 billion in low-income neighborhoods 

 

            throughout the local communities across the 

 

            country.  This investment has leveraged an 

 

            additional 34 billion leading to the 

                                                              



            construction or rehabilitation of nearly 300,000 

 

            affordable homes and 44,000,000 square feet of 

 

            retail and commercial space. 

 

                     We have financed daycare centers, 

 

            health clinics, schools and community centers,        

 

            all serving lower-income, inner city and rural 

 

            residents. 

 

                     Healthier, sustainable communities of 

 

            opportunity require access to appropriate credit 

 

            and financial services for their residents,           

 

            businesses and community-based not-for-profits 

 

            that will work every day to revitalize 

 

            underserved neighborhoods would not be possible 

 

            without the active partnership of banks. 

 

                     In this context, I am pleased to             

 

            discuss LISC's partnership with Capital One and 

 

            highlight some of the ways that Capital One has 

 

            played a valuable role in community development 

 

            efforts in the areas in which Capital One 

 

            markets and LISC's programs overlap.                  

 

                     It has been our experience at LISC that 

 

            community development plays a key role in 

 

            Capital One's business strategy which has 

 

            included significant work on homeownership and 

                                                                    

            rental housing, commercial development and 

 

            community facilities. 

 

                     Since 1993, Capital One and its 

 



            acquired entities have provided LISC with 

 

            5.7 million in grants, 7.5 million in loans and       

 

            44.7 million in equity investments. 

 

                     In addition to capital invested, 

 

            Capital One's representatives also provide 

 

            expert assistance and guidance to LISC staff 

 

            working in several crucial markets including          

 

            Houston, New York City, Virginia, Newark and 

 

            Washington, D.C. 

 

                     In several places, we have seen how 

 

            Capital One has not only provided LISC's local 

 

            programs directly with valuable resources and         

 

            assistance but has also supported broader 

 

            community development efforts in thoughtful, 

 

            integrated and impactful ways.  These 

 

            experiences provide at least a partial model for 

 

            what banks can achieve.                               

 

                     Capital One's work in the metropolitan 

 

            New York area and Houston provide two such 

 

            examples.  In both cities, the bank has a robust 

 

            community development unit staffed by 

                                                              

            locally-rooted employees who understand the 

 

            local markets and players and who are committed 

 

            to going the extra mile to ensure that valuable, 

 

            if sometimes complicated, projects get 

 

            completed.                                            

 

                     A few examples show beneficial results 

 



            of this approach.  In the metro Newark 

 

            marketplace, Mariadele Priest, Capital One's 

 

            Vice President of Housing and Community 

 

            Development, serves on the LISC New York City         

 

            and greater Newark local advisory committees. 

 

            In this role, she provides valuable guidance as 

 

            well as access to resources including pro bono 

 

            assistance from Capital One employees with LISC 

 

            New York City communications and media                

 

            strategies.  She has also served on boards of 

 

            local community development not-for-profits that 

 

            LISC works closely with as well as citywide and 

 

            issue-specific organizations and coalitions like 

 

            the New York Mortgage Coalition in neighborhoods      

 

            to restore homes. 

 

                     In Newark, she has assisted local 

 

            not-for-profits to better understand the 

 

            mortgage-approval process, encouraging 

                                                              

            neighborhood residents to increase their access 

 

            to critical mortgage financing.  Her active 

 

            participation in such organizations contributes 

 

            to her deep understanding of local affordable 

 

            housing in the community development field and        

 

            an appreciation for the unique role of 

 

            neighborhood-based not-for-profits. 

 

                     Despite the challenging current 

 

            environment for real estate development, Capital 

 



            One has actively engaged in a affordable housing      

 

            development projects including often-complex 

 

            projects sponsored by non-for-profit developers 

 

            providing construction loans, lines of credits, 

 

            letters of credit for tax-exempt financing and 

 

            mortgage end loans.                                   

 

                     Capital One has also worked closely 

 

            with local not-for-profits to provide 

 

            appropriate banking services, financial literacy 

 

            and business development education to 

 

            communities they serve.                               

 

                     The bank worked closely with Cypress 

 

            Hills LTC in New York to offer financial 

 

            literacy and entrepreneur classes to youth, with 

 

            New York State's Banking Development District 

                                                                    

            Program which aims to facilitate the opening of 

 

            new branches in underbanked communities. 

 

            Capital One opened three new branches in the 

 

            past couple of years. 

 

                     In Houston, Capital One has also worked      

 

            closely with LISC in the broader community 

 

            development field to produce beneficial results. 

 

                     Laura Bailey, Managing Vice President 

 

            of Community Development For Finance at Capital 

 

            One Houston, serves on the LISC advisory              

 

            committee and provides expert guidance on a 

 

            range of issues drawing on long and deep 

 



            experiences and connections in the local 

 

            community. 

 

                     Senior Vice President, Laurie Vanoak,        

 

            also serves on the LISC Financial Opportunity 

 

            Center's Community Council and provides advice 

 

            and assistance with the expansion of LISC's 

 

            local network of financial opportunity centers 

 

            and provides a primary vehicle for increasing         

 

            family income involved through job search and 

 

            work training, financial literacy training and 

 

            benefits counseling. 

 

                     The employee staff in Capital One's 

                                                                   

            Community Development Department in Houston are 

 

            locally-based, knowledgeable and committed to 

 

            assisting in challenging inner city projects 

 

            developed by community-based organizations. 

 

                     The bank has provided construction           

 

            loans and equity investment for a number of 

 

            impactful affordable housing projects. 

 

                     Capital One also partnered with the 

 

            City of Houston to help facilitate a 

 

            demonstration program using home funds for            

 

            single-family homeownership gap financing. 

 

                     All of this is not to say that LISC 

 

            sees no room for improvement in the 

 

            responsiveness of Capital One to community 

 

            investment needs.  In fact, we think it's safe        

 



            to say that we see room for improvement in the 

 

            community reinvestment performance of all the 

 

            major banks, but in the markets where we are 

 

            familiar with Capital One's work, we have firmly 

 

            established -- they have firmly established           

 

            themselves as being an actively-engaged and 

 

            successful partner identifying local community 

 

            needs and in offering the services and products 

 

            that most appropriately meet the needs of those 

                                                                

            communities. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Your time is up. 

 

            Thank you. 

 

                     Ms. Tinen. 

 

                     MS. MAUREEN TINEN:  Good afternoon.          

 

            Before I begin my formal comments, I would like 

 

            to point out that when prisoners go for parole 

 

            board immediately after lunch, they're most 

 

            likely to receive parole so I am hoping that 

 

            means that our comments will be well received         

 

            this afternoon. 

 

                     Mrs. Braunstein -- Director Braunstein, 

 

            Board of Governors, ladies and gentlemen, my 

 

            name is Maureen Tinen, and I'm president of 

 

            UCEDC, formerly Union County Economic                 

 

            Development Corporation.  I served in that role 

 

            for 24 years. 

 

                     Please accept this testimony in support 

 



            of Capital One Bank's application to acquire ING 

 

            Direct.  My testimony today reflects UCEDC's          

 

            relationship with Capital One Bank and the 

 

            bank's exemplar performance as a community 

 

            partner in the economic development of New 

 

            Jersey. 

                                                                   

                     Capital One Bank engages in a creative, 

 

            rich and diverse array of methodologies to 

 

            support many Community Development Financing 

 

            Institutions, CDFIs, such as ourselves.  We 

 

            consider Capital One Bank as the primary role         

 

            model for community development initiatives 

 

            against which other financial institutions 

 

            frankly should be measured. 

 

                      First, let me introduce you to UCEDC. 

 

            We are a private non-profit economic development      

 

            organization that has served small businesses in 

 

            New Jersey for 35 years.  Our mission is to 

 

            promote community economic development.  We 

 

            provide our clients with access to 

 

            entrepreneurial capital, related business             

 

            development services such as loans, loan 

 

            packaging, government procurement assistance 

 

            training in English and Spanish and technical 

 

            support and mentoring.  These services are 

 

            focused in low-and-moderate-income areas.             

 

                     As both a CDFI and an SBA-designated 

 



            microlender -- we are both a CDFI and 

 

            microlender.  In addition, we are one of two 

 

            U.S. Department of Defense-designated 

                                                                    

            Procurement Technical Assistance Centers in the 

 

            state. 

 

                     We provide entrepreneurial capital of 

 

            up to $150,000 training and mentoring for new 

 

            and emerging small businesses.  In addition, we       

 

            offer specialized technical training and 

 

            mentoring in securing government contracts.  All 

 

            of our training and mentoring is free as a 

 

            result of a myriad of performance-based state 

 

            and federal competitive contracts that we have        

 

            won for many years. 

 

                     My testimony includes background on the 

 

            State of New Jersey and various poverty 

 

            indicators which I will decline to read today 

 

            but which is in the testimony which I handed out      

 

            earlier. 

 

                     The following is a partial list of the 

 

            partnerships we enjoy with Capital One Bank. 

 

            Capital One Bank's Executive VP of Operations 

 

            serves on the UCEDC Board, Executive Committee,       

 

            Budget Committee and our Loan Committee.  This 

 

            represents approximately 30 meetings per year. 

 

            She is one of our most active and dedicated 

 

            trustees and makes herself available outside of 

                                                                       



            meetings for consultation on loan applications 

 

            on a regular basis. 

 

                     Ms. Lisa Rasp is in a position to share 

 

            best practices of other CDFIs that Capital One 

 

            is supporting and does so.  In addition, Capital      

 

            One Bank employees such as the Community 

 

            Development Team have served in a mentoring 

 

            capacity for UCEDC. 

 

                      The bank places a great emphasis on 

 

            sharing best practices.  As a result, they have       

 

            encouraged UCEDC to present at national 

 

            conferences and have likewise introduced us to 

 

            our peers whose programs might be beneficial to 

 

            our clients. 

 

                     Capital One Bank makes free staff            

 

            development training available to economic 

 

            development organizations and CDFIs in New 

 

            Jersey on a regular basis, specifically, last 

 

            week, my staff attended free credit analysis 

 

            training provided by the nationally-recognized        

 

            National Development Council, an economic 

 

            development professional accreditation 

 

            organization, that was underwritten by Capital 

 

            One Bank for a myriad of organizations. 

                                                                  

                     The bank encourages economic 

 

            development practitioners to participate in 

 

            professional associations in order to promote 

 



            sharing of best practices.  Specifically, not 

 

            only is Capital One Bank a major sponsor of the       

 

            annual Opportunity Finance Network, OFN, and 

 

            AEO, National Association of Microlenders, 

 

            conferences who you just heard from, but they 

 

            offer scholarships to CDFI organizations to help 

 

            defray the cost of attendance, a very                 

 

            significant benefit to organizations like ours. 

 

                     The bank regularly invites UCEDC staff 

 

            to meet with the bank's small business lenders 

 

            and branch managers to educate the bankers about 

 

            our lending products and services so they can         

 

            share it with their clients.  This is part of 

 

            Capital One Bank's "Second Look Program" to give 

 

            their small business clients every opportunity 

 

            to obtain small business capital from the bank, 

 

            co-lending with UCEDC, or from one of the bank's      

 

            lending partners such as itself, UCEDC. 

 

                     The bank's "Second Look Program" has 

 

            resulted in UCEDC and Capital One Bank 

 

            collaborating on loans and co-lending. 

                                                                 

                     Am I done?  Was that my time? 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Yeah.  Could you 

 

            please wrap up?  If you have one or two 

 

            sentences, that's fine. 

 

                     MS. MAUREEN TINEN:  I thought I had          

 

            timed this, but I didn't time it well enough. 

 



                     Let me just point out one other thing, 

 

            and I won't read it; I'll just speak it. 

 

                     One of the things that the bank does 

 

            particularly well is it cuts through red tape.        

 

            As an SBA microlender, we needed to find a 

 

            tri-party agreement with a bank in order to 

 

            deposit money to make collateral loan 

 

            repayments.  We worked for six months with 

 

            another major institution.  We went to Capital        

 

            One Bank, and they pushed it through the system 

 

            in three weeks.  Same kind of legal review, but 

 

            they were able to see past the bureaucracy and 

 

            get it done based upon simple common sense. 

 

                     My testimony before you lists a myriad       

 

            of sponsorships, involvement, future mentoring 

 

            from bankers with our clients.  It represents a 

 

            pattern of intense personalized involvement both 

 

            of ourselves and other CDFIs across the State of 

                                                               

            New Jersey. 

 

                     I want to conclude by saying that last 

 

            year, last fall, I was invited by the OCC 

 

            Northeastern Division and the FDIC to speak at a 

 

            joint conference they held, and I was asked to        

 

            speak about best practices between banks and 

 

            CDFIs, and Capital One Bank is the institution I 

 

            chose to highlight.  And I might say that the 

 

            testimony was very well received. 

 



                     So thank you for this opportunity            

 

            today, and I stand ready to answer any of your 

 

            questions. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     Any questions? 

 

                     Okay.  Thank you for your testimony.         

 

                     Welcome to this panel.  We're going to 

 

            get started. 

 

                     I understand, Ms. Lewis, that you are 

 

            testifying for yourself but also going to read 

 

            the statement from Brian Gilmore; is that             

 

            correct? 

 

                     MS. MARYELLEN LEWIS:  That's correct. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Okay.  Do you 

 

            want to start with Mr. Gilmore's statement? 

                                                                       

            Thank you very much. 

 

                     And by the way, for everybody, please 

 

            speak into a microphone, start your statement by 

 

            stating and name and affiliation for the record 

 

            and keep an eye on the timekeeper.  Thank you.        

 

                     MS. MARYELLEN LEWIS:  I'm Mary Ellen 

 

            Lewis, but I'll be reading the testimony of 

 

            Brian Gilmore since he was unable to attend. 

 

                     My name is Brian Gilmore, clinical 

 

            Associate Professor of Law at Michigan State          

 

            University College of Law and director of the 

 

            Housing Law Clinic at the law college. 

 



                     It's a pleasure and an honor to speak 

 

            before this distinguished body.  I testify as a 

 

            long-time public interest attorney assisting          

 

            low-to-moderate-income consumers with their 

 

            housing and consumer problems and as an academic 

 

            and writer who has written extensively about the 

 

            housing crisis and how it impacts consumers on a 

 

            daily basis.                                          

 

                     I have also directed programs in 

 

            Washington, D.C., and now I direct a teaching 

 

            clinic that assists consumers in the State of 

 

            Michigan, a state hit very hard by the housing 

                                                                 

            crisis and the accompanying economic decline. 

 

                     Like many of the other panelists who 

 

            have testified before the Federal Reserve Bank 

 

            at these very necessary hearings regarding the 

 

            merger of Capital One and ING, I oppose this          

 

            merger.  It is risky for the consumer, and any 

 

            benefits that might be received are offset by 

 

            the hazards that another too-big-to-fail merger 

 

            represents.  My experience as an advocate for 

 

            low-and-moderate-income consumers since 1993          

 

            informs my opinion. 

 

                     In Michigan in particular, a state with 

 

            an 11 percent unemployment rate and one of the 

 

            highest foreclosure rates in the country, this 

 

            merger offers very little.  Consider the              

 



            following.  From 2007 until 2009, lending in the 

 

            State of Michigan for home loans by Capital One 

 

            decreased by 99 percent.  Lending to 

 

            low-and-moderate-income borrowers declined by 

 

            100 percent during this time, even though all         

 

            other institutions actually increased their 

 

            lending in Michigan by 33 percent. 

 

                     In addition, lending to African 

 

            Americans and Latinos in Michigan decreased by 

           

            100 percent during this period. 

 

                     ING Bank, FSB also only issued a small 

 

            number of loans to low-and-moderate-income 

 

            families in Michigan, and Capital One's lending 

 

            to small businesses was extremely low during          

 

            this time frame.  These banks do not have a 

 

            presence in Michigan. 

 

                     Michigan could use a consumer-friendly, 

 

            community-oriented financial institution at this 

 

            time of recovery and rebirth.  Michigan is a          

 

            state recovering not only from the recent 

 

            housing crisis and economic recession but also 

 

            from deindustrialization.  Job losses in 

 

            Michigan over the past ten years are borderline 

 

            catastrophic.  In addition to the more than 2         

 

            million properties subject to foreclosure around 

 

            the country during this housing crisis, 

 

            approximately over 95,000 properties were 

 



            foreclosed upon in the State of Michigan. 

 

                     As for cities such as Grand Rapids,          

 

            Lansing, East Lansing, Ann Arbor and of course 

 

            Detroit, the historical core of the great State 

 

            of Michigan, another two Too-Big-To-Fail bank 

 

            merger with a one-dimensional risky business 

                                                            

            model is not an ideal addition to the credit 

 

            market in the U.S. 

 

                     In 1995, George Washington University 

 

            law professor Arthur Wilmarth, Junior noted in 

 

            his 1995 article, "Too Good to Be True," the          

 

            unfulfilled promise of bank mergers that, quote, 

 

            "While interstate branching offers added 

 

            convenience to multi-state businesses as well as 

 

            to individuals who commute or travel across 

 

            state lines, consolidation has significantly          

 

            increased the cost of services to bank 

 

            customers." 

 

                     In addition, Professor Wilmarth noted 

 

            that big bank mergers not only place consumers 

 

            at a competitive disadvantage, but the mergers        

 

            have led to fewer community-based banking 

 

            options for consumers with the all-important 

 

            personalized service. 

 

                     This is my chief opposition.  What does 

 

            this merger do for the consumer but create more       

 

            risk?  What does this merger do but perpetuate 

 



            the same dangerous banking model that began 

 

            decades ago and has led to financial crisis 

 

            after crisis and then taxpayer bailouts? 

                                                                      

                    In closing, I urge the Federal Reserve 

 

            not to approve this merger.  This is more moral 

 

            hazard and more anti-consumer banking policy. 

 

            It is bad for Michigan and bad for the nation 

 

            overall.                                              

 

                     I thank you for the opportunity to 

 

            present my testimony. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     I think what we'll do is let's move to 

 

            Ms. Sanchez, and we'll come back to you for your      

 

            testimony.  I'm not ignoring that, but we'll 

 

            come back to you. 

 

                     MS. MARY ELLEN LEWIS:  Okay. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Bethany. 

 

                     MS. BETHANY SANCHEZ:  My name is 

 

            Bethany Sanchez, and I direct the Fair Lending 

 

            Program at Metropolitan Milwaukee Fair Housing 

 

            Council.  I'm also the Board Chair of the 

 

            National Community Reinvestment Coalition. 

 

                     Thank you for the opportunity to speak       

 

            to you today about Capital One's proposed 

 

            acquisition of ING Direct and how it will impact 

 

            Wisconsin communities. 

 

                     Speaking on behalf of Metropolitan 

                                                                    



            Milwaukee Fair Housing Council and the 

 

            communities we serve throughout Wisconsin, I 

 

            strongly urge you to deny this application. 

 

                     The Fair Housing Council works to 

 

            eliminate discrimination and increase housing         

 

            choice in Wisconsin. 

 

                     Increased housing choice depends on 

 

            access to reasonably-priced mortgage and small 

 

            business loan products, but Capital One's track 

 

            record is headed in the opposite direction.           

 

            They've been purchasing traditional banks using 

 

            the deposits to expand their credit card 

 

            portfolios and then stripping down the 

 

            traditional banking services and bank branches. 

 

                     Capital One has left our communities         

 

            with fewer traditional banking options and more 

 

            high-cost credit cards. 

 

                     Looking at their record in Wisconsin, 

 

            we see that Capital One has withdrawn from 

 

            affordable home mortgage lending in Wisconsin.        

 

            It pursued what appears to be a strategy to 

 

            dramatically increase its credit card lending. 

 

            This shift does not serve the credit needs of 

 

            our communities in a responsible manner. 

                                                                 

                     Among the findings, Capital One's prime 

 

            home lending plummeted from 220 loans in the 

 

            state in 2007 to one in 2009.  Capital One's 

 



            prime home lending to African Americans and 

 

            Hispanics disappeared, with 19 loans in 2007,         

 

            zero in 2009. 

 

                     Capital One's prime home lending to 

 

            low-and-moderate-income borrowers shrank from 77 

 

            loans in 2007 to one solitary loan in 2009. 

 

            This was during a time period in which all other      

 

            lenders increased their prime lending to 

 

            low-and-moderate-income borrowers by 68 percent 

 

            and 55 percent respectively. 

 

                     Looking at ING Bank's Internet model, 

 

            we see that it was not effective in serving           

 

            low-and-moderate-income communities in the 

 

            state, either.  ING Bank issued 444 prime loans 

 

            in Wisconsin, but only 13 percent of these went 

 

            to low-and-moderate-income borrowers during 

 

            2009.  In contrast, all lenders as a group made       

 

            30.1 percent of their loans to 

 

            low-and-moderate-income borrowers. 

 

                     Healthy neighborhoods and housing 

 

            choice depend on healthy small businesses which 

                                                                     

            also need access to capital. 

 

                     Capital One did not adequately serve 

 

            the smallest businesses in Wisconsin.  It made 

 

            64 small business loans, but it issued only one 

 

            loan or 1.6 percent of its loans to the smallest      

 

            businesses with revenues less than 1 million. 

 



            In contrast, all banks as a group made 

 

            41.7 percent of their loans to small businesses 

 

            with revenues under $1 million. 

 

                     These numbers represent only part of         

 

            the Metropolitan Milwaukee Fair Housing 

 

            Council's concerns about Capital One. 

 

                     Capital One is facing several active 

 

            complaints with HUD for alleged fair lending 

 

            violations.  It would be hard to imagine how an       

 

            organization like ours that works to enforce 

 

            fair housing and fair lending laws could support 

 

            the growth of an institution like Capital One 

 

            that modified its lending policy in a way that 

 

            had a disproportionate effect and impact on           

 

            people of color's access to FHA mortgages. 

 

                     Also troubling is their refusal to 

 

            participate in the Home Affordable Mortgage 

 

            Program or the Hardest Hit Fund. 

                                                                  

                     In Milwaukee, we know firsthand the 

 

            impact of creating Too-Big-To-Fail institutions 

 

            and allowing them to engage in overly risky 

 

            business practices.  Although the financial 

 

            crisis began more than three years ago, our           

 

            neighborhoods are still struggling to recover 

 

            from the devastation it caused.  Within the city 

 

            limits, we still have over 2,000 vacant and 

 

            foreclosed homes and another 6,200 in the 

 



            foreclosure process.                                  

 

                     And the foreclosure crisis has affected 

 

            the entire economy, creating more job loss.  The 

 

            unemployment rate in Milwaukee is 9.6 percent, 

 

            and for African American males in Milwaukee, 

 

            it's 34 percent.                                      

 

                     Today, we have appropriately heard from 

 

            folks who live and work in Capital One CRA 

 

            assessment areas.  Many from those areas have 

 

            supported the acquisition, but not all have. 

 

            It's my understanding, though, that there's an        

 

            additional standard to address, that in addition 

 

            to the CRA assessment areas that your decision 

 

            making needs to address Dodd-Frank's requirement 

 

            for a significant public benefit across the 

                                                                      

            country, not just in the assessment areas.  That 

 

            national benefit has not been demonstrated. 

 

                     This acquisition will pose a 

 

            significant systemic risk that is not 

 

            outweighed by any public benefit that Capital         

 

            One has offered today. 

 

                     I urge you to consider the potential 

 

            risks that this deal poses for Main Street 

 

            America and all taxpayers.  If you do, you will 

 

            deny this acquisition.  At a minimum, the             

 

            Federal Reserve should condition its approval on 

 

            a genuine forward commitment by Capital One to 

 



            benefit the public. 

 

                     Thank you for the opportunity to speak 

 

            today.                                                

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     Mr. Seifert. 

 

                     MR. MARK SEIFERT:  Thank you for the 

 

            opportunity to speak to you today about Capital 

 

            One's proposed acquisition of ING Direct and how      

 

            it's going to impact my community. 

 

                     I am Mark Seifert, Executive Director 

 

            of the East Side Organizing Project, also known 

 

            as Empowering and Strengthening Ohio's People. 

                                                                     

            And those are also known as ESOP. 

 

                     We're located in Cleveland, Ohio with 

 

            offices -- ten offices throughout the State of 

 

            Ohio. 

 

                     ESOP began as a few residents concerned      

 

            about their neighborhood.  That neighborhood of 

 

            minority and low-income households became the 

 

            target of predatory mortgage lending practices. 

 

            We saw the devastation of the foreclosure crisis 

 

            before the middle class, mainstream media, Wall       

 

            Street bankers or Washington politicians cared 

 

            to notice.  Meanwhile, banks kept getting bigger 

 

            and bigger and wreaking more and more havoc 

 

            while ESOP's foreclosure prevention work grew by 

 

            more than 1,700 percent in the last three years,      

 



            making us the largest counseling organization in 

 

            the State of Ohio, one of the largest in the 

 

            country. 

 

                     Despite evidence and warnings of the 

 

            impending mortgage crisis, the pattern of             

 

            predatory lending, abusive servicing and 

 

            reckless securitization continued until it 

 

            nearly brought down our entire economy.  And 

 

            then the government used taxpayer money to bail 

                                                                  

            out the very industry that had caused the crisis 

 

            because the banks were quote, unquote, too big 

 

            to fail. 

 

                     What does this have to do with Capital 

 

            One?  Capital One is the largest subprime lender      

 

            in the United States.  It has a history of 

 

            problematic credit card practices and a poor 

 

            track record with customers.  It has 

 

            consistently refused to serve communities of 

 

            color and low-to-moderate-income communities,         

 

            and now it looks to get even bigger. 

 

                     You know that Strategic Value Advisors 

 

            was among the first research firms to predict 

 

            the mortgage meltdown.  According to Gregory 

 

            Larkin, a senior analyst at Innovest, quote,          

 

            "Mortgages were simply the first storm to make 

 

            landfall.  Credit cards are next," end quote. 

 

                     A couple of specific points that we'd 

 



            like to bring to your attention.  First of all, 

 

            like subprime mortgage brokers, Capital One           

 

            targets low-income borrowers for their 

 

            high-interest toxic products.  They aggressively 

 

            market subprime credit cards to consumers, 

 

            sending one unsolicited credit card offer in the 

                                                                  

            mail after another. 

 

                     The characters in their commercials are 

 

            a fitting mascot.  Capital One uses their 

 

            subprime cards to pillage and loot wealth from 

 

            our communities.                                      

 

                     Secondly, Capital One's business model 

 

            is bad for consumers.  It creates a strong 

 

            incentive to find new ways to trick and trap 

 

            consumers into paying more by targeting them for 

 

            high interest rates and charging excessive fees.      

 

                     Next, Capital One is already facing, as 

 

            you heard, facing several complaints with the 

 

            Department of Housing and Urban Development for 

 

            alleged fair lending violations. 

 

                     Also, most notably for people like me        

 

            in Ohio, it has also refused to participate in 

 

            the Home Affordable Mortgage Program or the more 

 

            recently announced Hardest Hit Fund Program, a 

 

            federal initiative. 

 

                     Capital One has a historically poor          

 

            track record -- pardon me.  Capital One is using 

 



            its proposed acquisition to undermine financial 

 

            reform, pushing for a return under the same weak 

 

            standards that allowed unscrupulous lenders to 

                                                                

            shake the foundation of our banking system. 

 

                     As I prepared to come here today, we 

 

            sort of reached out to our members and just 

 

            heard a couple of stories that I'll just quickly 

 

            point out some quotes that they gave us on            

 

            Capital One's abusive practices.  Here's one. 

 

                     One member said, "The problems started 

 

            with paying protection insurance sold to me upon 

 

            opening the account.  The problem was I paid my 

 

            bill in advance of the due date, then they would      

 

            add the monthly fee for the insurance after my 

 

            payment and charge me a late fee because my 

 

            payment did not include the full amount.  Then 

 

            at some point, they began charging me an 

 

            over-the-limit fee because the late fee brought       

 

            me over the limit.  This went on for a few 

 

            months before I realized I was being charged the 

 

            fees.  And their explanation was that the 

 

            payment protection fee was not included in the 

 

            minimum payment.  In other words, if I waited         

 

            for the payment protection to post before making 

 

            a payment, my payment would most likely be late. 

 

            I cancelled the payment protection after that." 

 

                     It's convoluted, but the point is that 

                                                             



            there should be a system in place that prevents 

 

            this with someone making their payments on time 

 

            and having them go through correctly. 

 

                     Mr. Flannery simply said, "Yeah, I had 

 

            a credit card with them.  When my workplace           

 

            closed, I attempted to use the payment 

 

            protection plan I had paid for, and they delayed 

 

            the process for so long that by the time I was 

 

            able to use it, it was too late." 

 

                     We've seen this horror movie before.         

 

            We know firsthand the risk of creating the 

 

            Too-Big-To-Fail institutions and allowing them 

 

            to engage in overly risky business practices. 

 

                     The question is haven't we learned yet 

 

            that too big to fail fails us all?  We are still      

 

            digging out of the mortgage crisis the Wall 

 

            Street geniuses created because of their greed 

 

            and stupidity while regulators looked the other 

 

            way. 

 

                     The Federal Reserve Board should not         

 

            turn a blind eye to the same behavior that got 

 

            us into the current financial mess and risk 

 

            repeating catastrophic economic history.  For 

 

            this reason, ESOP strongly opposes this 

                                                                   

            acquisition. 

 

                     Thank you. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 



                     Ms. Taylor-Williams. 

 

                     MS. ROMONA TAYLOR-WILLIAMS:  Yes.            

 

                     Good afternoon.  My name is Romona 

 

            Taylor-Williams, and I am Executive Director of 

 

            Metro St. Louis Coalition For Inclusion and 

 

            Equity, M-SLICE, located in St. Louis, Missouri. 

 

                     It is an honor to have this opportunity      

 

            to share my concerns about Capital One's 

 

            application to acquire ING Direct.  On behalf of 

 

            M-SLICE's Board of Directors and the 

 

            constituents that we serve, I express our 

 

            appreciation to this body for giving ear to our       

 

            concern, to our voices on this urgent matter. 

 

                     M-SLICE is a member of the National 

 

            Community Reinvestment Coalition, NCRC.  I'd 

 

            like to start my testimony with an excerpt from 

 

            a recent presentation given by your colleague,        

 

            William C. Dudley, president and CEO of the New 

 

            York Federal Reserve Bank. 

 

                     Mr. Dudley made these remarks last week 

 

            at the 2011 Bretton Woods Committee 

                                                                     

            International Council held in Washington, D.C. 

 

            He said, "I want to emphasize in my remarks 

 

            today three points.  First, a stable financial 

 

            system is a prerequisite for sustainable 

 

            economic growth.  Second, the financial system        

 

            that operated in the years leading up to the 

 



            crisis failed in this regard, generating 

 

            terrible outcomes in terms of economic growth 

 

            and unemployment in terms available to savers 

 

            and access to credit for borrowers.                   

 

                     Third, although we have made progress 

 

            in reforming how we oversee and regulate the 

 

            financial system, our work toward achieving a 

 

            more stable and dynamic system able to deliver 

 

            its essential services to both savers and             

 

            borrowers is far from complete.  We must keep 

 

            pushing this agenda forward and not be deterred 

 

            by those that defend the status quo. 

 

                     As always, the remarks that follow 

 

            reflect my own views and not necessarily those        

 

            of the Federal Reserve System." 

 

                     Mr. Dudley continues, "Let me start 

 

            with a few words about where we are today.  It 

 

            is clear that the buildup of debt during the 

                                                                   

            years prior to the crisis" -- and I think at 

 

            this time, he was talking about the financial -- 

 

            the institutional debt -- "as well as the crisis 

 

            itself has contributed to an unusually anemic 

 

            recovery.  This has occurred despite the efforts      

 

            of policymakers to stimulate demand through 

 

            aggressive monetary and fiscal easing. 

 

                     The extraordinarily poor economic 

 

            outcomes we see today underscore the importance 

 



            of building a financial system that is resilient      

 

            in its ability to provide credit to households 

 

            and businesses throughout the business cycle. 

 

            It also underscores the importance of limiting 

 

            the types of financial and real imbalances that 

 

            develop during times of prosperity.  When such        

 

            balances unwind, they can cause significant 

 

            damage to the financial system and the economy." 

 

                     Our concern with Capital One's 

 

            application to acquire ING is that it will 

 

            foster the continuation of more debt buildup on       

 

            the consumer side and a continuation of Too Big 

 

            To Fail. 

 

                     Capital One's expansion has the 

 

            potential to increase high-cost credit card 

                                                                  

            loans that people in low-and-moderate-income 

 

            communities have a hard time paying off, thereby 

 

            leading to consumer debt buildup. 

 

                     And Capital One and ING both received 

 

            bailouts in the last crisis so combining them         

 

            could potentially increase the likelihood that 

 

            they would need to receive support if the 

 

            economy turns south, especially with Capital 

 

            One's overemphasis on low-income credit card 

 

            lending.                                              

 

                     I'd like to share with you at this time 

 

            a message from an M-SLICE constituent and board 

 



            member to personalize our concerns. 

 

                     "Hello.  My name is Edy 

 

            Williamson-Moore.  I am a married mother of four      

 

            little beautiful girls.  I just graduated with 

 

            my degree as a paralegal last spring, and at 

 

            this moment, my family of six is surviving on 

 

            $30,000 a year before taxes.  Our rent is $700 a 

 

            month, and we pay light, gas and phone.               

 

                     A little over two years ago, my husband 

 

            was working in the automotive and manufacturing 

 

            field, and I was a stay-at-home mom and worked 

 

            part-time. 

                                                                 

                     After the automotive factory here in 

 

            St. Louis closed, my husband came home and 

 

            started collecting unemployment while locking 

 

            for work.  He went through the displaced worker 

 

            program or TRA and went all the way to Georgia        

 

            to get certified as a heavy equipment operator, 

 

            only to return home to find there was no work 

 

            for heavy equipment operators.  If he went to 

 

            work on the jobs that were available, we would 

 

            spend the majority of our money, our income, on       

 

            child care.  We made the decision that he would 

 

            have to stay at home, be a stay-at-home dad and 

 

            I work 40 hours a week. 

 

                     The job market has gotten worse, and 

 

            now we're looking into starting a small               

 



            business, but those opportunities are limited as 

 

            well." 

 

                     At this time, Capital One has very 

 

            little to no presence in the St. Louis market. 

 

            If they were invested more in our markets, then       

 

            possibly Edy and her family could become 

 

            homeowners or even start their small business. 

 

                     Low-to-moderate-income and especially 

 

            communities of color do not need problematic 

                                                                 

            high-rate credit cards nor predatory automobile 

 

            loans.  LMI consumers need affordable home 

 

            mortgages and small business loans on a national 

 

            scale wherever Capital One and ING have 

 

            customers.                                            

 

                     Neither their past behavior nor the 

 

            commitment they make -- and we see that Capital 

 

            One's proposed solution to invest 180 million 

 

            with $104 million in credit card lending is 

 

            totally unacceptable and will serve as a leader       

 

            to a problematic debt-building culture. 

 

                     Again, I thank you for allowing me to 

 

            share on Capital One's application to acquire 

 

            ING Direct, FSB, and we ask that the decision be 

 

            made in consideration of these comments.  Thank       

 

            you for your allowing me to speak. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very 

 

            much. 

 



                     And we'll go back to Ms. Lewis for your 

 

            own part at this time.                                

 

                     MS. MARY ELLEN LEWIS:  Thank you very 

 

            much.  And I'm going to -- in the interest of 

 

            time, I'm going to read this.  I'll also try to 

 

            speak fast. 

                                                                  

                     Thank you for the opportunity to speak 

 

            to you today about Capital One's proposed 

 

            acquisition of ING Direct and how it will impact 

 

            my community. 

 

                     I am Mary Ellen Lewis, the acting chair      

 

            of the Michigan Community Reinvestment Coalition 

 

            and delegate with the Michigan Foreclosure Task 

 

            Force.  These are both coalitions that include 

 

            members from every corner of the state including 

 

            the Community Economic Development Association        

 

            of Michigan and all of its members, the Michigan 

 

            Fair Housing Centers and all of their members 

 

            and non-profits representing the concerns of 

 

            low-to-moderate-income residents and all peoples 

 

            of color as well as elderly residents, disabled       

 

            residents and other vulnerable Michigan 

 

            populations who have been so hard hit by the 

 

            financial crisis and the resulting recession. 

 

                     I live in Lansing, Michigan and work 

 

            with communities throughout the state.  I drove       

 

            here today from Lansing to strongly urge you to 

 



            deny this acquisition or at the very least to 

 

            impose strict contractual requirements that 

 

            Capital One step up to its neglected obligation 

                                                                   

            to serve the convenience and needs of all 

 

            members of its market communities including LMI 

 

            and minority residents. 

 

                     Simply put, public benefits of this 

 

            acquisition do not outweigh the risks associated      

 

            with allowing Capital One to become the next 

 

            Too-Big-to-Fail bank. 

 

                     By public benefits otherwise called 

 

            community benefits, I refer to the historic 

 

            banking standard in this country that banks must      

 

            serve the, quote, convenience and needs, 

 

            unquote, of their communities.  I have 

 

            personally traced the history of the convenience 

 

            and needs standards at least back to the 1920s 

 

            while I was at Michigan State University, but I       

 

            believe it was in effect as far back as the 

 

            1880s, however, as you know, that standard was 

 

            raise today a new level of public consciousness 

 

            and understanding with the passage of the 1977 

 

            Community Reinvestment Act when Congress              

 

            affirmed that banks must, quote, meet the 

 

            banking needs of their communities including LMI 

 

            and minority residents, unquote. 

 

                     I also want to bring to your attention 

                                                                



            that this requirement is very similar to the 

 

            community benefit standard required in 

 

            non-profit hospitals.  I developed some 

 

            community benefit plans for large non-profit 

 

            hospital systems in the 1990s, and I think you        

 

            might find some useful parallels there for 

 

            clarifying and monitoring the community benefit 

 

            standard for banks. 

 

                      But Capital One has failed to do any of 

 

            this.  They failed to provide affordable, safe        

 

            loans to small businesses or sustainable 

 

            mortgages to homeowners or even fairly-priced 

 

            and consumer-friendly credit card services which 

 

            are its primary business. 

 

                     I should add here that with over             

 

            concentration on the credit card business, 

 

            Capital One also poses a disturbing systemic 

 

            risk since, as with any bank that puts all its 

 

            eggs in one basket, if the credit card industry 

 

            goes south, the bank will fail and take the           

 

            economy with it as we have seen with the recent 

 

            financial meltdown. 

 

                     The merger of these two large 

 

            institutions does not provide any significant 

                                                                    

            benefit to our communities and particularly not 

 

            to small businesses and the LMI residents of 

 

            Michigan. 

 



                     An analysis of Capital One and ING in 

 

            Michigan reveals a distressing record.  I won't       

 

            repeat the excellent testimony of Brian Gilmore 

 

            from Michigan State University which I read 

 

            earlier. 

 

                      Also, I included DCL statistics with my 

 

            written testimony, but the broad overview is          

 

            this:  Capital One has all but pulled out of 

 

            beneficial lending in the State of Michigan, 

 

            focusing instead on marketing more of their 

 

            subprime high-cost credit cards.  And one of 

 

            their major target markets is the residents and       

 

            small businesses over the state that have been 

 

            hardest hit over the past decade and on the 

 

            contrary needs banks that use best practices for 

 

            safe and sound, affordable and sustainable 

 

            financial services that meet people's real            

 

            banking needs, not the quarterly goals for 

 

            excessive corporate profits. 

 

                     To elaborate just very quickly, there 

 

            are series of discrimination complaints, as you 

                                                                  

            know, against Capital One, as have already been 

 

            described about racial and discriminatory 

 

            lending.  I urge you to track that investigation 

 

            as you continue your deliberations. 

 

                     Also, Capital One is the largest             

 

            subprime auto lender in the United States with 

 



            troubling practices that need to be looked at 

 

            closely.  How do these fringe loans historically 

 

            designated for a specialized class of 

 

            knowledgeable borrowers meet the convenience and      

 

            needs, quote, end quote, of the community as a 

 

            whole and particularly of LMI and minority 

 

            borrowers? 

 

                     Capital One has a problem with credit 

 

            card practices, as you've seen.  In Michigan,         

 

            also, the Attorney General has been looking at 

 

            Capital One.  In fact, in June, 2011, class 

 

            action litigation was filed in Michigan against 

 

            Capital One.  The complaint alleges that Capital 

 

            One misrepresented the interest rate it could         

 

            charge on its transfer balance program.  I give 

 

            you detail in my testimony. 

 

                     I strongly urge the Federal Reserve to 

 

            apply a heightened standard to its public 

                                                                    

            benefit analysis starting with this Capital One 

 

            merger request, and I'm quite confident that 

 

            through that analysis, you will find no 

 

            significant public benefit to this merger. 

 

            Especially you will find that this merger will        

 

            not serve to meet the credit needs of minority 

 

            and working class residents in Michigan or 

 

            across the country. 

 

                     Thank you very much. 

 



                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you.             

 

                     Any questions for this panel? 

 

                     Okay.  Thank you for your testimony. 

 

                     Welcome to this panel.  Speak into the 

 

            microphone, and when you begin your statement, 

 

            please state your name and your affiliation and       

 

            keep an eye on the timekeeper. 

 

                     And with that, we will begin. 

 

                     MS. YANUT NEPAL ASATTHAWASI:  Good 

 

            afternoon.  My name is Nepal Asatthawasi, and I 

 

            am the Assistant Director of New York Designs         

 

            which is part of LaGuardia Community College 

 

            which in turn is in part the City University of 

 

            New York system. 

 

                     Thank you for allowing me the 

                                                                 

            opportunity to speak today in support of Capital 

 

            One's community reinvestment activities as part 

 

            of its application to acquire ING Direct. 

 

                     Firstly, New York Design is an economic 

 

            development program within the Adult and              

 

            Continuing Education Division of LaGuardia 

 

            Community College.  Our mission broadly is to 

 

            support and promote design entrepreneurs from 

 

            all backgrounds and stages of growth.  Our 

 

            initiatives include a business incubation             

 

            residency for design companies at critical 

 

            stages of growth, a membership-based custom 

 



            fabrication shop for design professionals and 

 

            design companies, classes, workshops and events 

 

            responsive to developments in the creative            

 

            industry and a community forum investigating 

 

            issues significant to the design professions 

 

            anchored both physically at our headquarters and 

 

            online at newyorkdesigns.org. 

 

                     Our activities are sponsored by city,        

 

            state and federal, corporate sponsorships and 

 

            private sponsorships. 

 

                     New York Designs works to integrate 

 

            students at LaGuardia Community College into 

                                                                      

            these programs that are broadly targeting the 

 

            general design public.  Capital One has 

 

            generously funded New York Designs through four 

 

            consecutive cycles of the Capital One 

 

            Entrepreneurship Program.  Its purpose is to          

 

            train students to develop realistic and 

 

            profitable businesses.  It invites applications 

 

            from LaGuardia Community College students with 

 

            early business ideas falling into the category 

 

            of design.                                            

 

                     Once accepted, the groups of up to 

 

            eight students participate in ten weeks of 

 

            workshops, business coaching and consultations 

 

            with New York Designs staff and staff from the 

 

            local Small Business Development Center and           

 



            mentorship meetings with Capital One employees. 

 

                     The students are provided with a 

 

            dedicated studio space within New York Designs 

 

            and all the facilities they need in order to 

 

            operate their fledgling businesses.                   

 

                     The ten-week program concludes with 

 

            individual final presentation to an audience of 

 

            Capital One employees, LaGuardia and New York 

 

            Design staff and invited members of the business 

                                                 

            community.  The strongest presentation is 

 

            awarded $1,000, runners up receive $750 each, 

 

            and the remaining participates receive $500 each 

 

            to invest in their businesses. 

 

                     In practice, this program provides           

 

            LaGuardia students with the space, resources and 

 

            support to develop their business ideas, 

 

            however, the program's essential value lies in 

 

            the opportunity for these students to set aside 

 

            time from their schedules to pursue their             

 

            ambitions in a structured, consistent and 

 

            demanding environment. 

 

                     Business skills and potential seed 

 

            funding are not the only assets that they 

 

            acquire.  Students also graduate with an actual       

 

            plan for a profitable business. 

 

                     This program would, of course, not have 

 

            been possible without Capital One's support. 

 



            The financial resources they contribute are, of 

 

            course, crucial to program development and            

 

            execution.  However, Capital One's direct input 

 

            towards program direction and assessment as well 

 

            as the significant time Capital One staff 

 

            dedicates toward student mentorship activities 

                                                                     

            secures the quality of the program. 

 

                     New York Designs is grateful to them 

 

            for their active participation and interest in 

 

            the program's success. 

 

                     The Capital One Entrepreneurship             

 

            Program has enhanced New York Designs' mission 

 

            of strengthening the local and metropolitan 

 

            community through the cultivation of small 

 

            design businesses and its investment in 

 

            LaGuardia Community College students.                 

 

                     In closing, New York Designs would like 

 

            to reiterate its strong support for Capital 

 

            One's application to acquire ING Direct.  As 

 

            evidenced by our thriving program, they are true 

 

            partners and champions of the local community.        

 

                     Thank you. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very 

 

            much. 

 

                     Ms. Bartolomeo. 

 

                     MS. JOAN BARTOLOMEO:  Good afternoon.        

 

            My name Joan Bartolomeo, and I am president of 

 



            Brooklyn Economic Development Corporation, a 

 

            private not-for-profit 501(c)(3) corporation 

 

            chartered in the State of New York in 1979 and 

                                                                   

            operating primarily in Brooklyn, New York and 

 

            throughout New York City overall. 

 

                     BEDC's mission is to create and expand 

 

            economic opportunity throughout Brooklyn by 

 

            implementing business and neighborhood                

 

            development and planning activities to support 

 

            and create substantial jobs, industries and 

 

            communities. 

 

                      BEDC is primarily funded by federal, 

 

            state and New York City grants and contracts          

 

            with about 10 percent of our budget driving from 

 

            private and corporate contributions. 

 

                     Our Board of Directors represents 

 

            community leaders in key industries, banks 

 

            utility companies, educational institutions and       

 

            small businesses. 

 

                     I will disclose here that Capital One 

 

            does have a representative on BEDC's board, and 

 

            they are a contributor to our organization. 

 

                     BEDC carries out its mission primarily       

 

            in the area of small business development 

 

            especially on behalf of women and minority 

 

            enterprises.  In that capacity, we offer 

 

            curricular-based training in entrepreneurship, 

                                                                     



            conduct numerous workshops and seminars on a 

 

            variety of issues of interest to small business, 

 

            provide one-to-one technical assistance to 

 

            clients on business planning, growth strategies 

 

            and financial assistance and assist with city         

 

            and state certification for women and minority 

 

            business enterprises. 

 

                     BEDC has worked extensively with 

 

            Capital One Bank and prior to its acquisition 

 

            North Fork Bank.                                      

 

                     Typically, when banks merge, 

 

            non-profits groan.  Not only does it diminish 

 

            the pool of potential philanthropy, but 

 

            continuity and relationships are frequent 

 

            victims of such mergers.  As the culture changes      

 

            and priorities shift, the inevitable changes 

 

            start:  Fee structures change, personnel shifts, 

 

            neighborhood branches are closed. 

 

                     As a director of a small not-for-profit 

 

            for over 25 years, I have witnessed all of these      

 

            impacts firsthand with few exceptions, but I am 

 

            here to tell you this was not the case when 

 

            Capital One acquired North Fork Bank. 

 

                     Capital One had no presence in New York 

                                                                  

            City at that point, and North Fork Bank, while 

 

            having branch locations in Brooklyn, retained a 

 

            suburban bank persona with little community 

 



            involvement.  Capital One did come in and shake 

 

            things up, but it was all for the good.               

 

                     Given Capital One's public image as a 

 

            credit card company, I had very low expectations 

 

            that they would engage in community banking 

 

            activities, but I greatly underestimated the 

 

            bank's commitment to become a member of               

 

            Brooklyn's small business and non-profit 

 

            communities. 

 

                     Here are some examples of our 

 

            interactions with Capital One Bank. 

 

                     At Capital One's request, I worked with      

 

            them to identify new branch locations in 

 

            underserved areas.  Working in partnership with 

 

            other local development corporations in targeted 

 

            neighborhoods, Capital One located and built 

 

            several branches in areas that were                   

 

            predominantly low to moderate income with large 

 

            Latino and African American populations. 

 

                     Their branch hours are amenable to 

 

            working people and small businesses and well 

                                                                     

            staff with personnel that speak multiple 

 

            languages.  Their customer service model 

 

            promotes courtesy, respect and responsiveness. 

 

                     Capital One has worked with us to 

 

            conduct numerous small business seminars within       

 

            their branches in low-to-moderate-income areas. 

 



            Bringing numerous speakers and resources 

 

            including sources of non-bank funding, Capital 

 

            One has attempted to reach out to the 

 

            micro-business community including mom and pop        

 

            retail stores in order to provide them with 

 

            information to improve their business 

 

            operations. 

 

                     These workshops and seminars have no 

 

            quid pro quo attached to them, you do not have        

 

            to be a bank customer to attend, there is no 

 

            cost, and there is no hard sell to encourage 

 

            attendees to switch their accounts to the bank. 

 

                     But without exception, there have 

 

            always been senior bank personnel at every event      

 

            even when the audience was small and they do not 

 

            have a featured role. 

 

                     I think I've never seen a team work so 

 

            hard to engage the community as Capital One did 

                                                                      

            in the neighborhood called Cypress Hills which 

 

            you've heard about before where most of the 

 

            residents are Dominican, speak very little 

 

            English and rarely use bank-based services. 

 

                     We have conducted over six or seven          

 

            seminars there in English and in Spanish, and 

 

            the bank manager has given over her office every 

 

            Friday to a Spanish-speaking business counselor 

 

            to help local businesses. 

 



                     And finally, Capital One staff is            

 

            actively engaged in their work with 

 

            not-for-profits.  I have worked with our Capital 

 

            One board member through many financial issues 

 

            at BEDC.  He regularly attends meetings, 

 

            introduces us to critical resource partners and       

 

            has a deep understanding of the work that we do. 

 

                     Does our work complement the bank?  The 

 

            answer is absolutely yes.  The bank is also 

 

            deeply involved in helping small business grow 

 

            and thrive in our community.  I don't see this        

 

            as a CRA-motivated involvement but an actual 

 

            business model that recognizes the importance of 

 

            small business to the economy. 

 

                     BEDC gets donations from several banks, 

                                                                      

            and it would seem to be a tacit obligation to 

 

            come out in support of these banks when they ask 

 

            for our support as they've done here in this 

 

            acquisition matter, but I agreed to give this 

 

            testimony because I believe that Capital One          

 

            will take the resources provided by the 

 

            acquisition of ING Bank and use them to better 

 

            the communities they serve. 

 

                     I've observed and lived through Capital 

 

            One's acquisition of other banks only to see a        

 

            marked improvement in services and involvement. 

 

                     From an outsider's perspective, I have 

 



            the impression that other banks seek to merge in 

 

            order to dominate the market or enhance their 

 

            global presence.  As they grow, they tend to          

 

            distance themselves from their community roots. 

 

            They do become too big to fail because they're 

 

            tied to an interlocking web of global 

 

            relationships. 

 

                     Capital One plus ING will be big, but I      

 

            get the sense based on my own experience that 

 

            they will never get too big at least 

 

            philosophically to abandon the community service 

 

            model they have cultivated since day one. 

                   

                     Thank you. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     Ms. Carter. 

 

                     MS. YOLANDA CARTER:  Good afternoon. 

 

            My name is Yolanda Carter, and I along with my        

 

            sister -- she's not here today -- Adelle 

 

            Walters, we are the owners and operators of 

 

            Vadelyo's Creole Catering and Cooking, LLC. 

 

                     The name Vadelyo's is as authentic as 

 

            our Creole cooking.  You take 50 percent of           

 

            Adelle and add 25 percent of Yolanda which is 

 

            "Yo" and add a little life from New Orleans in 

 

            front of it and you get Vadelyo's. 

 

                     Vadelyo's Creole Catering is an onsite 

 

            catering business which specializes in authentic      

 



            Creole cooking and catering.  We pride 

 

            ourselves on excellent food and superior service 

 

            along with it. 

 

                     When we were chosen from a large number 

 

            of applicants to be included in the "Getting          

 

            Down to Business" class, we were not sure what 

 

            that really meant.  We knew what was promised 

 

            but really didn't expect much at all.  As some 

 

            would say, promises are made to be broken. 

                                                                     

                     However, let me say that Capital One 

 

            SRA Business Development Officer Mark Boucree 

 

            and the many instructors did not break the 

 

            promises made, but rather, they exceeded them. 

 

                     I started this class as a cautious and       

 

            casual customer of Capital One.  After 

 

            completing the class, I am now a loyal and 

 

            committed partner of Capital One.  I now see 

 

            Capital One as more than a credit card company 

 

            or a convenient bank but a group of bankers such      

 

            as my personal banker, Amy Colleen, who are 

 

            committed to assisting small businesses in every 

 

            way to aid in its success. 

 

                     "Getting Down to Business" has forced 

 

            us, Adelle and I -- well, Adelle to really get        

 

            down to business.  You see, I don't believe 

 

            there's anybody here or anywhere else that can 

 

            out cook us.  The cooking and catering part, 

 



            we've got that down, we know our business, 

 

            however, the business mechanics necessary to          

 

            transform phenomenal cooking into a profitable 

 

            and successful business lacked a little luster 

 

            on our part. 

 

                     There were many specifics necessary to 

                                                                   

            really get down to business that we did not fine 

 

            tune nor implement such as a functional and 

 

            realistic business plan, a book of financials, 

 

            organization and marketing. 

 

                     Thanks to Capital One and the                

 

            organizations it brought in like Money 

 

            Management, we really know we need to live on a 

 

            budget and manage our personal business credit. 

 

                      Our instructors demonstrated that an 

 

            effective business plan did not have to be 50         

 

            pages long but could be just as effective with 

 

            half the paper. 

 

                     Until participating in Capital One's 

 

            "Getting Down to Business" plan, I avoided, 

 

            delayed and just plain refused to do a business       

 

            plan, only to learn that a business plan could 

 

            be an essential part of Vadelyo's success.  And 

 

            it was made clear that putting together a 

 

            business plan could be as simple as who 

 

            Vadelyo's is, what we do, how we do it, how we        

 

            plan to continue doing it, where are we going to 

 



            do it, how we plan to get there, when we plan to 

 

            arrive at what intervals and how much money we 

 

            would need to get there and why a lender like 

                                                                    

            Capital One should give it to us. 

 

                     As a result of the "Getting Down to 

 

            Business" class, every member of this class and 

 

            every small business represented in the class is 

 

            now equipped to use Quick Books, and if not, we       

 

            know where to get the help to do so. 

 

                     We are fully informed of how our 

 

            businesses should be structured, insured, 

 

            marketed and managed.  As a result, Capital 

 

            One's confidence in us by choosing us to be the       

 

            first participants and graduates of its first 

 

            class in the New Orleans area, we are no longer 

 

            just small businesses.  We are now stronger, 

 

            better prepared, enlightened and motivated small 

 

            businesses.                                           

 

                     Our bank accounts may not be as large 

 

            as some, but keep your eyes on us.  We keep 

 

            believing in us because I'm convinced that 

 

            Vadelyo's will cater at least one of the next 

 

            big films produced in the New Orleans area,           

 

            while another graduate will handle the makeup 

 

            for the Queen and her court, and look for signs 

 

            on some of the larger hotels that say, "This 

 

            building was painted by Joe's Painting."  You 

                                                                    



            may not know who those people are, but they were 

 

            the business partners that were part of that 

 

            class.  And every person that was there, no one 

 

            can do a better job of producing signs, logos 

 

            and whatever you need as PriMotions, another          

 

            business in class. 

 

                     As we look further down the street, you 

 

            will find storefronts bearing a sign that says 

 

            "Fat Feet" where women of larger shoe sizes can 

 

            shop in one of those most exclusive shopping          

 

            areas that we were not a part of prior to 

 

            Capital One and find designer shoes to fit us. 

 

                     During Essence Festival, women of color 

 

            will see Beauty on de Bayou products and Carol's 

 

            Daughter's products when visiting the City of         

 

            New Orleans because New Orleans will be known as 

 

            the Beauty on de Bayou corporate headquarters. 

 

            Ladies, it will be the selected spot. 

 

                     You don't know what those places are, 

 

            but they were businesses in this class.  And          

 

            when people need beauty treatments, they will 

 

            proceed to Finale Fitness to get their body in 

 

            shape, every city employee will be wearing 

 

            uniforms embroidered by Cory's Embroidering we 

                                                                   

            will hear from later on.  NOLA Printing will 

 

            duplicate all necessary documents for some of 

 

            the larger conventions as a part of being in 

 



            this class and after going through Capital One's 

 

            "Getting Down to Business."                           

 

                     The next two to five years for every 

 

            small business represented in that class will 

 

            speak loudly and clearly of the success of 

 

            "Getting Down to Business" by Capital One. 

 

                     We are ready to continue to get down to      

 

            business like never before.  We must set the 

 

            pace for the next set of small businesses chosen 

 

            to participate in this program.  We are ready. 

 

            Thanks to Capital One, we are prepared. 

 

                     And as I answered the people who             

 

            interview for this program when they asked, "Why 

 

            are you applying for this program," my answer 

 

            was, "To get better."  Well, Vadelyo's is better 

 

            and thanks to Capital One and all of its 

 

            employees.                                            

 

                     I can speak for myself on this one. 

 

            I've changed the way I see Capital One not just 

 

            because of the incentives given through the 

 

            program but the people who are part of Capital 

                                                              

            One.  Their genuine concern and eagerness to 

 

            help, the way you reached out to New Orleans 

 

            post-Katrina in so many community projects and 

 

            other ways. 

 

                     I've seen Capital One take its place in      

 

            community with a character of its own. 

 



            Everywhere you look in New Orleans, you see 

 

            Capital One.  It keeps showing up.  You've got a 

 

            unique presence in New Orleans, business 

 

            friendly and accessible to everyone, unlike           

 

            many big banks of the past. 

 

                     "Getting Down to Business" is just one 

 

            of many ways it's shown its willingness to 

 

            become a true figure in New Orleans by 

 

            empowering the community through the success of       

 

            small businesses in the area. 

 

                     Thank you again, and this class looks 

 

            forward to getting down to business with Capital 

 

            One by our sides. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very         

 

            much. 

 

                     Mr. Cutillo. 

 

                     MR. KENNETH CUTILLO:  Good afternoon. 

 

            My name is Ken Cutillo.  I'm the Chief Executive 

                                                                  

            Officer of Boston Financial Investment 

 

            Management. 

 

                     I'm pleased to testify this afternoon 

 

            on behalf of Capital One in support of its 

 

            acquisition of ING Bank.  I appreciate the            

 

            opportunity to address this body, and I offer 

 

            the following testimony for your consideration. 

 

                     Whenever a bank merger is contemplated, 

 

            one of the key regulatory considerations is the 

 



            commitment of the merger participants to              

 

            community-based lending and investing. 

 

                     My firm, Boston Financial, is a sponsor 

 

            and manager of investment funds that invests in 

 

            affordable housing.  We are considered to be one 

 

            of the nation's largest apartment owners.             

 

            Capital One is one of our most significant 

 

            partners, supporting neighborhoods throughout 

 

            the United States by investing through our funds 

 

            in numerous affordable apartment communities. 

 

                     It is Capital One's commitment to the        

 

            growth and revitalization of local neighborhoods 

 

            that I want to briefly describe for you today. 

 

                     Capital One and my firm are active 

 

            participants in the Federal Low-Income Housing 

                                                                    

            Tax Credit Program.  Under this program, private 

 

            sector capital is invested in new or 

 

            substantially-renovated rental housing devoted 

 

            to low-income residents. 

 

                     In addition to providing quality             

 

            housing to a low-income tenancy, rent levels at 

 

            these apartment communities are restricted, 

 

            ensuring affordability for the residents. 

 

                     Investments made under this program are 

 

            long-term commitments to the community, having a      

 

            compliance period of at least 15 years. 

 

                     Wellwish data states that this program 

 



            produces approximately 100,000 units of housing 

 

            per year.  Wellwish data also states that an 

 

            average 100-unit apartment project built under        

 

            this program creates 122 development period jobs 

 

            and 30 permanent jobs. 

 

                     Those of you who are from the Chicago 

 

            area may know that the former Cabrini Green 

 

            housing project was redeveloped in part under         

 

            the tax credit program. 

 

                     Capital One has demonstrated a deep 

 

            commitment to affordable housing through its 

 

            investment in this program.  Capital One has 

                                                                     

            invested over $2.4 billion in affordable 

 

            apartment communities throughout the nation.  In 

 

            fact, Capital One's investment activity has 

 

            increased every year since 2006. 

 

                     This level of involvement in the             

 

            creation of affordable rental housing is even 

 

            more impressive to me when you consider much of 

 

            Capital One's investment was made in the face of 

 

            the 2008 financial crisis and the years of slow 

 

            recovery thereafter.                                  

 

                     Capital One has stepped up to create 

 

            new rental housing in neighborhoods just at the 

 

            time that many residents were losing their homes 

 

            and found themselves in critical need of a roof 

 

            over their heads.                                     

 



                     On a personal level, I can attest to 

 

            Capital One's creativity and diligence in 

 

            neighborhood revitalization through its 

 

            partnerships with my firm.  Through Boston 

 

            Financial Funds, Capital One has invested in 160      

 

            affordable communities, representing 

 

            approximately 20,000 apartment units.  These 

 

            properties are located in large cities as well 

 

            as in rural areas.  They are located in states 

                                                                     

            from Massachusetts to California and many in 

 

            between.  These properties oftentimes represent 

 

            the only meaningful new construction of rental 

 

            housing that their respective communities have 

 

            experienced in many years.                            

 

                     I'm not sure that all the numbers and 

 

            statistics adequately convey the impact that 

 

            Capital One's investments have on local 

 

            communities so I thought I would conclude by 

 

            briefly describing one Capital One community          

 

            that I have personal involvement with. 

 

                     Renewal Homes is a project located in a 

 

            community in New Orleans which was severely 

 

            damaged by Hurricane Katrina.  Five years after 

 

            the hurricane, the community has still not            

 

            recovered. 

 

                     Capital One recently partnered with a 

 

            local development team to invest $12 million of 

 



            debt and equity in the revitalization of 47 

 

            homes in this community.  This is not just            

 

            another suburban garden apartment project.  This 

 

            is scattered-site in-fill redevelopment where 

 

            these homes are being reinstructed in the face 

 

            of ongoing neglect and urban blight.  These 

                                                                  

            homes have up to three bedrooms and range in 

 

            size from 850 to over 1,500 square feet. 

 

                     When construction is completed, these 

 

            homes will include finishes and amenities such 

 

            as hardwood floors, granite countertops and           

 

            in-unit washers and dryers.  20 percent of the 

 

            homes will be reserved for residents who were 

 

            formerly homeless, disabled or are families with 

 

            small children. 

 

                     Capital One has provided 100 percent of      

 

            the private sector financing necessary for this 

 

            community. 

 

                     In conclusion, to the extent a 

 

            community-based investment is a important 

 

            consideration for this body, I respectfully           

 

            suggest that Capital One has demonstrated a deep 

 

            and significant commitment to neighborhood 

 

            revitalization throughout the country for a long 

 

            period of time, and I would expect this 

 

            commitment to grow in the years ahead.                

 

                     Thank you. 

 



                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very 

 

            much. 

 

                     Ms. Gershen. 

                                                                    

                     MS. HEATHER GERSHEN:  My name is 

 

            Heather Gershen, Director of Housing Development 

 

            for Fifth Avenue Committee, a not-for-profit 

 

            community development corporation in Brooklyn, 

 

            New York.                                             

 

                     As part of our overall mission to work 

 

            for economic development and social justice 

 

            throughout South Brooklyn, we develop and manage 

 

            affordable housing and community facilities, 

 

            provide student-centered adult education, offer       

 

            workforce development programs and entitlements 

 

            and benefit counseling as well as organize 

 

            tenants and workers around gentrification and 

 

            displacement issues. 

 

                     The work that I manage is the new            

 

            construction and renovation of both rental 

 

            housing and home ownership opportunities for 

 

            low, moderate and middle-income New Yorkers. 

 

                     FAC has developed over 800 units of 

 

            affordable housing in the past 15 years and has       

 

            another 1,000 in our pipeline.  We manage all 

 

            aspects of the development process from site 

 

            selection and feasibility to design, finance and 

 

            construction. 

                                                                    



                     We do projects as small as one to 

 

            four-family buildings or as large as 10-story, 

 

            80-unit buildings. 

 

                     I'm testifying in support of Capital 

 

            One's purchase of ING Direct.                         

 

                     While working with Capital One's 

 

            Community Development Mortgage Group in New York 

 

            City, I have experienced unprecedented and 

 

            unparalleled quality in their provision and 

 

            administration of home mortgage loans for             

 

            low-income home buyers, and in the past four 

 

            years, this has been no small task. 

 

                     FAC has developed two large 

 

            mixed-income cooperatives in the past four years 

 

            totalling 140 apartments for sale at an array of      

 

            price points for families at an array of income 

 

            levels. 

 

                     We worked with over a dozen lenders to 

 

            introduce them to our projects, our buyers and 

 

            our complicated subsidized financing models.          

 

            Capital One was the only lender to provide a 

 

            portfolio of loan products suitable for our work 

 

            and our purchasers. 

 

                     I will say that again.  We vetted every 

                                                                   

            national and regional bank that is in the 

 

            end-loan business in New York, and Capital One 

 

            was the only lender willing to invest its money 

 



            into our vision and our purchasers' vision of 

 

            home ownership opportunities for low-income home      

 

            buyers. 

 

                     In a moment, I'll gladly detail the 

 

            phenomenal work that backed up this commitment, 

 

            but first, I'd like to take a moment to set the 

 

            context around it.                                    

 

                     Since the end-loan market began to 

 

            tighten around the end of 2007, we've seen 

 

            Capital One's competition advertise their 

 

            mortgage lending heavily in our neighborhoods, 

 

            but pull back the curtain, and it turns out that      

 

            they were only offering products that were to be 

 

            purchased or secured by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac 

 

            or New York State's equivalent, SONYMA.  They 

 

            took almost no risk and reaped much of the 

 

            rewards for making loans in low-income                

 

            communities. 

 

                     As those banks merged, restructured, 

 

            were sold and otherwise shuffled their business 

 

            about, non-profit developers and our low-income 

                                                                  

            clients were made to wait, resubmit documents 

 

            dozens of times and establish personal 

 

            relationships with loan officers, processors and 

 

            managers who were then terminated, moved or 

 

            reorganized all over the country.                     

 

                     Both of our projects were delayed and 

 



            hundreds of thousands of dollars were 

 

            unnecessarily spent, and it wasn't because we 

 

            didn't do a good job building and it wasn't 

 

            because our purchasers weren't qualified; it was      

 

            because the lenders that claimed to be our 

 

            partners were not actually providing real 

 

            investment in the end-loan marketplace and 

 

            because they treated this line of business which 

 

            is inherently personal and inherently tied to         

 

            families' American dream with the disrespect and 

 

            ignorance that has unfortunately become Wall 

 

            Street's recent stereotype, but not Capital One. 

 

                     Not only has this lender maintained its 

 

            portfolio of lending products for low-income          

 

            home buyers throughout the recession, it has 

 

            structured its entire line of business in an 

 

            efficient, transparent and most importantly 

 

            respectful way. 

                                                                   

                     Capital One's Community Development 

 

            Mortgage Team in New York City led by Mariadele 

 

            Priest is a phenomenal group of bankers.  They 

 

            understand affordable housing development, they 

 

            know the ins and outs of the subsidy programs         

 

            that enable us to offer sales prices at 

 

            50 percent of the appraised value of a 

 

            comparable unit.  They're willing to make a loan 

 

            against a piece of collateral that's heavily 

 



            restricted and comes with multiple soft second        

 

            mortgages behind them.  They know it takes a 

 

            village to build an Atlantic Terrace, mixed-use 

 

            LEED-certified residential cooperative in a 

 

            mixed-use condominium. 

 

                     They work nicely alongside our               

 

            government agency partners and construction 

 

            lenders and have never stood in the way of our 

 

            project or purchasers while doing their due 

 

            diligence.  They maintain a 20 percent exposure 

 

            on each of our projects.                              

 

                     But most importantly, they treat our 

 

            low-income purchasers with dignity and respect. 

 

            And when it comes to banking, respect does not 

 

            mean service with a smile or a beautiful website 

                                                                 

            and accessible ATMs.  It means making actual 

 

            loans, rolling up your sleeves and doing the 

 

            work. 

 

                     A low-income family often has to cobble 

 

            income together from a variety of part-time or        

 

            full-time jobs to make ends meet, but this 

 

            doesn't mean that they're overspending on their 

 

            housing, they are not in precarious positions. 

 

            They're working hard and they're looking to gain 

 

            a foothold in homeownership, create equity for        

 

            their household and a legacy for their kids. 

 

            They are our teachers, our nurses, bus drivers, 

 



            child care professionals and filmmakers.  They 

 

            may have peculiarities about their credit or be 

 

            putting themselves through school or collect          

 

            Social Security for a disabled family member, 

 

            but these families are making it work. 

 

                     Understanding these complicated 

 

            dynamics at the individual level and then making 

 

            a loan against them takes skill and dedication        

 

            that only Capital One has provided in the New 

 

            York market.  Without them, at least 27 

 

            low-income families we work with might not be in 

 

            their homes today. 

                                                                

                     Our not-for-profit organization is also 

 

            deeply appreciative of the grant making that 

 

            Capital One does to support us in our general 

 

            operating expenses which enables me to be here 

 

            and do my work.                                       

 

                     Thank you for allowing us the 

 

            opportunity to go on record and support this 

 

            bank with a true community development mission 

 

            and a wonderful management team. 

 

                     As you continue to hear testimony on         

 

            their performance, I'm happy to provide 

 

            additional information on the work we've done 

 

            together. 

 

                     Fifth Avenue Committee also stands by 

 

            our consumer finance advocate partners in urging      

 



            you to closely evaluate Capital One's credit 

 

            card business especially in light of the 

 

            potential acquisition of the HSBC, Household and 

 

            Orchard Bank brands. 

 

                     Thank you.                                   

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     Ms. Harman. 

 

                     MS. GINA HARMAN:  Thank you for this 

 

            opportunity to speak in support of Capital One's 

                                                                    

            application to acquire ING Direct. 

 

                     My name is Gina Harman.  I am the CEO 

 

            of the Accion U.S. Network.  We are a membership 

 

            organization of five non-profit microlenders 

 

            across the country operating in 20 states and         

 

            some 37 cities.  Our mission is to create access 

 

            to opportunity through financial inclusion, and 

 

            the populations we serve are overwhelmingly 

 

            low-to-moderate-income immigrant and minority 

 

            business owners or those who wish to start a          

 

            business. 

 

                     A large part of -- and they are, in 

 

            fact, part of the younger bank sector in our 

 

            nation now identified as 40 million households. 

 

                     After two decades of providing capital       

 

            and business support services, Accion has grown 

 

            to be the largest provider of microloans and 

 

            business services in the country.  We're proud 

 



            of our accomplishments and humbled by how much 

 

            more there is to do.                                  

 

                     We've dispersed $300 million to 20,000 

 

            business owners.  To accomplish our work, we, 

 

            like so many others who have testified today, 

 

            rely heavily on the support of others.  That 

                                                                

            support takes many forms, and among those 

 

            supporters, none has been more consistent nor 

 

            more innovative than Capital One. 

 

                     Their support helps provide loans to 

 

            capitalize our portfolios, capacity building          

 

            grants, support for the industry as a whole 

 

            through our trade associations and through 

 

            community-based as well as national events that 

 

            make the field of microenterprise and its 

 

            products accessible to thousands.                     

 

                     From an endorsement this year by 

 

            Capital One of the Microfinance USA conference 

 

            which attracted 800 people over two days to New 

 

            York City to discuss the issues of the field 

 

            both domestically and internationally to              

 

            creating and promoting the "Second Look" program 

 

            which was described in earlier testimony which 

 

            allows those who have applied for a business 

 

            loan at the Capital One branch to find their way 

 

            to a microlender such as Accion when the bank         

 

            has been unable to provide for their needs, 

 



            beyond that, they provide marketing support and 

 

            leadership to the Association of Enterprise 

 

            Opportunity and to the Opportunity Finance 

                                                                

            Network, they participate as members of our 

 

            boards of directors, they are a steadfast 

 

            partner driving the field to higher standards 

 

            and greater reach. 

 

                     As the nation looks for ways to make         

 

            financial inclusion a reality for the millions 

 

            of households who today have been marginalized, 

 

            Capital One is a leader among leaders and are 

 

            friends to those of us at work on the ground in 

 

            the communities across this country.                  

 

                     One such example is the funding and 

 

            support that Capital One provided Accion Texas 

 

            as it to sought to move into the State of 

 

            Louisiana following Katrina.  From that 

 

            expansion of one city in Louisiana, we have now       

 

            grown to five and are now in a position to 

 

            expand the services and products we provide all 

 

            along the Delta and up the Mississippi. 

 

                     This is but one example of how Capital 

 

            One works with Accion to serve the communities        

 

            in need. 

 

                     I thank you for your time and say on 

 

            behalf of Accion that we are pleased to be in 

 

            the company of Capital One and look forward to 

                                                                  



            its continued growth and success. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very 

 

            much. 

 

                     Questions? 

 

                     MS. WILLIAMS:  First, I want to ask to       

 

            Mr. Cutillo, can you talk a little bit about how 

 

            Capital One was involved with Cabrini Green? 

 

            Could you kind of clarify it? 

 

                     MR. KENNETH CUTILLO:  No, it was just 

 

            for people who are local to Chicago, I wanted to      

 

            cite an example of how the tax credit program 

 

            that Capital One and my firm is involved with 

 

            generally is utilized to transform housing.  I 

 

            was trying to use it as an example for folks who 

 

            are local here who could see how a high-profile       

 

            public housing project can really be transformed 

 

            by the use of this program. 

 

                     MS. WILLIAMS:  Oh, okay.  All right. 

 

            Thank you. 

 

                     And then the other question that I had       

 

            for you, Ms. Carter, how long have you been in 

 

            business, how many employees do you have, and 

 

            how long have you been working with Capital One? 

 

            Because you mentioned that you went through some 

                                                                   

            of the training programs they have. 

 

                     MS. YOLANDA CARTER:  Actually, we 

 

            started our business just before Katrina in 

 



            2005.  Katrina completely wiped us out so we 

 

            kind of restarted again in 2006.                      

 

                     We prior to the training with Capital 

 

            One employed on a contract basis maybe about 12 

 

            to 15 people most times.  Since our involvement 

 

            with Capital One and the program and the 

 

            increase in business that it's brought us             

 

            because of the things that we've implemented 

 

            that Capital One -- I mean, real, practical 

 

            things that have made a difference in our 

 

            business, we now recently -- as recent as the 

 

            last six months have employed well over 30            

 

            people at times and four people that we're 

 

            bringing on permanently shortly as a result of 

 

            our increase in business and the training and 

 

            opportunities that Capital One has given us. 

 

                     MS. WILLIAMS:  Okay.  Thank you.  You        

 

            need to come to Chicago. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Okay.  Anybody 

 

            else, any questions? 

 

                     Okay.  Thank you very much to this 

                                                                   

            panel. 

 

                     Okay.  Welcome to the panel.  Just a 

 

            reminder.  Please speak directly into the 

 

            microphones, and when you begin your statement, 

 

            state your name and your affiliation for the          

 

            record. 

 



                     And lastly, keep an eye on the 

 

            timekeeper who will signal you when your time is 

 

            up.  The yellow light means you have one minute 

 

            left, and then the red light means that the time      

 

            is up.  And with that, we'll get started with 

 

            Mr. Gondolfi. 

 

                     MR. GALEN GONDOLFI:  Good afternoon. 

 

            My name is Galen Gondolfi.  I am a Senior Loan 

 

            Counselor and Chief Communications Counselor          

 

            with the St. Louis, Missouri-based non-profit 

 

            organization. 

 

                     The mission of Justine Peterson is to 

 

            connect low-to-moderate-income individuals and 

 

            families with institutional resources so that         

 

            they may build assets. 

 

                     In short, much of our work includes 

 

            banking those individuals who experience 

 

            barriers when attempting to access products and 

                                                                    

            services from mainstream financial institutions. 

 

                     At Justine Petersen, we review clients' 

 

            credit reports and offer consultation on how to 

 

            improve their credit scores.  There have been 

 

            many instances where a client's report has            

 

            included a Capital One credit card balance now 

 

            reported as a collection or a civil judgment, 

 

            also known as a public record.  I will highlight 

 

            two such cases today.  In both instances, 

 



            Capital One demonstrated an overly-aggressive        

 

            process of trying to transition a delinquent 

 

            credit card balance to a collection and 

 

            ultimately a civil judgment which in turn 

 

            resulted in garnishment activity. 

 

                     Also, in both cases, either Capital One      

 

            directly or through the collection agency hired 

 

            by Capital One, attempts made by the client to 

 

            negotiate a settlement fell on deaf ears. 

 

                     Moreover, in both cases, Capital One 

 

            held the client responsible for excessive late        

 

            fees and mounting interest. 

 

                     Example one.  Our client had not used 

 

            her Capital One card since she was laid off in 

 

            2007.  Her credit card balance was sent to a 

                                                                  

            collection agency which refused any repayment 

 

            arrangement other than the balance being paid in 

 

            full.  She was told if the balance were not paid 

 

            in full, she would be issued a judgment.  The 

 

            judgment arrived one year later reflecting the        

 

            interest accrued during the interim.  She is 

 

            currently being garnished for this balance; her 

 

            garnishment is nearing the four-year mark. 

 

                     Example two.  Our client attempted to 

 

            dispute over $600 in fraudulent charges on his        

 

            Capital One credit card.  During the dispute 

 

            process, Capital One expediently sent his 

 



            balance to collections and was ultimately deemed 

 

            a judgment. 

 

                     He attempted to settle his balance with      

 

            no avail.  His balance continued to rise due to 

 

            late fees and accrued interest.  At one point, 

 

            his bank account was garnished for $3,000.  Even 

 

            though his original balance was $3,000, he has 

 

            been garnished for over 3,000, and Capital One        

 

            claims he still owes $2,400.  He states that he 

 

            had felt that, quote, nobody would work with 

 

            him, end quote. 

 

                     In some -- in both cases, Capital One 

                                                       

            demonstrated aggressive tactics in terms of 

 

            collection time lines, the inability to offer 

 

            fundamental customer service and relations over 

 

            payment negotiations and had a zero tolerance 

 

            policy for abating any accrued late fees and          

 

            interest.  Capital One essentially exploited 

 

            their customers as opposed to finding any middle 

 

            ground in resolving the issues at hand. 

 

                     According to the FDIC National Survey 

 

            of Unbanked and Underbanked Households released       

 

            in December of 2009, St. Louis, Missouri ranks 

 

            number one in the nation in relation to 

 

            low-and-moderate-income populations being 

 

            underbanked or unbanked. 

 

                     The actions of Capital One along with        

 



            other mainstream financial institutions 

 

            perpetuate the plight of the un- and 

 

            underbanked, offering no solution in terms of 

 

            remedy or negotiation but rather opting for 

 

            punitive measures such as civil judgments and         

 

            ultimate garnishments. 

 

                     The sad reality is that Capital One is 

 

            not alone when it comes to such exploitative and 

 

            oppressive tactics exhibited by mainstream 

                                                                  

            financial institutions.  Predatory credit 

 

            lending and collecting is still very much alive 

 

            and well in the U.S. marketplace. 

 

                     Thank you. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very         

 

            much. 

 

                     Ms. Hutchinson. 

 

                     MS. JACQUELINE HUTCHINSON:  Good 

 

            afternoon.  I'm Jacqueline Hutchinson, and I'm a 

 

            policy analyst and board member of the Missouri       

 

            Consumers Council. 

 

                     I am presenting this testimony on 

 

            behalf of the Metropolitan St. Louis Equal 

 

            Opportunity -- Equal Housing Opportunity Council 

 

            and the St. Louis Equal Housing and Community         

 

            Reinvestment Alliance, an alliance of 14 

 

            St. Louis area organizations working together to 

 

            promote investment in low-income and minority 

 



            communities as required by the Community 

 

            Reinvestment Act.                                     

 

                     I thank you for the opportunity to 

 

            present this testimony on behalf of these 

 

            organizations. 

 

                     The organizations mentioned oppose the 

                                                                     

            proposed acquisition of ING Direct by Capital 

 

            One.  We believe that the Federal Reserve has a 

 

            responsibility to deny Capital One's application 

 

            to acquire ING Direct for three primary reasons. 

 

                     Number one, economic benefit to all          

 

            communities served by Capital One is a missing 

 

            component of its public benefit claim. 

 

                     The St. Louis region faces many 

 

            socioeconomic challenges that afflict our 

 

            low-income, low-to-moderate-income residents, as      

 

            do most major metropolitan areas.  According to 

 

            the 2009 FDIC survey, there are 88,000 or 

 

            7.5 percent of our area's 1.1 million households 

 

            who do not use or have access to basic banking 

 

            services.  That includes 75,000 African American      

 

            households, about 31 percent of that population 

 

            and 11 percent of other minorities in our 

 

            community. 

 

                     These conditions are magnified by the 

 

            lack of community-based financial institutions        

 

            willing and able to offer products and services 

 



            that meet the needs of our community. 

 

                     Tough economic times require financial 

 

            institutions willing to adopt business models 

                                                                   

            that are committed to serving communities. 

 

            Capital One has shown no desire to impact 

 

            economic growth in our community. 

 

                     Number two.  An acquisition creating 

 

            the fifth-largest financial institution in the        

 

            country, another Too-Big-to-Fail institution, 

 

            should have a strong business model which 

 

            includes a CRA commitment in all LMI areas where 

 

            business is transacted. 

 

                     So let's talk about Capital One's            

 

            business model.  The main product line of 

 

            Capital One Bank are subprime credit cards and 

 

            then subprime auto loans, not quality or 

 

            responsible lending.  Even though credit card 

 

            lending is their main product line, these             

 

            product lines are not included in the CRA review 

 

            and exam, leading to no accountability for them. 

 

                     Capital One has low mortgage 

 

            originations in predominantly minority areas and 

 

            low-income neighborhoods in St. Louis and across      

 

            the country. 

 

                     So is quality service to the community 

 

            a part of their business model?  Quite the 

 

            contrary. 

                                                                  



                     Attorneys General in Minnesota, West 

 

            Virginia and California have investigated 

 

            Capital One for false and misleading credit card 

 

            marketing. 

 

                     The Missouri Attorney General's              

 

            Consumer Complaint Division received 553 

 

            complaints from 2008 till present concerning 

 

            Capital One Bank mortgage and auto loans.  The 

 

            major things of these complaints were high 

 

            interest rates and rate changes without cause         

 

            including increases from 11 percent to 

 

            29 percent without any late payments, high 

 

            over-the-limit fees, -- $39 was a number 

 

            quoted -- false advertising, charges for 

 

            unsolicited insurance and memberships and             

 

            deceptive collection practices. 

 

                     I'd like to read a couple of these 

 

            complaints, and I have submitted a full list of 

 

            the 553 complaints as an attachment to my longer 

 

            version of this testimony.                            

 

                     "I just found out on October 29th that 

 

            my house is being foreclosed on when a Realtor 

 

            came to my house and offered me $1,000 to move 

 

            in two weeks.  I was not prepared for this since 

                                                                     

            my lender, Capital One, -- since I sent my 

 

            lender, Capital One, $1,100 last week." 

 

                     This person was threatened with a 

 



            foreclosure and was told by Capital One that 

 

            there was nothing that they could do.                 

 

                     The complaint number two person had 

 

            sent a $1,000 payment in to Capital One on a 

 

            credit card which they stated they did not 

 

            receive, and three years later, they were still 

 

            disputing that payment.                               

 

                     My number three complaint -- I'm sorry. 

 

            My number three point was the impact of previous 

 

            Capital One acquisitions and their past CRA 

 

            evaluation must be considered as a predictor of 

 

            what we can expect in the future.  And what has       

 

            the impact of Capital One's acquisitions been? 

 

            Overall decline in community involvement across 

 

            the country and some other points that have been 

 

            made earlier. 

 

                     But I want to conclude by saying that        

 

            because of Capital One's lack of community 

 

            involvement, poor business model and 

 

            unacceptable history, we strongly believe that 

 

            the Federal Reserve has a responsibility to deny 

                                                               

            Capital One's application to acquire ING Direct. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you. 

 

                     Ms. Ratner. 

 

                     MS. HEDY RATNER:  Hedy Ratner from the 

 

            Women's Business Development Center, and thank        

 

            you for the opportunity to speak on the 

 



            application of Capital One Financial Corporation 

 

            to acquire ING Bank. 

 

                     My organization of Women's Business 

 

            Development Center in collaboration with other        

 

            minority and women's business organizations 

 

            represents thousands of women- and 

 

            minority-owned businesses in the Chicago area. 

 

                     While we work with many financial 

 

            institutions with local as well as a national         

 

            presence, we have not had firsthand experience 

 

            with Capital One or ING Direct, however, we are 

 

            committed to addressing economic opportunity 

 

            issues as it relates to the minority and women's 

 

            small business community of Chicago.                  

 

                     The Community Reinvestment Act has a 

 

            fundamental goal of providing credit needs to 

 

            low-and-moderate-income groups.  The Community 

 

            Reinvestment Act allows banks to define its 

                                                                   

            assessment area in terms of physical geography. 

 

                     Both Capital One and ING Direct have 

 

            customers nationwide but have a minimal CRA 

 

            obligation to having a small physical branch 

 

            presence.                                             

 

                     Capital One is not designated in the 

 

            Chicago region or Illinois as a CRA assessment 

 

            area despite having credit card customers 

 

            residing in the area.  In addition, Capital 

 



            One's CRA performance evaluation is over five         

 

            years old, and its current exam is not yet 

 

            completed.  As such, there are legitimate 

 

            concerns with this merger that need to be 

 

            addressed before the Federal Reserve Board 

 

            approves its application.                             

 

                     Prior to the approval of this 

 

            application, the Federal Reserve Board should 

 

            look to modernize the Community Reinvestment Act 

 

            as it relates to defining a bank's assessment 

 

            area.  CRA was introduced over three decades ago      

 

            and has not yet been updated to include the 

 

            emergence of Internet banking. 

 

                     In addition, the Federal Reserve Board 

 

            should consider requiring Capital One to provide 

                                                                   

            local quantifiable financial services and small 

 

            business lending commitments in all metro areas, 

 

            states or rural counties where it has a credit 

 

            card lending, mortgage lending or deposit market 

 

            share of .5 percent as a condition of approval.       

 

                     Capital One has responded to concerns 

 

            regarding the CRA commitment by pledging 180 

 

            billion in a ten-year investment which includes 

 

            22.5 billion to small businesses and small farm 

 

            lending.                                              

 

                     Capital One supports small business 

 

            lending with its high-interest and high-fee 

 



            credit products and has over the years almost 

 

            stopped any other lending that is really more 

 

            advantageous to the small business borrower.          

 

                     The Federal Reserve Board should 

 

            require that Capital One must actively 

 

            participate in government programs including 

 

            SBA 7(a) as well as increase traditional bank 

 

            lending, i.e., loans with evolving lines of           

 

            credit outside of business credit cards. 

 

                     SBA lending programs promote sound 

 

            lending policies and regulate the level that 

 

            these banks can charge to its small business 

                                                                     

            customers. 

 

                     Unlike credit cards, traditional bank 

 

            loans, including SBA loans, often require review 

 

            of a sound business plan including financial 

 

            projections along with a high level of guidance       

 

            and expertise provided by a bank.  This 

 

            additional scrutiny can result in a higher 

 

            success rate of small businesses and potentially 

 

            a lower default rate. 

 

                     Capital One has committed $450 million       

 

            in grants to community services.  The Federal 

 

            Reserve Board should ensure that a significant 

 

            portion of the grants support financial 

 

            education for low-income communities where it 

 

            has a credit card lending, mortgage lending or        

 



            deposit market share of .5 percent.  Financial 

 

            education is a critical component in any event 

 

            to ensure financial stability and building 

 

            wealth. 

 

                     In addition, Capital One should be           

 

            encouraged to partner with CDFIs and other 

 

            economic development agencies across its 

 

            assessment area. 

 

                     Capital One can work with organizations 

                                                                  

            such as ours, the Women's Business Development 

 

            Center, that has a strong history of developing 

 

            innovative solutions for underserved small 

 

            businesses. 

 

                     The Women's Business Development Center      

 

            and many of its partners believe that the merger 

 

            of these two major institutions should increase 

 

            its small business lending, commitment to 

 

            community and economic development, diversity in 

 

            leadership and employment policies and in             

 

            contracting to small and minority-owned 

 

            businesses. 

 

                     Small business lending in 

 

            low-and-moderate-income communities and loans to 

 

            minority and women-owned business should be           

 

            enhanced -- could be enhanced with the 

 

            collection of gender and race-based lender data 

 

            that has been available for housing but has not 

 



            been available for small business.  We propose 

 

            that Capital One would voluntarily collect            

 

            gender and race-based information to help 

 

            develop the most successful policies and 

 

            programs to enhance the growth of small business 

 

            lending as well as mortgages in our communities. 

                                                               

                     Once these concerns have been 

 

            thoroughly addressed, we at the Women's Business 

 

            Development Center could support the merger of 

 

            Capital One Financial Corporation and ING 

 

            Direct.                                               

 

                     Thank you. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     Ms. Stewart. 

 

                     MS. VELVA STEWART:  Good afternoon.  My 

 

            name is Velva Stewart.  I'm for the Jewish            

 

            Community -- Action Community in Minneapolis. 

 

                     I appreciate the opportunity to speak 

 

            to you today about Capital One's proposed 

 

            acquisition of ING Direct and how it may impact 

 

            my community.                                         

 

                     I am a full-time JCA staff person in 

 

            the Twin Cities of Minnesota and an NCRC 

 

            organizer in charge of National Neighbors Silver 

 

            program.  Our main program is working in the 

 

            North Side community of Minneapolis at this           

 

            point, and we wish to expand. 

 



                     Jewish Community Action is a 

 

            16-year-old non-profit with 

 

            a half-million-dollar budget, 800 members and is 

                                                                   

            dedicated to uniting Jews in the Twin Cities as 

 

            allies to other communities for racial, economic 

 

            and social justice. 

 

                     I am one of nine JCA organizers.  I've 

 

            been assigned to staff the North Side Community       

 

            Reinvestment Coalition. 

 

                     The NCRC is a coalition of religious, 

 

            ethnic, neighborhood and community organizations 

 

            organizing to prevent foreclosure and defend 

 

            community wealth in our neighborhood.                 

 

                     On behalf of NCRC and the communities 

 

            we serve, I strongly urge you to deny this 

 

            acquisition.  The public benefits of this 

 

            acquisition do not outweigh the risks associated 

 

            with allowing Capital One to grow even larger.        

 

                     You've heard before that we have these 

 

            Too-Big-to-Fail institutions, allowing them to 

 

            engage in overly risky business practices.  The 

 

            severity of the recent crisis led Board Governor 

 

            Tarullo to state that regulators should               

 

            discourage the growth of Too-Big-to-Fail 

 

            institutions unless the benefits to society are 

 

            clearly significant.  Without clearly 

 

            significant public benefits, we simply cannot 

                                                                   



            support this acquisition. 

 

                     A recent study from AARP found that 

 

            housing costs are becoming more burdensome for 

 

            older adults.  Those who rent or own with 

 

            mortgages are at a greater risk of affordability      

 

            challenges, of course, than those who own their 

 

            homes debt free.  In Minnesota alone, among 

 

            older adults that own their own homes, 

 

            43 percent are experiencing either moderate or 

 

            severe housing cost burdens, spending up to           

 

            50 percent of their entire income on housing. 

 

                     NCRC's recent research reports that the 

 

            sharp reduction in the value of most seniors' 

 

            primary financial asset, their home, -- excuse 

 

            me, my allergies always start at the wrong            

 

            time -- has left many seniors vulnerable to 

 

            financial insecurity. 

 

                     When combined with rampant predatory 

 

            practices targeted against seniors, it is clear 

 

            that older adults are in need of access to            

 

            responsible banking services in their community. 

 

                     A small story about my experience. 

 

            I purchased along with my husband our home in 

 

            1970 in the Harrison neighborhood in North 

            

            Minneapolis.  We had the home for 35 years, 

 

            raised our family there.  My house was the spot 

 

            for all neighborhood kids to drop in. 

 



                     In 2005, I was told by the city that 

 

            there were repairs necessary.  And this happened      

 

            to hundreds and hundreds of senior adults who 

 

            had owned their homes for 20 to 30 years in this 

 

            area. 

 

                      The city knew and we know they knew 

 

            that there wasn't a bank in the community that        

 

            would make a loan that we would need to cover 

 

            these repairs. 

 

                     My home was always well kept, but codes 

 

            had changed after the inspections.  I went to 

 

            U.S. Bank, Wells Fargo, bank after bank, no one       

 

            was interested.  Bear in mind, I had worked my 

 

            whole life and my mortgage was paid off 

 

            entirely, and I was acted upon to short sell and 

 

            eventually got into a foreclosure rescue scam to 

 

            try to make the repairs on my home, lost the          

 

            home by the person who purchased it and was 

 

            evicted. 

 

                     We need more banks that are committed 

 

            to improving the communities in which they do 

                                                                    

            business.  We don't need more banks that are 

 

            only concerned with maximizing profits. 

 

                     Building rental units I agree is 

 

            helpful, but people also want to stay in their 

 

            homes.  If Capital One had been there for me, I       

 

            would have been able to keep my home. 

 



                     I urge you to deny this acquisition. 

 

            At a minimum, the Federal Reserve should 

 

            condition its approval on a genuine forward 

 

            commitment by Capital One to benefit the public       

 

            including older Americans. 

 

                     Thank you. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very 

 

            much. 

 

                     Questions?                                   

 

                     MS. WILLIAMS:  I've got a question. 

 

            This is for Hedy. 

 

                     I know that you've been working with 

 

            small business owners for quite some time, and 

 

            you spoke a little bit about, you know, how           

 

            Capital One can work in this market, and, you 

 

            know, one of the things that we hear often these 

 

            days is that access to credit for small business 

 

            owners continues to be a challenge.  So could 

      

            you like comment on that or ideas that you may 

 

            have? 

 

                     MS. HEDY RATNER:  Access to capital in 

 

            traditional financial institutions is a great 

 

            challenge right now for small businesses, not         

 

            only for the ones who are start-ups but also for 

 

            the established businesses who are losing -- 

 

            their loans are being called and they're losing 

 

            their lines of credit or being asked to leave 

 



            banks.  This has had an adverse effect on job         

 

            retention and job creation among small 

 

            businesses, minority and women-owned businesses. 

 

                     We're very concerned that although the 

 

            SBA has established many incentives to encourage 

 

            the lending to small businesses, it isn't             

 

            happening at the rate it should be even with the 

 

            90 percent guarantee so it's of great concern to 

 

            us. 

 

                     We've resorted to direct lending.  We 

 

            work with Accion for our microloans, and we are       

 

            doing direct loans.  We're still trying to work 

 

            with the banks, but it is a major challenge, and 

 

            we don't see that changing or expanding or 

 

            improving right now. 

                                                                 

                     MS. WILLIAMS:  And just one follow up. 

 

                     I remember some time ago -- and I don't 

 

            know if this still goes on today, but I hear it 

 

            sort of does -- that a lot of times, when small 

 

            businesses want to do financing of their              

 

            operations, they're using their credit cards. 

 

            Do you still see some of that going on? 

 

                     MS. HEDY RATNER:  We're seeing more of 

 

            that.  I believe among women-owned businesses, 

 

            that was decreasing; now we're seeing more of         

 

            that where they're relying on their credit cards 

 

            and going past their limits in order to sustain 

 



            their businesses.  So it is a major challenge 

 

            right now, and we would love to see additional 

 

            support both for access to capital as well as a       

 

            reliance on Community Reinvestment Act investing 

 

            in communities in need. 

 

                     MS. WILLIAMS:  Thank you. 

 

                     MS. PRAGER:  On this question, do you 

 

            have any sense as to what is preventing these         

 

            loans from being made at this point? 

 

                     MS. HEDY RATNER:  I think our financial 

 

            institutions are risk averse.  They're concerned 

 

            about the issues around safety and soundness.  I 

                                                                   

            think that they have invested in mortgage loans 

 

            that are non-functioning, that they are 

 

            suffering from the financial losses from those 

 

            mortgages, but I also think that they are risk 

 

            averse to the point of not being willing even         

 

            with the government incentives and SBA 

 

            incentives to look at some of what we feel are 

 

            bankable loans. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     Any other questions?                         

 

                     Thank you very much to these panelists. 

 

                     Now, we're going to take a break, a 

 

            short break.  We're going to reconvene at 3:15, 

 

            and we just have a few more speakers and we'll 

 

            wrap up here.                                         

 



                    (Whereupon, a short recess 

 

                     was taken.) 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Okay.  Welcome to 

 

            this panel. 

 

                     By the way, we're reconvening.  Back on      

 

            the record. 

 

                     Please remember to talk into the 

 

            microphone so everybody one can hear you, 

 

            especially our court reporter.  And when you 

                                                                

            begin your statement, please begin by stating 

 

            your name and your affiliation and keep an eye 

 

            on the timekeeper. 

 

                     And with that, we'll begin. 

 

                     Please, Mr. Ehrlich.                         

 

                     MR. MICHAEL EHRLICH:  Good afternoon. 

 

            Thank you for this opportunity to provide 

 

            testimony this afternoon, and I acknowledge 

 

            appreciation for the stamina required to listen 

 

            to all this testimony.                                

 

                     My name is Michael Ehrlich.  I'm an 

 

            assistant professor in the School of Management 

 

            at the New Jersey Institute of Technology. 

 

                     NJIT is New Jersey's science and 

 

            technology university committed to the pursuit        

 

            of excellence in education, research and 

 

            economic development that serves both the urban 

 

            environment as well as the broader society of 

 



            the state and nation. 

 

                     NJIT has conceived consistent and            

 

            significant support for its mission from Capital 

 

            One, and I have been directly involved in four 

 

            programs that Capital One has supported, and I 

 

            would like to speak about their extraordinary 

                                                                  

            impact on the students of NJIT, the youth of 

 

            Newark, New Jersey, youth throughout the region 

 

            and nascent firms within the region. 

 

                     The New Jersey Innovation Acceleration 

 

            Center at NJIT seeks to help new and existing         

 

            companies to accelerate the movement of their 

 

            ideas from the invention stage to thriving 

 

            ventures and to improve both time and 

 

            cost-to-market metrics. 

 

                     The Center sponsors the Innovation           

 

            Acceleration Club which gathers NJIT 

 

            undergraduates and graduate students from across 

 

            the NJIT colleges to create teams that work 

 

            together to develop new ideas into viable 

 

            business ventures.                                    

 

                     For the last several years, Capital 

 

            One's small business bankers have met monthly 

 

            with our students to mentor them and provide 

 

            real-world guidance to our students.  Several 

 

            started businesses while at NJIT and have             

 

            continued then after graduation.  And I think 

 



            that the tough love offered by Capital One 

 

            bankers has helped our students to succeed. 

 

                     The Center also has started the Newark 

                                                                   

            Innovation Acceleration Challenge.  This 

 

            early-stage business plan competition is open to 

 

            all high school, college and university students 

 

            in schools that are based in Newark, New Jersey. 

 

                     For the second year in a row now,            

 

            winners will receive a Capital One Innovation 

 

            Acceleration Scholarship which pays them to work 

 

            on their business idea full time over the 

 

            summer. 

 

                     Since many of our students require           

 

            summer earnings to support themselves in 

 

            college, this financial contribution from 

 

            Capital One allows them both to pursue their 

 

            entrepreneurial passions while supporting their 

 

            education.                                            

 

                     My earliest involvement with Capital 

 

            One came after I became aware that Capital One 

 

            had created a bank branch that was present 

 

            within one of the Newark Public High Schools, 

 

            West Side High.                                       

 

                     I arranged for an introduction and met 

 

            with a branch manager, a Capital One employee 

 

            from another branch, who explained each year, 

 

            Capital One selected ten juniors that were going 

                                                                



            to become the Capital One student bankers for 

 

            the following year, and those students would run 

 

            all aspects of a fully-functional branch after 

 

            going through teller training and apprenticeship 

 

            at another branch over the summer.  The students      

 

            would also act as financial literacy coaches and 

 

            mentors to their fellow students over the year. 

 

                     When I first saw the branch, I had to 

 

            walk down these long, old school corridors, and 

 

            there was a steel-covered shop door that the          

 

            branch was hidden behind.  And when you opened 

 

            the door, you almost laughed because what you 

 

            saw was a bank branch that's almost identical to 

 

            the bank branch in my home town, the same 

 

            colors, the same furniture the same sign, the         

 

            same everything. 

 

                     And, you know, I met, of course, the 

 

            student banker who was on duty that day.  He 

 

            walked in, a typical teenager.  He walked in, 

 

            didn't really make any eye contact, dressed as        

 

            urban teenagers typically are, and my 

 

            expectations were fairly low. 

 

                     And when I returned a little later to 

 

            speak to the teller, I found myself dealing with 

                                                                  

            a young man who was professionally dressed in a 

 

            business suit, politely dealt with all of my 

 

            banking questions, and the transformation from 

 



            urban teenager to professional banker was 

 

            astounding.  It gave me some insight to the           

 

            value of this year-long program.  These Capital 

 

            One student bankers were being groomed to go on 

 

            to college, and this program would change their 

 

            lives. 

 

                     Subsequently, I worked with the program      

 

            and managed to create a summer college 

 

            experience that would help these extraordinary 

 

            students to learn about life in college but also 

 

            learn more about financial markets and 

 

            institutions.                                         

 

                     With funding from NJIT donors as well 

 

            as from Capital One, we offered a week on campus 

 

            for student bankers from schools in Bronx, New 

 

            York; Harlem, New York; Newark, New Jersey and 

 

            Prince Georges County, Maryland.                      

 

                     By the end of the week, these students 

 

            had done original research on elements of our 

 

            financial system.  They had applied critical 

 

            thinking skills to evaluate their research and 

                                                                    

            presented a Power Point presentation and 

 

            educated their colleagues about what they'd 

 

            learned. 

 

                     More importantly, these students had an 

 

            authentic college experience where they slept in      

 

            dorms with strangers, ate in dining halls and 

 



            developed camaraderie with other students.  They 

 

            were able to engage with pre-college staff and 

 

            become prepared to apply to and succeed at the 

 

            college of their choice.                              

 

                     At the end of last year's program, the 

 

            cohort gave themselves an acronym.  They called 

 

            themselves COBIF which was the Capital One 

 

            Banking Intern Family. 

 

                     Finally, Capital One has contributed to      

 

            the Enterprise Development Center at NJIT.  EDC 

 

            is the largest high-technology business 

 

            incubator in New Jersey and has about 90 

 

            companies currently in residence.  Capital One 

 

            has transformed a fourth-floor office and             

 

            established a Capital One Entrepreneurial 

 

            Learning Lab where new entrepreneurs can learn 

 

            to develop their business skills and plans. 

 

                     NJIT receives contributions and 

                                                                       

            donations from many corporations, foundations 

 

            and individuals, but Capital One has 

 

            distinguished themselves for the depth, breadth 

 

            and consistency of their support for urban 

 

            students and early-stage businesses.                  

 

                     I believe that Capital One provides 

 

            resources to help the communities they serve and 

 

            will continue to do so in the future, and if 

 

            Capital One acquires ING, then I expect they 

 



            will be able to have an even more significant         

 

            positive impact in the community. 

 

                     Thank you. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 

                     MS. BARBARA KENT:  My name is Barbara 

 

            Kent, and I am the president of the Coalition         

 

            For Debtor Education. 

 

                     I would like to thank the Federal 

 

            Reserve panel members for the opportunity to 

 

            testify today in support of the application by 

 

            Capital One Financial Corp to acquire ING Bank.       

 

                     The Coalition For Debtor Education is a 

 

            501(c)(3) not-for-profit corporation dedicated 

 

            to providing quality financial literacy to 

 

            vulnerable populations. 

                                                                    

                     The Coalition was formed 13 years ago 

 

            as a joint venture between New York Law School 

 

            and Fordham Law School.  For the last five 

 

            years, we have been actively supported by 

 

            Capital One.                                          

 

                     Our interaction with Capital One has 

 

            been unique in many ways.  Most significantly, 

 

            Capital One is committed to providing quality 

 

            financial education and does not attach any 

 

            conditions to its support of this objective.          

 

                     A second unique aspect to our 

 

            relationship with Capital One is that Capital 

 



            One's support for our work has been 

 

            multi-facetted from the beginning.  In 

 

            particular, five years ago, Capital One helped        

 

            the Coalition to develop and implement a new 

 

            program for financial literacy in areas 

 

            designated as banking development districts in 

 

            New York City.  Such districts are areas which 

 

            the New York State Banking Department has             

 

            designated as unbanked or underbanked. 

 

                     Capital One provided both financial 

 

            help and staff, as a result of which the 

 

            Coalition was able to offer classes in New York 

                                                                       

            City Housing Authority locations in Harlem, the 

 

            Lower East Side, Brooklyn and Queens.  These 

 

            classes were attended by approximately 1,200 

 

            NYCHA residents. 

 

                     In addition, Capital One has developed       

 

            an innovative program involving peer-to-peer 

 

            instruction for students.  This enabled the 

 

            Coalition to provide classes for approximately 

 

            3,000 young people by using peer instructors 

 

            over several summers in the Summer Youth              

 

            Employment Program also run by NYCHA. 

 

                     Very importantly to the Coalition at 

 

            least, Capital One has donated in excess of 

 

            $85,000 to us over the last five years.  And 

 

            while these actions have been invaluable to the       

 



            Coalition, there are many other ways in which 

 

            Capital One has helped us. 

 

                     Two Capital One staff members, Eric 

 

            Schumar and Sean Dougherty, serve on our board, 

 

            and Eric is also the Coalition's treasurer.           

 

                     Capital One has introduced us to other 

 

            non-profits in an effort to expand our 

 

            activities.  Similarly, Capital One has hosted 

 

            two breakfasts for the Coalition in order for us 

                                                                    

            to meet other bankers and expand our programs. 

 

                     Finally, Capital One staff has 

 

            participated in our Train the Trainer classes, 

 

            thereby enabling them to be part of the 

 

            Coalition's volunteer core of teachers.               

 

                     Before concluding, I would like to add 

 

            that I have worked for many years with Stacey 

 

            Cooper of Capital One.  I believe her experience 

 

            and intellect enable Capital One to craft 

 

            programs that help individuals in neighborhoods       

 

            in unique and innovative ways.  This has been 

 

            amply demonstrated in the relationship between 

 

            the Coalition and Capital One. 

 

                     The ability of the Coalition to provide 

 

            quality financial literacy to vulnerable              

 

            populations has been greatly enhanced by the 

 

            efforts and support of Capital One, and 

 

            accordingly, we believe that the bank is 

 



            committed to CRA.  We support this application 

 

            without hesitation.                                   

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very 

 

            much. 

 

                     Mr. Marchand. 

 

                     MR. PERCY MARCHAND:  Thank you. 

                                                                   

                     Percy Marchand, the owner and operator 

 

            of NOLA Copy and Print of New Orleans, 

 

            Louisiana. 

 

                     Before I give my formal testimony, I 

 

            just want to point out a few things that the          

 

            opposition has pretty much done to kind of 

 

            support this movement.  One, most of them have 

 

            shown that they're unfamiliar with Capital One 

 

            because they don't have any locations in their 

 

            area.  Then they also highlight the bank's            

 

            aversion to being very risky when it comes to 

 

            this lending process and then turns around and 

 

            speaks about, you know, the foreclosures and the 

 

            huge amount of debt that our people are in. 

 

                     I want to testify that Capital One is a      

 

            strong community bank.  It has a strong business 

 

            model, and it's a reasonable lender, and it 

 

            seeks to educate people and link them with the 

 

            resources so that they can improve their lives. 

 

                     16 years ago, at the age of 14, I            

 

            started my first business.  Coming from a family 

 



            of small business entrepreneurs, it was a 

 

            natural decision rooting all the way back to my 

 

            last name, Marchand, which is French for 

                                                                   

            "merchant." 

 

                     Owning and operating a business is a 

 

            tall task, requiring a lot of sacrifice, 

 

            resources and experience.  Being a young small 

 

            business owner makes that task even more              

 

            complicated. 

 

                     Although I've been in business for more 

 

            than half of my life and I received a Bachelor's 

 

            Degree in management from Loyola University in 

 

            New Orleans, I was like a branch blowing in the       

 

            wind when it came to actually owning and 

 

            operating a small business. 

 

                     My formal education was about all the 

 

            theories and big business practices, and the 

 

            older small business owners to whom I reached         

 

            out were often just as lost as me or didn't have 

 

            time to help. 

 

                     I'm a recent graduate of Capital One's 

 

            "Getting Down to Business" program which through 

 

            Capital One's Mark Boucree helped to narrow down      

 

            the millions of results on Google for how to run 

 

            a small business and forced myself and the 

 

            program's other participants to take a hard look 

 

            at where we were and where we wanted to be and 

                                                                     



            then gave us the direction and resources to help 

 

            us get there. 

 

                     We were linked with mentors to help 

 

            guide us individually as we implemented the 

 

            skills, knowledge and know-how we gained from         

 

            the class. 

 

                     Having a successful, knowledgeable 

 

            fellow business owner to turn to when questions 

 

            needed to be answered or advice needed to be 

 

            given was priceless.  Although the program has        

 

            ended, I still maintain a relationship with my 

 

            mentor, and he has committed to helping my 

 

            business reach new levels of success. 

 

                     I haven't been approved for any 

 

            financing from Capital One Bank, but that's           

 

            because I haven't applied. 

 

                     What I learned from the classes and 

 

            from my personal Capital One business banker is 

 

            the importance of personal and business credit. 

 

                     Having started my business at such a         

 

            young age, there were very few financing options 

 

            available, and I, like many other small business 

 

            owners, fell for the credit card trap.  I did 

 

            not truly understand credit and how it worked. 

                                                                   

            All that I knew was that I could put down 

 

            whatever I wanted to on my application, and 

 

            weeks later, sometimes days, I had a credit card 

 



            in the mail which I would immediately max out on 

 

            purchases for my business.                            

 

                     I made the common mistake most 

 

            uninformed business owners who don't fully plan 

 

            out their businesses make.  I had a great idea 

 

            that would surely produce a profit, but it 

 

            didn't matter what the interest rate was; I had       

 

            access to capital, and I went out and spent it. 

 

            I knew I would be able to get the money back 

 

            before interest ever would accrue.  I don't need 

 

            to say how that turned out. 

 

                     Through capital One's "Getting Down to       

 

            Business" program, I learned to be more 

 

            realistic, and I learned that there are steps 

 

            between A and Z that must be accomplished to get 

 

            to the end of the alphabet.  In my case, this 

 

            involved repairing my credit, properly planning       

 

            for my business operations through preparation 

 

            of a business plan which is part of the program 

 

            and then applying for credit. 

 

                     This Capital One business program 

                                                                      

            showed me that it isn't the government, 

 

            consumers, banks, racists or big businesses that 

 

            keep small businesses from growing and 

 

            expanding, but nine times out of ten, it's the 

 

            personal credit of the business owner is the          

 

            culprit.  Failure to properly and realistically 

 



            plan is the serial killer. 

 

                     The good thing is that Capital One Bank 

 

            put me in touch with the right agencies to help 

 

            me repair my credit, and I don't have to wait to      

 

            have perfect credit to begin accessing needed 

 

            financial assistance, as the bank has 

 

            relationships with lenders who work with 

 

            businesses that are rebuilding their credit 

 

            history.                                              

 

                     This is what makes Capita One Bank 

 

            different.  While most banks would look at an 

 

            individual's low credit score and either laugh 

 

            them out of the bank or offer them a 

 

            high-interest rate loan that will eventually be       

 

            foreclosed on, Capital One Bank understands that 

 

            its success hinges upon the success of its 

 

            customers' success.  This is why so much 

 

            individualized attention is given to each 

                                                                    

            customer.  It's more than a friendly smile and a 

 

            "Hello" but a bank committed to the success of 

 

            its customers, its family. 

 

                     This summer, my company was able to 

 

            employ ten high school juniors and seniors as         

 

            well as several college students.  Using the 

 

            skills I gained in the "Getting Down to 

 

            Business" class, I was able to properly manage 

 

            and train them as well as bestow on them a lot 

 



            of the knowledge I gained from the classes.           

 

                     While nine of the interns were paid 

 

            through the city's Job 1 program, I was able to 

 

            use a stipend from the "Getting Down to 

 

            Business" program to pay our graphic design 

 

            intern's stipend.                                     

 

                     While this was a temporary job, it gave 

 

            us the opportunity to see the need for a 

 

            full-time graphic artist which we will be hiring 

 

            in the upcoming months, and it gave ten young 

 

            adults the ability to stay productive,                

 

            positively influenced and employed as a result. 

 

                     Expanding my company's workforce from 

 

            the normal five employees to 15 would have been 

 

            very challenging, if not impossible, had I not 

                                                                   

            gained the increases in strategic planning, 

 

            managerial skills and financial capacity through 

 

            the "Getting Down to Business" program. 

 

                     Additionally, the business plan we 

 

            created during the program and are currently          

 

            seeking to have funded calls for the creation of 

 

            two part-time outside sales positions. 

 

                     Capital One has perfected meeting the 

 

            needs of its individual customers requiring 

 

            personal banking services, its large customers        

 

            requiring large-scale finances and most 

 

            importantly to me and the economy of our 

 



            country, the banking and financial needs of 

 

            small to mid-size businesses.  I wholeheartedly 

 

            support this acquisition and ask that you pass        

 

            it as well. 

 

                     Thank you. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very 

 

            much. 

 

                     Mr. Thompson.                                

 

                     MR. CHARLES THOMPSON:  Thank you. 

 

                     I'm Charles Thompson.  I'm the college 

 

            advisement consultant for Capital One's Banker 

 

            Intern Program.  I work with students in the 

                                                                    

            Bronx, New York and Riverdale, Maryland.  This 

 

            will be my sixth year working for the advisement 

 

            program. 

 

                     Michael Ehrlich gave you a little 

 

            introduction to the Banker Intern Program, and        

 

            his talk was perfect because it sets everything 

 

            up for me. 

 

                     I am the individual that the bank 

 

            called in, deciding that they wanted more for 

 

            the students than just this program happening in      

 

            the school their senior year.  There was concern 

 

            that the students getting $11, $12 an hour, 

 

            whatever it was, that they were satisfied, I've 

 

            arrived, I'm a bank teller, I'm dressing up, I 

 

            have a summer job, I'm working in the bank,           

 



            their parents, first-generation immigrants to 

 

            the city, everybody's decided this is all they 

 

            need. 

 

                     The folks at Capital One said that they 

 

            needed more, that they need to think about their      

 

            postsecondary opportunities.  So I'm brought in, 

 

            and what we do is we develop an individual 

 

            approach for each one of the banker interns.  We 

 

            do a thorough assessment of their academic 

                                                                     

            portfolio, their backgrounds, their citizenship 

 

            status, the situation in their homes, all aimed 

 

            at making sure we come up with the right match 

 

            and the right strategy to move them from what 

 

            most often is an inferior public school into a        

 

            selective usually private liberal arts college. 

 

                     The bank -- and I was opposed to this 

 

            originally, but they stuck to it.  I said, 

 

            "Let's bring in students that are at a certain 

 

            level academically so that I can have all the         

 

            resources going to one strategy." 

 

                     They said, "No.  We're going to take 

 

            that kid who has potential with a 60 GPA, and 

 

            you're going to have to find a way to get him or 

 

            her into a quality undergraduate program."            

 

                     I have been in public education for 40 

 

            years, I've been working in New York City in 

 

            public schools for 21 years.  I've found no 

 



            better initiative in the city than the 

 

            initiative that Capital One has in its ability        

 

            to get students into quality undergraduate 

 

            programs, quality liberal arts undergraduate 

 

            programs that impact that child, the siblings 

 

            that will follow that child and impacts what 

                                                                    

            goes on in that home so they impact the lives of 

 

            not only the generation that they're working 

 

            with but everyone that follows those kids 

 

            because if I can get a child into Hobart and 

 

            Smith or Skidmore or Union or Lehman or Lemoine       

 

            or Nazareth or St. Michael's, that young 

 

            person's child or children will never follow the 

 

            same path that they followed. 

 

                     So Capital One through stepping outside 

 

            of the box and deciding that this branch bank         

 

            and all the hype that comes around this branch 

 

            bank and all the energy that it brings to the 

 

            school wasn't enough because they wanted those 

 

            young men and women when they got the high 

 

            school diploma being ready for the next step, to      

 

            be ready to launch.  We need about 50 programs 

 

            like that in New York City, if anybody can help 

 

            us. 

 

                     I am testifying in support of the 

 

            application.                                          

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you. 

 



                     Ms. Tshering. 

 

                     MS. YANKI TSHERING:  Good afternoon. 

 

            I'm here in support of Capital One.  I am Yanki 

                                                                    

            Tshering, Executive Director of the Business 

 

            Center for New Americans which is located in New 

 

            York City. 

 

                     I'm going to start by giving you a 

 

            background of what we do at the Business Center.      

 

            We're a non-profit that's dedicated to 

 

            empowering low-to-moderate-income refugees, 

 

            immigrants, women and others in need in New York 

 

            City to achieve self-sufficiency and economic 

 

            security.  We do this by providing a savings          

 

            program, advice, training and loans to micro 

 

            businesses. 

 

                     So far, we have made over 8 million in 

 

            loans to low-and-moderate entrepreneurs in New 

 

            York City and assisted over 1,000 refugee             

 

            families to invest 24 million from savings, 

 

            match grants, loans into homeownership, 

 

            businesses, further education and vocational 

 

            training. 

 

                     My experience in working with Capital        

 

            One started in 2008 when a parent organization 

 

            was closing down and the business center which I 

 

            managed was in a precarious financial situation. 

 

            We reached out to Dan Delehanty, Vice President 

                                                                    



            of Community Development Banking at Capital One, 

 

            and asked him for his help, and he helped us 

 

            organize a board of directors. 

 

                     We raised funds to keep the business 

 

            center open.  And during this period, Capital         

 

            One provided grants and also time so we could 

 

            strategize leveraged resources and continue to 

 

            assist the numerous clients and businesses that 

 

            we serve. 

 

                     Our relationship with Dan has made us        

 

            aware of Capital One's commitment to investing 

 

            time and resources in low-to-moderate-income 

 

            communities in New York City and, of course, you 

 

            know, throughout the country wherever they have 

 

            their banks.                                          

 

                     We have been able to get help from 

 

            their network of branches to present workshops, 

 

            micro loans in neighborhoods.  With this 

 

            assistance we have been able to increase our 

 

            lending, and this summer, we were listed by           

 

            CNN Money as one of the top ten microlenders in 

 

            the U.S. 

 

                     Capital One has also provided 

 

            leadership on a national level by serving on the 

                                                                 

            board of directors of national organizations 

 

            like the Association For Enterprise 

 

            Opportunities, the Trade Association For 

 



            Practitioners of Microenterprise Development. 

 

            And I know that the panel had an opportunity to       

 

            hear from their CEO this morning. 

 

                     Capital One has invested funds for 

 

            training and strategic planning which has 

 

            resulted in several very successful conferences 

 

            and the opportunity for over 700 organizations        

 

            to benefit from the training and the best 

 

            practices shared at these events. 

 

                     Opportunity Finance Network which 

 

            provides training and advice to Community 

 

            Development Financial Institutions is another         

 

            important national organization which benefits 

 

            from the support of Capital One. 

 

                     The Board of Directors and staff of the 

 

            Business Center feel that it's critical that we 

 

            take this opportunity to acknowledge the support      

 

            that Capital One has given us.  We are convinced 

 

            that all the examples provided by those who are 

 

            testifying on their behalf are proof of their 

 

            commitment to responsible financial practices. 

                                                             

                     We are aware and appreciate the 

 

            increase in grants and advice that they have 

 

            provided non-profit organizations as the bank as 

 

            grown and acquired assets. 

 

                     We are convinced that if Capital One is      

 

            allowed to make new acquisitions, the bank will 

 



            increase its commitment to invest in 

 

            low-and-moderate-income neighborhoods. 

 

                     Thank you very much. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very         

 

            much. 

 

                     Any questions for this panel? 

 

                     Okay.  Thank you very much for your 

 

            testimony. 

 

                     You're it, a panel of one.                   

 

                     MR. CHARLES KONKUS:  I showered and 

 

            everything. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Okay. 

 

            Mr. Konkus, whenever you're ready, please begin 

 

            with your name and affiliation, and please watch      

 

            the timekeeper.  You have five minutes. 

 

                     MR. CHARLES KONKUS:  Well, thank you. 

 

                     My name is Charles Konkus.  I'm with 

 

            Partners in Charity.  We are a HUD counseling 

                                                                  

            agency right here in Illinois and handle a lot 

 

            of troubled homeowners at this time, and I'm 

 

            happy to come and thank you for the time. 

 

                     I know it's the end of the day and 

 

            you've heard good bank, bad bank, good bank, bad      

 

            bank all day so I want to end with saying that 

 

            my counseling agency handles a lot of troubled 

 

            homeowners now in Illinois here, and we are 

 

            willing to talk about this merger here with ING, 

 



            and you have to ask yourself what is in it for        

 

            them. 

 

                     I mean, that's the whole thing, what is 

 

            in it for Capital One.  Well, it's the money. 

 

            They're going to get stable, low-income 

 

            deposits.  And they even admit that in their          

 

            report that they sent to you on September 17th 

 

            created by their general counsel, Andres 

 

            Navarrete. 

 

                     And in his report, it's actually the 

 

            "Mein Kampf" of how they're going to take over        

 

            ING and what they're going to do with the ING 

 

            Bank. 

 

                     So what you're looking at here is what 

 

            they want is stable, low-interest deposits that 

                                                                   

            they can turn into high credit card interest 

 

            rates.  And they're going to make profits on 

 

            that, and I guess that's not to be blamed 

 

            because that's what corporations are supposed to 

 

            be doing.                                             

 

                     But with each acquisition that they 

 

            have here, they further place the government in 

 

            jeopardy.  And actually, even though you've 

 

            heard a lot of testimony on good community 

 

            support, they actually sidestep some of the           

 

            community support and pass it on to other 

 

            community organizations, as you have heard. 

 



                     So in sending this report to you, 

 

            instead of Capital One sending it to you, I have 

 

            to say that maybe Fantasy One sent it to you          

 

            because as I'm sure you read the report, there's 

 

            a lot of fluff in there and there's a lot of 

 

            things that are basically what you would call 

 

            cooking the books on numbers. 

 

                     And as you read the report, which I'm        

 

            sure you're going to if you haven't already, you 

 

            will see that they have low-and-moderate-income 

 

            loans and they have produced 

 

            low-and-moderate-income business transactions, 

                                                                     

            but for the most part, they have been waiting 

 

            until government agencies come along and support 

 

            them or other community agencies do come along 

 

            and support them. 

 

                     On Page 14 of this report, you're going      

 

            to see that Capital One did create loans in 

 

            Louisiana after Katrina.  They created loans for 

 

            low-and-moderate-income people, but it was only 

 

            after the State of Louisiana came in and created 

 

            a Road to Home grant so that they supported           

 

            Capital One so Capital One was not exposed, but 

 

            they did not move forward on their own to create 

 

            these loans.  They did create them.  They 

 

            created 413 loans for New Orleans in their 

 

            report, 413.                                          

 



                     Well, the bank that they took over was 

 

            Hibernia, as you know, and Hibernia is a 

 

            multi-generational bank there, a great community 

 

            bank and great community involvement, had 

 

            thousands of loans in that area, and Capital One      

 

            managed to do 413.  And that's their numbers, 

 

            not my numbers. 

 

                     So as I say, Capital One will 

 

            participate in loans, but here's how they're 

                                                                      

            going to go forward.  They're willing to 

 

            participate with community groups and do loans 

 

            like FHA. 

 

                     Now, they'll do the FHA loans, but they 

 

            want those loans -- as has been testified here,       

 

            they want those loans to have credit overlays. 

 

            They're not going to take the risk.  They want 

 

            the government to help with the risk.  So you're 

 

            looking at a bank that says they're community 

 

            involved, but they want the government or some        

 

            other community group to support them in taking 

 

            this risk. 

 

                     So they say in their report that they 

 

            are lending now with appropriate caution. 

 

            Appropriate caution, you know, what does              

 

            appropriate caution really mean?  It means we're 

 

            going to lend only to people at higher standards 

 

            and really let the low-and-moderate-income 

 



            people that really deserve a responsible 

 

            opportunity not move up.                              

 

                     This is how I read the report because 

 

            it says they are going to continue to be 

 

            responsible, responsible layering of credit.  I 

 

            think that means we're not taking a long-term 

                                                                      

            chance on anyone. 

 

                     And that's what we do is we do a lot of 

 

            helping of homeowners now.  In the Midwest -- I 

 

            know you've heard from New York City, you've 

 

            heard from around the country, but here, we have      

 

            had obviously devastation in the housing market, 

 

            thousands of people, if you guys are fully 

 

            aware, having -- that need help. 

 

                     Capital One did not participate or has 

 

            a limited participation in the HAMP program.  As      

 

            a matter of fact, they developed something 

 

            called COMP. 

 

                     Well, if you look at the COMP 

 

            program -- and again, in their report, they say 

 

            they've done more COMP loans or modifications         

 

            and workouts, however, what they don't say in 

 

            there is that HAMP -- and I have files here 

 

            showing that HAMP, if you get a HAMP 

 

            modification, it takes a lot of work.  It takes 

 

            a lot of work from our agency to get it, but          

 

            however, you will look at these and you will see 

 



            that there is 2 percent interest rates in 

 

            comparison to what Capital One calls their COMP 

 

            rate. 

                                                        

                     The COMP program they have developed 

 

            has a higher re-default rate, and this is most 

 

            assuredly not good long term for the homeowner. 

 

            And I say this as a person that brings in 

 

            evidence, not just an opinion.  We have the           

 

            evidence here. 

 

                     The other program that they do not 

 

            participate in is the Hardest Hit program for 

 

            the State of Illinois.  They are not 

 

            participants in the Hardest Hit program, but          

 

            they are participants nationwide in the program. 

 

            They are taking the Hardest Hit funds which are 

 

            your tax dollars and my tax dollars and allowing 

 

            the homeowners to pay the bank their mortgage 

 

            payment.                                              

 

                     Now, in the Hardest Hit program, 

 

            nationwide, they've done six.  They've helped 

 

            six homeowners nationwide.  Is that a real 

 

            number that they are going to participate in? 

 

                     So what you're looking at is in not          

 

            even giving out their own money, just allowing 

 

            the taxpayer to help a homeowner out using the 

 

            Hardest Hit program, they will not participate, 

 

            they will not help to save homes. 

                                                                     



                     And here in Illinois, we have the 

 

            Hardest Hit program -- 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Mr. Konkus, 

 

            excuse me.  Your time has expired.  You're going 

 

            to need to wrap up.                                   

 

                     MR. CHARLES KONKUS:  Okay.  I'm sorry. 

 

                     I think that the merger of Capital One 

 

            with ING will not suffice the public benefit. 

 

                     And we do have modifications that ING 

 

            actually did here, and they saved homes.  I am        

 

            afraid, I am fearful that Capital One will not 

 

            be participating in the same way and we will 

 

            lose those homes. 

 

                     Yes, they have done 

 

            low-and-moderate-income housing across the            

 

            country, but this is a multi-billion-dollar 

 

            merger, and we're going to lose thousands of 

 

            homes if we don't have comprehensive mortgage 

 

            relief. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you       

 

            very much. 

 

                     Any questions for Mr. Konkus? 

 

                     MS. WILLIAMS:  Just one. 

 

                     You just mentioned that ING had done 

                                                                       

            some modifications, and I believe you said the 

 

            default rate was less than the ones that Capital 

 

            One did? 

 



                     MR. CHARLES KONKUS:  Yes. 

 

                     MS. WILLIAMS:  And could you give me         

 

            some specific numbers? 

 

                     MR. CHARLES KONKUS:  Yes.  I have it 

 

            right here. 

 

                     For example, ING just created a 

 

            modification for Riccardo Guzman, and it was a        

 

            great modification.  They modified it at 

 

            2 percent for five years and took over 20,000 in 

 

            money he was behind and moved it to -- forego 

 

            that.  And this was all done through ING, not 

 

            even the HAMP program.  They did it on their          

 

            own. 

 

                     My fear is that Capital One will come 

 

            nowhere near doing that. 

 

                     MS. WILLIAMS:  Okay.  So that was one 

 

            example.  Are you aware of others?                    

 

                     MR. CHARLES KONKUS:  Yes, we have more. 

 

            I just don't how many -- 

 

                     MS. WILLIAMS:  Okay, okay.  Thank you. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very 

                                                                      

            much. 

 

                     MR. CHARLES KONKUS:  Thank you. 

 

                     And ladies, it's raining still. 

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  My understanding 

 

            is we do have one speaker from the morning            

 

            session.  Okay.  And we have a repeat speaker 

 



            who wants to finish her statement. 

 

                      We will hold you to the five minutes. 

 

                      MS. JACQUELINE HUTCHINSON:  It won't 

 

            take that long.                                       

 

                     DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you. 

 

                     MS. JACQUELINE HUTCHINSON:  Again, I'm 

 

            Jackie Hutchinson, and I'm from St. Louis, and I 

 

            wanted to finish up my testimony. 

 

                     I was giving examples of the 553            

 

            complaints that the St. Louis Attorney General's 

 

            office has gotten on Capital One, and that's a 

 

            substantial number of complaints in comparison 

 

            to other financial institutions. 

 

                     And the second complaint was from a          

 

            gentleman that said that he had a $2,000 payment 

 

            made to a Capital One credit card, and it was 

 

            sent to an incorrect account by his bank.  His 

 

            bank verified that it was sent to Capital One, 

                                                                      

            and he was unable to contact anyone to help him 

 

            rectify the situation.  "Everything has to go 

 

            through a call center, and I have to explain 

 

            things over and over again." 

 

                     They are currently threatening further       

 

            legal action.  "I have officially disputed this 

 

            for over three years.  I am not going to pay 

 

            another $2,000, and I do not want this to 

 

            adversely affect my credit." 

 



                     There are many more examples that I          

 

            have submitted with my testimony, and I hope you 

 

            all will take an opportunity to just look 

 

            through those complaints. 

 

                     The third point that I wanted to make 

 

            was that the impact of previous Capital One           

 

            acquisitions and their past CRA valuations must 

 

            be considered as a predictor of what we can 

 

            expect in the future.  And what has that impact 

 

            been? 

 

                     Well, you've heard these things, but         

 

            let me repeat some of them.  An overall decline 

 

            in involvement within communities across the 

 

            country, a decline in lending targeting women, 

 

            veterans, minorities and low-income areas from 

                                                                   

            228 million in 2006 to 550,000 in 2010. 

 

                     Capital One has refused to participate 

 

            in the Hardest Hit Fund, and I know you've heard 

 

            that today, and is currently being investigated 

 

            by HUD for discriminatory policies in lending to      

 

            qualified borrowers.  And they lack branches in 

 

            many LMI areas that they serve. 

 

                     So in conclusion, I'd like to say that 

 

            we've heard quite a number of things today that 

 

            Capital One is doing that I would consider very       

 

            positive, however, they're not doing those 

 

            things in my community and they're not doing 

 



            those things in my region or my state, and what 

 

            we get is more and more advertisements for 

 

            subprime credit cards and subprime auto lenders       

 

            and an absent corporate partner. 

 

                     In the St. Louis area, we have many 

 

            organized efforts to bank the unbanked like the 

 

            St. Louis Regional Unbanked Task Force.  Capital 

 

            One is absent that effort even though we have         

 

            many other major financial institutions being 

 

            involved.  We have the St. Louis Regional 

 

            Education -- Financial Education Collaborative. 

 

            Capital One is absent from that endeavor. 

                                                                    

                     So we think that this acquisition 

 

            should be denied because Capital One has not met 

 

            its obligation as a good corporate citizen 

 

            throughout the country where they do business. 

 

                    Thank you.                                   

 

                    DIRECTOR BRAUNSTEIN:  Thank you very 

 

            much. 

 

                    Okay.  Before we conclude, I would like 

 

            to just take a minute, and I want to first of 

 

            all thank all the witnesses that came forward         

 

            today to provide testimony.  We really 

 

            appreciate it. 

 

                     I would also like to just firstly thank 

 

            my panelists, my colleagues on the panel, and 

 

            most of all, I'd like to thank Alicia Williams        

 



            and her entire staff and the folks at the 

 

            Chicago Federal Reserve Bank who did such a 

 

            fantastic job hosting us today. 

 

                     And as I know well, these meetings take 

 

            a lot of work.  It's what went on today as well       

 

            as there was a lot of work ahead of time pulling 

 

            all this together so I want to thank everybody 

 

            who participated in that at the Reserve Bank. 

 

                     And with that, the meeting is 

                                                                    

             adjourned, and some of you I'll see next week in 

 

             San Francisco. 

 

                              (Whereupon, the proceedings 

 

                              concluded at 3:56 p.m.)                                                      
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